Pathways of the Maillard Reaction under

Physiological Conditions

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften

(Dr. rer. nat.)

der

Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät II

Chemie, Physik und Mathematik

der Martin-Luther-Universität

Halle-Wittenberg

vorgelegt von

Herrn Diplom-Lebensmittelchemiker Christian Henning geb. am 19. Juni 1978 in Berlin

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Marcus A. Glomb (Halle)
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Dr.-Ing. habil. Thomas Henle (Dresden)

Halle (Saale), 9. Mai 2018 Datum der Verteidigung: 25. Oktober 2018

DANKSAGUNG

Mein besonderer Dank geht an Herrn Prof. Dr. Glomb, da er durch viele wertvolle fachliche Anregungen, Hinweise und Diskussionen zum Gelingen dieser Arbeit ganz entscheidend beigetragen hat. Herrn Prof. Dr. Henle danke ich für die bereitwillige Übernahme des Zweitgutachtens.

Neben einigen anderen Diplomanden, die allerdings thematisch nicht direkt an der Entstehung dieser Arbeit beteiligt waren, möchte ich Frau Carolin Beichert ein ganz dickes Dankeschön aussprechen. Mit so viel Einsatz und Sorgfalt hat sich wohl selten ein Diplomand seinen Aufgaben gestellt. Ihr ist es maßgeblich zu verdanken, daß die Kooperation mit der Abteilung Innere Medizin II der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universitätsklinik der MLU (Arbeitsgruppe Prof. Dr. M. Girndt) erfolgreich Fahrt aufgenommen hat.

Der Arbeitsgruppe Prof. Girndt, insbesondere Herrn Dr. C. Ulrich und Herrn Dr. R. Fiedler, sei herzlich gedankt für die stete Hilfsbereitschaft und die überaus unkomplizierte Zusammenarbeit. Die Untersuchung von humanen Plasmaproben ist so erst möglich geworden. Ein besonderer Dank geht in diesem Zusammenhang auch an Kristin Liehr, die durch ihr sorgfältiges und organisiertes Arbeiten an den guten Ergebnissen aus den medizinischen Studien entscheidenden Anteil hatte. Dank natürlich auch an all die Freiwilligen, die im Namen der Wissenschaft ihr Blut gelassen haben.

Den Kollegen und ehemaligen Kollegen des Arbeitskreises Prof. Glomb gebührt Dank für das angenehme Arbeitsklima. Namentlich erwähnen möchte ich hier Jenny, Franzi, Theres, Nicole K., Michael, Robert und Martin. Die vielen fachlichen aber auch persönlichen Diskussionen haben mir immer sehr geholfen und den Spaß im teilweise harten Forschungsalltag bewahrt.

Des Weiteren möchte ich mich bei meinen Eltern und meiner Familie bedanken, die mir Rückhalt und Unterstützung gegeben haben. Zu guter Letzt danke ich meiner Partnerin Mareen Smuda, die mich nicht nur fachlich sondern auch persönlich bedingungslos in jeder Weise unterstützt hat. Ohne Dich gäbe es diese Arbeit vermutlich nicht.

VORWORT

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde von November 2011 bis April 2018 am Institut für Chemie (Bereich Lebensmittelchemie) der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg im Arbeitskreis von Prof. Dr. M. A. Glomb angefertigt.

Die erhaltenen Forschungsergebnisse wurden in international anerkannten Fachzeitschriften publiziert, denen die experimentellen Daten, die Einzelergebnisse sowie deren Diskussion zu entnehmen sind. Teile der kumulativen Arbeit wurden bereits als Review-Artikel im *Glycoconjugate Journal* veröffentlicht. Stellen, an denen der Review-Artikel für die kumulative Dissertation um Aspekte aus den Einzelveröffentlichungen erweitert wurde, sind durch Kursivschrift gekennzeichnet. Da der Review-Artikel in englischer Sprache publiziert ist, wurde diese auch für die weiteren Ausführungen beibehalten.

PUBLIKATIONSLISTE

Journalbeiträge

Gangadhariah MH, Wang B, Linetsky M, **Henning C**, Spanneberg R, Glomb MA, Nagaraj RH (**2010**) Hydroimidazolone modification of human αA-crystallin: Effect on the chaperone function and protein refolding ability. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease* 1802, 432-441

Henning C, Smuda M, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (2011) Molecular Basis of Maillard Amide-Advanced Glycation End Product (AGE) Formation *in Vivo. Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286, 44350–44356 (*Publication A*)

Henning C, Liehr K, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (**2014**) Extending the Spectrum of α-Dicarbonyl Compounds *in Vivo*. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 289, 28676–28688 (*Publication B*)

Haucke E, Santos AN, Simm A, **Henning C**, Glomb MA, Gürke J, Schindler M, Fischer B, Santos AN (**2014**) Accumulation of advanced glycation end products in the rabbit blastocyst under maternal diabetes. *Reproduction* 148, 169-178

Smuda M, **Henning C**, Raghavan CT, Johar K, Vasavada AR, Nagaraj RH, Glomb MA (**2015**) Comprehensive analysis of maillard protein modifications in human lenses: effect of age and cataract. *Biochemistry* 54, 2500–2507

Girndt M, Fiedler R, Martus P, Pawlak M, Storr M, Bohler T, Glomb MA, Liehr K, **Henning C**, Templin M, Trojanowicz B, Ulrich C, Werner K, Zickler D, Schindler R (**2015**) High cut-off dialysis in chronic haemodialysis patients. *European journal of clinical investigation* 45, 1333–1340

Henning C, Glomb MA (2016) Pathways of the Maillard reaction under physiological conditions. *Glycoconjugate journal* 33, 499-512 (*Review*)

Lehmann U, Riedel A, Hirche F, Brandsch C, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Seibert E, **Henning C**, Glomb MA, Dierkes J, Stangl GI (**2016**) Vitamin D 3 supplementation: Response and predictors of vitamin D 3 metabolites–A randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Nutrition* 35, 351-358

Zickler D, Schindler R, Storr M, Willy K, Trojanowicz B, Martus P, Ulrich C, Liehr K, **Henning C**, Pawlak M, Templin M, Hulko M, Böhler T, Werner K, Glomb MA, Fiedler R, Girndt M (**2016**) SP418 The Use of Medium Cut-Off (MCO) Membranes in Chronic Dialysis Patients modulates Inflammation: Lessons from a Randomized Clinical Trial. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 31, i230-i230

Glomb MA, **Henning C** (**2016**) Formation of Reactive Fragmentation Products during the Maillard Degradation of Reducing Sugars – A Review. *Browned Flavors: Analysis, Formation, and Physiology,* ACS Publications, 117-131

Zickler D, Schindler R, Willy K, Martus P, Pawlak M, Storr M, Hulko M, Boehler T, Glomb MA, Liehr K, **Henning C**, Templin M, Trojanowicz B, Ulrich C, Werner K, Fiedler R, Girndt M (**2017**) Medium Cut-Off (MCO) Membranes Reduce Inflammation in Chronic Dialysis Patients—A Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. *PloS one* 12, e0169024

Trojanowicz B, Ulrich C, Fiedler R, Storr M, Boehler T, Martus P, Pawlak M, Glomb MA, **Henning C**, Templin M, Werner K, Zickler D, Willy K, Schindler R, Girndt M (**2017**) Impact of serum and dialysates obtained from chronic hemodialysis patients maintained on high cut-off membranes on inflammation profile in human THP-1 monocytes. *Hemodialysis International* 21, 348–358

Nagaraj RH, Rakete S, Rankenberg J, Bonnell L, Wagner B, Lynch A, **Henning C**, Glomb MA (**2017**) Advanced Glycation Endproducts in capsulorhexis specimen: Correlation with Diabetic Retinopathy. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science* 58, 97

Hohmann C, Liehr K, **Henning C**, Fiedler R, Girndt M, Gebert M, Hulko M, Storr M, Glomb MA (**2017**) Detection of Free Advanced Glycation End Products in Vivo during Hemodialysis. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 65, 930–937

Henning C, Liehr K, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (**2018**) Analysis and Chemistry of Novel Protein Oxidation Markers *in Vivo. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 66, 4692-4701 (*Publication C*)

TAGUNGSVORTRÄGE

Henning C, Glomb MA (**2007**) Entstehung von Glyoxal und Glykolaldehyd in der Maillard-Reaktion. Regionalverband Südost — Tagung am 29./30.03.2007, Halle (Saale)

Henning C, Liehr K, Glomb MA (**2013**) Validation of an Analytical Method for the Quantitative Evaluation of α-Dicarbonyl Compounds *in vivo*. Stress and Ageing: From Molecular Biology to Clinical Perspectives (ProMoAge-Session), 06.-08.09.2013, Halle (Saale)/Germany, Proceedings p. 5

Henning C, Liehr K, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (**2016**) Regionalverband Südost — Tagung am 17./18.03.2016 in Dresden: Korrelation des Glykolaldehyd/Glyoxal Verhältnisses *in vivo* mit etablierten Markern für oxidativen Stress. *Lebensmittelchemie* 70, 123

Hohmann C, **Henning C**, Liehr K, Glomb MA, Fiedler R, Girndt M (**2017**) Regionalverband Südost – Tagung am 30./31.03.2017 in Halle: Verhalten freier Advanced Glycation Endproducts *in vivo* während der Hämodialyse. *Lebensmittelchemie* 71, 122

Glomb MA, Smuda M, **Henning C** (**2012**) Mechanism of Maillard induced Fragmentations. 11th International Symposium on the Maillard Reaction, 16.-20.09.2012, Nancy/France, Proceedings p. 10

<u>Posterbeiträge</u>

Henning C, Rothe S, Glomb MA (2006) 34. Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag 2005 in Hamburg: Formation of Glyoxal and Glycolaldehyde in Maillard Reaction Systems., *Lebensmittelchemie* 60, 97

Henning C, Glomb MA (**2007**) Formation of Glyoxal and Glycolaldehyde in Maillard Reaction Systems. 9th International Symposium on the Maillard Reaction, 01.-05.09.2007, Munich/Germany, Proceedings p. 130 (Poster F12)

Henning C, Naß N, Simm A, Glomb MA (2007) Die Wirkung von Glyoxal auf die Kontraktionskraft von Trabekeln aus humandem Myokardgewebe nach ischämischer Reperfusion. 36. Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag, 10.-12.09.2007, Nürnberg, Tagungsband S. 162 (AT 52)

Henning C, Glomb MA (2011) Bestimmung von Dicarbonylen *in vivo*. 40. Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag, 12.-14.09.2011, Halle (Saale), Tagungsband S. 197 (MP 01)

Henning C, Schwager C, Glomb MA (**2012**) Enzymatische Proteinhydrolyse für die Anwendung in Lebensmittel und *in vivo*. 41. Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag, 10.12.09.2012, Münster, Tagungsband S. 137 (AT 007)

Henning C, Glomb MA (**2012**) Extending the Spectrum of α -Dicarbonyl Compounds *in Vivo*. 11th International Symposium on the Maillard Reaction, 16.-20.09.2012, Nancy/France, Proceedings p. 131 (S1.2)

Henning C, Liehr K, Glomb MA (**2013**) Validation of an Analytical Method for the Quantitative Evaluation of α -Dicarbonyl Compounds *in vivo*. Stress and Ageing: From Molecular Biology to Clinical Perspectives, 06.-08.09.2013, Halle (Saale), Germany, Proceedings p. 74 (no. 14)

Henning C, Liehr K, Glomb MA (2013) Validierung einer Methode zur Messung von α -Dicarbonylen *in vivo*. 42. Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag, 16.-18.09.2013, Braunschweig, Tagungsband S. 205 (ATW 035)

Henning C, Liehr K, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (**2016**) Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag 2015 in Karlsruhe: Hydroxyethyllysin als neuer Marker für oxidativen Stress *in vivo*. *Lebensmittelchemie* 70, 4

Hohmann C, **Henning C**, Liehr K, Glomb MA, Fiedler R, Girndt M (**2017**) Deutscher Lebensmittelchemikertag 2016 in Freising-Weihenstephan: Verhalten freier Advanced Glycation Endproducts *in vivo* während der Hämodialyse. *Lebensmittelchemie* 71, 94

CONTENTS

1	Intr	oduction and Objectives	1					
2	Pathways of the Maillard Reaction							
	2.1	Initial phase						
	2.2	Cyclization	5					
	2.3	Isomerization	6					
	2.4	Retro-aldol cleavage						
	2.5	Hydrolytic α-cleavage	10					
	2.6	Oxidative α-cleavage	11					
	2.7	Hydrolytic β-cleavage	11					
	2.8	Amine induced β-cleavage	13					
3	Relevance in vivo							
	3.1	α-Dicarbonyl Compounds as reactive intermediates	15					
	3.2	Advanced Glycation Endproducts	19					
4	Mar	kers for protein oxidation						
5	Sum	ımary						
6	Zusa	ammenfassung						
7	Refe	erences						
8	List	of figures	55					
9	List	of tables						
10	Appendix							
	10.1	Publication A: Journal of Biological Chemistry (2011), vol. 286,						
		44350-44356	59					
	10.2	Publication B: Journal of Biological Chemistry (2014), vol. 289,						
		28676-28688	66					

	10.3 Publication C: Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 6	6,
	4692-4701	79
	10.4 Review: Glycoconjugate journal (2016), vol. 33, 499-512	
11	Curriculum Vitae	103
12	Declaration of originality	

1 Introduction and Objectives

The non-enzymatic chemistry taking place during thermal food processing was studied since Louis-Camille Maillard discovered in 1912 that mixtures of amino acids with sugars lead to intensively brown colored structures and decarboxylation upon heating (MAILLARD 1912). Soon it became evident, that the development of color, aroma and taste are closely linked to the complex reaction pathways of the so-called Maillard reaction. The timeline of research in this field was recently summarized by Hellwig and Henle (HELLWIG and HENLE 2014). As the performance of the analytical equipment increased it was discovered that non-enzymatic browning reactions also lead to free and protein-bound Maillard products under physiological conditions. Today, these processes which lead to posttranslational modification are accepted as important pathogenic events in a number of chronic and age-related disorders such as diabetes (SINGH et al. 2001, BEISSWENGER 2014), uremia (ODANI et al. 1999a), atherosclerosis (MIYAZAWA et al. 2012) and Alzheimer's disease (SMITH et al. 1994).

On a molecular basis, the Maillard reaction results in a plethora of chemical compounds which are more generally divided into reactive intermediates and stable endproducts (advanced glycation endproducts, AGEs). *AGE formation in vivo is promoted by a general increase in oxidative stress on the one hand and the availability of reactive precursor compounds derived from both, oxidative and non-oxidative chemistry (carbonyl stress) on the other hand (BAYNES and THORPE 1999).*

 α -Dicarbonyl compounds (α -DCs) have to be regarded as the most important central intermediates in the course of amino acid and protein modification. Therefore, *they represent one of the major sources of carbonyl stress and* knowledge of the *in vivo* concentrations in different matrices is required for the understanding of the mechanistic background of AGE formation and profile. However, the analytical approach to the complete α -DC spectrum is very challenging. Their high reactivity hampers direct analytical assessment and, thus, derivatization to more stable compounds is a prerequisite. Different trapping reagents like *o*-alkyl hydroxylamines, hydrazines, cysteamines, *o*-diaminobenzene derivatives and aminoguanidines are discussed in the literature (REVEL and BERTRAND 1993, SEVERIN et al. 1984, WELLS-KNECHT et al. 1995b, HAYASHI and SHIBAMOTO 1985, MCLELLAN et al. 1992, HIRSCH et al. 1992). However, derivatization of α -DCs with *o*-phenylenediamine (OPD) to yield the corresponding quinoxalines has

evolved as the most accepted procedure (GLOMB and TSCHIRNICH 2001). Furthermore, sample collection and sample preparation were found to have a major impact on the results and have to be strictly controlled (HENNING et al. 2014, MCLELLAN et al. 1992, MITTELMAIER et al. 2010, CHAPLEN et al. 1996).

Oxidative stress is quite often considered as tissue damage resulting from an imbalance between an excessive generation of highly reactive prooxidative compounds and insufficient antioxidant defense mechanisms (SIES 1997). However, generation of oxidative compounds is first and foremost physiologically relevant as an important step of inflammation. It represents one basis of the defense mechanisms against invading microorganisms and malignant cells, as well as of tissue healing and remodeling. Improper or maladaptive activation of oxidative processes, chronically present in pathological situations, such as uremia, leads to complications by contributing to cell and tissue injury (HANDELMAN 2000). Uremia is closely associated with complications like atherosclerosis and β_2 -microglobulin amyloidosis which are thought to be related to oxidative tissue damage, due to the imbalance of prooxidant and antioxidant factors (DESCAMPS-LATSCHA et al. 2001). Thus, developing novel therapeutic interventions to reduce oxidative stress, i.e. by administration of antioxidants or by attenuation of chronic inflammation, is an important field of research. A necessary prerequisite in such studies is the accurate and reliable quantitation of the stress status. Here, oxidized biomolecules, e.g. proteins, are often used as targets. A term frequently used in protein oxidation research is "advanced oxidation protein products (AOPPs)" expressed as the ability of proteins to oxidize iodide to iodine (WITKO-SARSAT et al. 1996). As a major drawback of this approach the molecular nature of AOPPs is not further specified and potential mechanistic backgrounds remain unclear. A promising but analytically much more complex alternative is the detection of specific well-defined oxidation marker compounds.

The aim of the present work was to investigate the significance of the various routes for carbohydrate fragmentation in Maillard chemistry under physiological conditions. To transfer the findings of in vitro experiments to the in vivo situation, blood plasma of uremic patients vs. healthy controls was characterized with special emphasis towards carbonyl stress, oxidative stress and the content of a novel class of AGEs, the amide-AGEs.

2 Pathways of the Maillard Reaction

2.1 Initial phase

Glucose and ascorbic acid as the major carbohydrate players *in vivo* constitute the beginning of the Maillard reaction cascade. In a first step, glucose reacts to an 1,2-enaminol by nucleophilic attack of the ε -amino group of free or protein bound lysine. Rearrangement leads to 1-amino-1-deoxy-fructose (fructoselysine, Amadori product) (AMADORI 1929, HEYNS and NOACK 1962). Ascorbic acid is oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) (SHIN and FEATHER 1990). When the Maillard reaction proceeds, both structures lead to reactive α -DCs.



FIGURE 1. Initial state stages of amine induced glucose degradation retaining the intact C_6 -carbon backbone.

The initial state preserves the C_6 -carbon skeleton but includes carbonyl shifts along the entire carbohydrate backbone (Fig. 1). 3-Deoxyglucosone (3-DG) is formed non-oxidatively via 1,2-enolization and dehydration of the Amadori product (BECK et al. 1989).

2,3-Enolization leads to 1-deoxyglucosone (1-DG) (MORITA et al. 1985) and Lederer's glucosone (N^6 -(3,6-dideoxyhexos-2-ulos-6-yl)-L-lysine) originates from the 5,6-enediol (BIEMEL et al. 2002b, REIHL et al. 2004a). Oxidation of the Amadori product gives rise to glucosone (GOBERT and GLOMB 2009, KAWAKISHI et al. 1991). Ascorbic acid can be recycled by enzymatic pathways from dehydroascorbic acid (WINKLER 1992, BODE et al. 1993, ARRIGONI and DE TULLIO 2002). In physiological solutions, however, part of the dehydroascorbic acid hydrolyzes irreversibly to 2,3-diketogulonic acid (2,3-DKG). These dicarbonyl compounds are direct precursors of certain AGEs, e.g. pyrraline and glucosepane, or undergo fragmentation reactions to yield further reactive α -DCs with a carbon backbone smaller than C₆. Important breakdown cascades of the carbon backbone relevant for the formation of AGEs are presented in the following sections.



FIGURE 2. The modern view of Maillard reaction with a-dicarbonyl compounds as central intermediates (G3P, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate; DHAP, dihydroxyacetone phosphate).

The modern view of the Maillard reaction *in vivo* considers also diverse other physiological sources for α -DCs, irrespective of Maillard chemistry, like metabolism and fat autoxidation (*Fig. 2*). On the one hand, as an example, most of the methylglyoxal formed *in vivo* stems from the enzymatic and spontaneous degradation of the triose phosphates glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and dihydroxyacetone phosphate, and the metabolism of ketone bodies (RABBANI and THORNALLEY 2012), whereas large amounts of glyoxal are formed by lipid peroxidation (Fu et al. 1996). On the other hand, both compounds are detoxified by the glyoxalase system (THORNALLEY 1998).

2.2 Cyclization

Especially important in view of age-related alterations of long lived proteins are structures that crosslink two amino acid side chains. A major bivalent lysine-arginine crosslink is glucosepane which stems from Lederer's glucosone (Fig. 3).



FIGURE 3. Cyclization of Lederer's glucosone ($R = -CH_2OH$) and Lederer's pentosone (R = -H) lead to bivalent lysine-arginine crosslinks glucosepane and pentosidine, respectively.

Ring closure and dehydration lead to an intramolecular aldimine which then reacts with the guanidinium group of arginine (BIEMEL et al. 2001, LEDERER and BÜHLER 1999). As a similar but quantitatively minor crosslink, pentosidine can be explained via the same mechanism with the 4,5-enediol of a pentose as the precursor (BIEMEL et al. 2001). Alternatively, fragmentation of $C_6 \alpha$ -DCs also yields the required C_5 -precursor for

pentosidine formation. Vesperlysine (LM-1), the analogous bivalent lysine-lysine structure to pentosidine, is supposed to form via totally different pathways with ascorbic acid as the starting compound although the detailed mechanism is still unknown (NAGARAJ and MONNIER 1992, NAKAMURA et al. 1997, TESSIER et al. 1999). Pyrraline represents a monovalent lysine modification originating from 3-deoxyglucosone. The formation proceeds via nucleophilic attack of the ε -amino group of lysine at the C²-carbonyl moiety, followed by dehydration, cyclization and aromatization (Fig. 4) (NAKAYAMA et al. 1980, MILLER and OLSSON 1985, HAYASE et al. 1989, NJOROGE et al. 1987).



FIGURE 4. Reaction pathway for the formation of pyrraline.

2.3 Isomerization

First discovered by Baynes' group in 1986 (AHMED et al. 1986), *N*⁶-carboxymethyl lysine (CML) is the most important monovalent lysine modification *in vivo*. They proposed the oxidative fragmentation of the Amadori product of glucose to yield CML and erythronic acid. However, a comprehensive examination of the underlying mechanism is still lacking. An alternative route proceeds with lysine and glyoxal as precursors via glyoxal-imine to the hydrate and subsequent isomerization (Fig. 5) (GLOMB and MONNIER 1995). Furthermore, glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA), glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) and glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) can arise from the very same CML reaction cascade (GLOMB and PFAHLER 2001). If the nucleophilic addition of water takes place at the imine group, isomerization yields the amide-AGE GALA. A nucleophilic attack of the ε -amino group of a second lysine molecule at the carbonyl group of glyoxal-imine leads to the bivalent

lysine-lysine crosslink GOLA. Reaction of the intermediate state with a second molecule of glyoxal, ring closure and water elimination gives the imidazolium crosslink GOLD (WELLS-KNECHT et al. 1995a). Analogous imidazolium salts are methylglyoxal lysine dimer (MOLD) (BRINKMANN et al. 1995, NAGARAJ et al. 1996) and 3-deoxyglucosone lysine dimer (DOLD) (SKOVSTED et al. 1998) with the corresponding imine structures as precursors. The CML-glyoxal reaction cascade has been successfully translated to methylglyoxal leading to N^6 -carboxyethyl lysine (CEL) and N^6 -lactoyl lysine. However, here in contrast to CMLs additional Amadori product route, the formation via isomerization is exclusive.



FIGURE 5. The *N*⁶-carboxymethyl lysine (CML) reaction cascade explains the formation of glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA), glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) and glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) via isomerization of the hydrated glyoxal-imine.

In addition to the ε -amino group of lysine the guanidinium group of arginine is prone to yield various Maillard modifications. Here, only α-DCs are known precursors for monovalent modifications. Our workgroup investigated the mechanistic pathway of the reaction with glyoxal (GLOMB and LANG 2001). The intermediate 2-imino-4,5-dihydroxyimidazolidine is slowly converted to N^7 -carboxymethyl arginine (CMA) through ring opening of the imidazolidine to the open-chained hemiaminal and intramolecular disproportionation, i.e. isomerization. An alternative route, only present under strong acidic conditions, leads to glyoxal imidazolinone 3 (G-H3). Thus, formation of G-H3 is not possible under physiological conditions but occurs as an artifact of sample cleanup. CMA has to be regarded as the only stable arginine modification with glyoxal. Methylglyoxal as a precursor gives a different picture. Here, as illustrated in Fig. 6, the homologous structure N^7 -carboxyethyl arginine (CEA) (ALT and SCHIEBERLE 2005b, ALT and SCHIEBERLE 2005a) is a minor intermediate of the equilibrium between a kinetically controlled (MG-H3) and a thermodynamically controlled imidazolinone (MG-H1) (KLÖPFER et al. 2010). In the methylglyoxal reactions the various cyclic imidazolinone and pyrimidine derivatives are of much higher quantitative importance.



FIGURE 6. Formation pathways of methylglyoxal-arginine modifications.

In general, three constitutional isomers of the imidazolinones originating from glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-DG can be formulated. The isomer type 1 refers to the imidazolinone with an exocyclic δ -amino group whereas isomer type 2 and type 3 possess an endocyclic δ -nitrogen atom (AHMED et al. 2002b, THORNALLEY et al. 2003). In addition, tautomerization of the imino group of MG-H1 or racemization of the chiral center of the imidazolinone ring system of MG-H2 and MG-H3 lead to a multitude of further isomeric structures (KLÖPFER et al. 2010). A stable and fluorescent endproduct of the reaction of arginine with methylglyoxal, argpyrimidine (AP), was identified by Shipanova et al. (SHIPANOVA et al. 1997). The formation proceeds via the same precursor compound as the reaction to CEA with incorporation of a second molecule of methylglyoxal. An alternative route yields a tetrahydropyrimidine (THP) (OYA et al. 1999).

While the described isomerization reactions maintain the carbon backbone, the following sections discuss possible fragmentation pathways (Fig. 7).



FIGURE 7. Fragmentation pathways of α -dicarbonyl compounds. The relevant mechanisms *in vivo* are set in **bold** fonds.

Basically, three different mechanisms are described in the literature (WEENEN 1998, TRESSL and REWICKI 1999): retro-aldol cleavage, α -dicarbonyl cleavage and β -dicarbonyl cleavage. This concept has to be re-evaluated in the light of new findings. First, differentiation into a hydrolytic (KIM and BALTES 1996) and an oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage (DAVIDEK et al. 2006) has to be made. Second, both the hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl and the oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage have to be complemented by an amine-catalyzed mechanism (SMUDA et al. 2010).

2.4 Retro-aldol cleavage

β-Hydroxy carbonyl compounds (aldols) can undergo retro-aldolization by cleavage of the carbon-carbon bond between C^α and C^β next to the carbonyl group. This mechanism is still the most accepted fragmentation pathway in Maillard reactions for sugars, Amadori and Heyns rearrangement products and α-DCs used to explain formation of shorter-chain hydroxyl ketones, hydroxyl aldehydes and dicarbonyl compounds (HODGE 1953, WEENEN 1998, THORNALLEY et al. 1999, YAYLAYAN and KEYHANI 2000). However, as stated in a recent review, there is no convincing experimental proof for retro-aldolization in α-DC fragmentation (SMUDA and GLOMB 2013a). The relevance of retro-aldol fragmentation under physiological conditions is more than questionable.

2.5 Hydrolytic α-cleavage

A second, frequently reported concept of α -DC fragmentation is the hydrolytic α -cleavage (KIM and BALTES 1996, GINZ et al. 2000, BRANDS and VAN BOEKEL 2001, MARTINS et al. 2003). Based on an intramolecular disproportionation, the carbon-carbon bond fission reaction takes place between both carbonyl moieties yielding a carboxylic acid and an aldehyde. However, experiments of Davídek et al. and others clearly disproved this mechanism and proposed an oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage mechanism instead (DAVÍDEK et al. 2006).

2.6 Oxidative α-cleavage

The oxidative α -cleavage proposed by Davídek et al. (DAVÍDEK et al. 2006) was further verified by *in vitro* experiments with 1-deoxyglucosone (DAVIDEK et al. 2006). As expected, acetic acid and the counterpart erythronic acid were detected. More recently, we performed a mechanistic in-depth investigation of the degradation pathways of ascorbic acid (SMUDA and GLOMB 2013b). Based on the incorporation of activated molecular oxygen generated by e.g. photooxidation processes or hydroperoxide species the mechanism starts with an attack at the C² or C³ carbonyl moiety of 2,3-DKG (Fig. 8).



FIGURE 8. Oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage reaction of 2,3-diketogulonic acid which is the product of ascorbic acid oxidation and hydrolytic ring opening. Hydrolytic attack leads to oxalic acid and threonic acid (R = –OH) whereas lysine induced fragmentation (R = –NH-lys) yields the amide structure and the corresponding acid.

After rearrangement hydrolysis of the intermediate acid anhydride yields a mixture of oxalic acid and threonic acid. Acylation is an amine driven alternative route where the ε -amino group of lysine initiates a nucleophilic attack on the anhydride to directly yield the amide-AGEs N^6 -oxalyl lysine and N^6 -threonyl lysine.

2.7 Hydrolytic β-cleavage

Hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl cleavage of sugars was already mentioned in 1961 as an alternative fragmentation pathway to retro-aldol reactions (HAYAMI 1961). Again, Davídek et al. were the first to perform detailed mechanistic studies (MILLS et al. 1970, DAVIDEK et al. 2005). The results were confirmed by investigations of our workgroup (VOIGT and

GLOMB 2009, VOIGT et al. 2010). We studied the degradation of 1-DG which is isomerized into its 2,4-tautomer. Addition of water leads to a hydrate which induces scission to acetic acid and a C_4 -enediol intermediate. Isomerization eventually yields tetruloses and tetrosones (Fig. 9).



FIGURE 9. Hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl cleavage reaction of 1-deoxyglucosone.

Similarly, 2,3-DKG can fragment to oxalic acid and the corresponding C₄-enediol based on the same pathway. Hydration at the C² carbonyl moiety without prior tautomerization results in decarboxylation as an alternative reaction pathway, which indeed follows the same mechanistic principle. The C₅-enediol intermediate can dehydrate to form xylosone or isomerize to yield xylonic acid and lyxonic acid, respectively (Fig. 10) (SMUDA and GLOMB 2013b).



FIGURE 10. Hydration (R = -OH) or amination (R = -NH-lys) and subsequent decarboxylation of 2,3-diketogulonic acid leads to the respective C₅-enediol or enaminol.

2.8 Amine induced β-cleavage

Recently, a novel class of AGEs (amide-AGEs) was discovered during the degradation of 1-DG in aqueous solutions under physiological conditions (SMUDA et al. 2010). The quantitative relevance in vivo was established for N^6 -formyl, N^6 -lactoyl and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine for the first time in publication A in human blood plasma and later also in human lens (HENNING et al. 2011, SMUDA et al. 2015). The formation of amide-AGEs was explained via an amine induced β -cleavage mechanism which parallels the above hydrolytic pathways (Fig. 11).



FIGURE 11. Hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl cleavage leads to an enediol structure and a carboxylic acid as the counterpart. The analogous amine induced β -dicarbonyl cleavage yields the amide structure as the counterpart of the enediol.

Indeed, incubations of α -DCs in the presence of lysine yielded the enediol in form of the respective ketose, the matching carboxylic acid and the corresponding amide structure (e.g. N^6 -acetyl lysine with 2,4-deoxyglucosone as the precursor or N^6 -oxalyl lysine with 2,4-diketogulonic acid as the precursor) (SMUDA et al. 2010, SMUDA and GLOMB 2012).

3 Relevance *in vivo*

3.1 α-Dicarbonyl Compounds as reactive intermediates

As already discussed above, the basis for the understanding of the complex Maillard processes *in vivo* is the knowledge of the complete spectrum of α -DCs. However, analytical investigations were often limited to few selected compounds like glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-DG (MIRZA et al. 2007, ODANI et al. 1999a, LAPOLLA et al. 2005b, LAPOLLA et al. 2005a, KNECHT et al. 1992, MCLELLAN et al. 1992, NAKAYAMA et al. 2008, LOPEZ-ANAYA and MAYERSOHN 1987, HAIK et al. 1994). A more comprehensive approach including important intermediates from a mechanistic point of view is needed, e.g. 1-DG and 2,3-DKG. Initial investigations for a complete set of α -DCs in human plasma (*publication B*) and lens were recently published and should be continuously extended (HENNING et al. 2014, NEMET and MONNIER 2011).

TABLE 1. Levels of all relevant α -dicarbonyl compounds in human blood plasma (mean \pm SD of 15 healthy subjects and 24 patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD patients), replicate analyses n = 3, the Student's t-test was used for statistical evaluation of significant differences between both groups). (HENNING et al. 2014)

healthy subjects						HD patients						
quinoxaline	mean	±	SD		rang	e	mean	±	SD	r	ang	e
			p	mol/ml			pmol/ml					
glucosone	46	±	11	28	_	67	96	±	49 **	57	_	276
1-DG	22	±	3	16	_	28	30	±	16	12	_	82
3-DG	43	±	5	35	_	56	65	±	20 **	36	_	125
Lederer's glucosone <		LOL)				7.0	±	2.5 ^a	< LOD	_	13
pentosone	15	±	10 ^a	< LOD	_	32	11	±	5 ^a	< LOD	_	23
1-DP	3.6	±	1.2 ^a	2.6	_	7.8	6.2	±	2.6 ^{a **}	3.2	_	15
3-DP	11	±	2	9	_	17	33	±	9 **	20	_	53
threosone	5.4	±	0.7^{a}	4.2	_	6.6	9.0	±	3.5 ^{a**}	4.2	_	19
1-DT	3.1	±	0.3	2.6	_	3.8	3.8	±	1.0^{*}	2.0	_	6.6
3-DT	10	±	2	8	_	14	45	±	11 **	28	_	75
methylglyoxal	61	±	7	51	_	76	219	±	129 **	42	_	617
glyoxal	491	±	47	405	_	564	1273	±	980 **	400	_	4914
pyruvic acid	7250	±	2549	2818	_	12038	35874	±	19080 **	8399	_	97935
glyoxylic acid	1264	±	353	783	_	1942	2031	±	608 **	1026	_	3514
oxalic acid	40	±	21	18	_	82	36	±	12	16	_	70
3,4-DDP	6.0	±	1.0	4.4	_	7.7	19	±	8 **	6	_	42
DHA precursor	687	±	351 ^b	337	_	1303	1925	±	1106 ^{b **}	308	_	4829
DHA	15400	±	4019 ^b	6809	_	23967	12538	±	7183 ^b	2737	_	26680
2.3-DKG	1741	±	674 °	567	_	2669	411	\pm	238 ^{c**}	145	_	937

^{*a}LOD* < x < LOQ. ^{*b*}The sum of DHA and DHA precursor account for approximately 38 % of the true DHA content. ^{*c*}Values adjusted as described in the discussion of publication B. ^{*a*}p < 0.01 versus healthy subjects. ^{*st*}p < 0.001 versus healthy subjects.</sup>

The LC-MS/MS (liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry) method presented in publication B provides for the first time the opportunity to identify and quantitate the complete spectrum of relevant α -DCs in human plasma in a single chromatographic run. For 14 compounds, the plasma levels were determined. Three compounds were below the LOQ but were unequivocally identified. Ten substances have not been reported for plasma samples before. To evaluate the clinical relevance of the assay described herein an initial set of 24 uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis was analyzed. Uremia is related to an increase in oxidative and carbonyl stress and thus should lead to a clear shift in the dicarbonyl spectrum. Indeed, most α -DCs were considerably higher in HD patients. Glucose derived glucosone exhibited a two-fold increase which is expected under conditions of elevated oxidative stress. In contrast, 1-DG does not require an oxidation step for its formation and remained nearly at the level of healthy subjects. Interestingly, plasma levels of 2,3-DKG were considerably decreased in HD patients. This must be explained by a significantly accelerated degradation via oxidative pathways. Glyoxal and methylglyoxal are further compounds of published interest in regard to certain chronic diseases like uremia. A 3-fold elevation of glyoxal and a 4-fold increase of methylglyoxal were observed in uremic plasma. This is in line with the literature (ODANI et al. 1999a, LAPOLLA et al. 2005b, NAKAYAMA et al. 2008), although the absolute values differ significantly, depending on the respective study. The assessment of α -DC plasma levels depends strongly on the analytical approach, specifically on work-up conditions, derivatization procedure and chromatographic method. Most importantly, the derivatization was conducted in the presence of protein to assess both free and reversibly bound α -DCs. Therefore, a direct comparison of the plasma levels of the present study and those reported previously is not possible.

The C_6 -dicarbonyl compound glucosone and its analogues 1-DG and 3-DG can not arise from ascorbate degradation and therefore are markers for glucose derived α -DCs in the context of Maillard chemistry (Fig. 12). 3-DG is formed non-oxidatively from the Amadori product of glucose via 1,2-enolization and dehydration, whereas 2,3-enolization yields 1-DG (NIWA 1999).



FIGURE 12. Formation pathways of α -DCs from glucose and ascorbic acid. (HENNING et al. 2014)

Oxidation of the Amadori compound leads to glucosone (GOBERT and GLOMB 2009). Besides from Maillard reaction, an important endogenous route leading to 3-DG formation from glucose is the enzymatic polyol pathway (TSUKUSHI et al. 1999). 3-DG is reviewed in literature as the most abundant C_6 -dicarbonyl in vivo (VISTOLI et al. 2013) but poses only a very limited glycating reactivity (GOBERT and GLOMB 2009). Thus, the chemistry of 3-DG has to be considered as of minor relevance regarding Maillard processes under physiological conditions. 1-DG and glucosone were identified as the central intermediates leading to C_4 - and C_5 -fragments, respectively (GLOMB et al. 2010). Their reductone structure with an α -oxo-enediol moiety boasts significant higher reactivity. More generally, this applies to all analogue C_4 - and C_5 -dicarbonyls but 1-DG is by far the most reactive and thus important α -DC intermediate regarding glucose-derived AGEs. In particular, as already mentioned above, amine-induced β -cleavage in the presence of lysine leads directly to carboxylic acid amides (amide-AGEs).

Lederer's glucosone was not detected in plasma of healthy subjects even though it is a relative stable non reductone structure like 3-DG. However, unlike 3-DG the required enolization along the entire carbon backbone makes this α -DC susceptible to multiple degradation processes. The existence of Lederer's glucosone in vivo is evident from the detection of its AGE follow-up structure glucosepane at low levels in human blood and extracellular matrix (BIEMEL et al. 2002a, SELL et al. 2005).

DHA is a C_6 -dicarbonyl structure exclusively assigned to the degradation of ascorbic acid (ASA), formed by oxidation. DHA in aqueous solution hydrolyzes irreversibly to 2,3-DKG, which is the direct precursor of fragmentation products with a carbon backbone smaller than C_6 .

 α -DCs with a carbon skeleton smaller than C₆ arise from the degradation of glucose as well of ASA. As established in previous papers (SMUDA and GLOMB 2013b, VOIGT and GLOMB 2009), the C₄-dicarbonyls threosone, 1-deoxythreosone (1-DT) and 3-deoxythreosone (3-DT) are formed from both 1-DG and 2,3-DKG via β -dicarbonyl cleavage with an C₄-enediol as the reactive intermediate. Oxidation of the latter leads to threosone whereas dehydration at C³ results in 3-DT. The enediol may also undergo isomerization to give 1-DT in an equivalent reaction. As a consequence under deaeration, which represents the situation in vivo, 3-DT was the prominent structure as the reductone 1-DT has to be considered a much more reactive and, thus, short-lived intermediate.

The plasma levels of pentosone were comparatively high and did not fit into the picture. Decarboxylation is a well established mechanism of ASA degradation and leads to C_5 -compounds including pentosone (SHIN and FEATHER 1990, REIHL et al. 2004b) but under physiological conditions the formation of C_4 -dicarbonyls from 2,3-DKG is favored (NEMET and MONNIER 2011, SMUDA and GLOMB 2013b). Glucose derived pentosone stems from glucosone by the same mechanism of hydrolytic β -cleavage as threosone from 1-DG as the precursor. After isomerization and hydration formic acid is cleaved off and gives an C_5 -1,2-enediol as the reactive intermediate. Oxidation leads to pentosone, whereas water elimination yields 3-deoxypentosone (3-DP) or after 2,3-enolization 1-deoxypentosone (1-DP) (GLOMB et al. 2010). Considering the need of an oxidation step in order to obtain pentosone from both 2,3-DKG or glucosone, formation of 1-DP and 3-DP should be favored. The results therefore strongly suggest an additional alternative source for pentosone formation in vivo.

In Maillard chemistry, glyoxylic acid is assigned to disaccharide chemistry (SMUDA and GLOMB 2011) but can also arise from oxidation of glyoxal (ROSSNER et al. 2001) and degradation of DHA (SHIN and FEATHER 1990, TAKAGI and MORITA 1987). However, this can not account solely for the plasma levels which were 2.5-fold higher than glyoxal and in the same range as 2,3-DKG. An alternative source is the degradation of hydroxyproline with the subsequent glyoxylate metabolism in human organism which is rather complex involving several enzymatic and non-enzymatic reactions and is subject to recent investigation (DUARTE et al. 2007).

Oxalic acid can originate via β -dicarbonyl fragmentation as well as via oxidative α -DC cleavage from 2,3-DKG and is the main degradation product of the latter (SMUDA and GLOMB 2013b). In addition, oxalate is also part of the glyoxylate metabolism mentioned above. However, under assay conditions the dicarboxylic acid oxalic acid is not converted to its corresponding quinoxaline. This is expected, because at the chosen workup pH the carboxylic acid groups do not show sufficient carbonyl activity to react with OPD. Consequently, there must be alternative precursors for the quinoxaline of oxalic acid other than oxalic acid itself. 3,4-Dideoxypentosone (3,4-DDP) is a known intermediate of maltose degradation but was neither found in glucose nor ASA reaction systems (SMUDA and GLOMB 2011). Hence, the origin of the detected quinoxaline of 3,4-DDP remains unknown.

3.2 Advanced Glycation Endproducts

The analytical assessment of AGE free adducts (AGE-modified amino acids) in different biological matrices is a difficult task. Even more challenging is the quantitation of protein bound AGEs because hydrolysis of the peptide bounds is a necessity. Total hydrolysis is achieved by strong acidic treatment at high temperatures. However, under these harsh conditions, many of the above described AGEs are not stable. To circumvent this problem to achieve a complete AGE spectrum different protocols of enzymatic protein hydrolyses were developed (GLOMB and PFAHLER 2001, HENLE et al. 1991, SMUDA et al. 2015, AHMED and THORNALLEY 2002). It is important in this regard to determine the efficiency

of the enzymatic digestion and to reassure the stability of e.g. above mentioned amidation under these conditions. Indeed, our multistep enzymatic approach including treatment with Pronase E, leucine aminopeptidase and carboxypeptidase Y showed no degradation of reference amide-AGEs.

Table 2 summarizes mono- and bivalent lysine derived AGEs, monovalent arginine derived AGEs and bivalent lysine-arginine crosslinks which are relevant *in vivo*. For each compound the known mechanism of formation and the analytical detection in different matrices are listed without subdivision into protein bound modifications and free adducts. Obviously, there is no claim of completeness.

AGE compound	mechanism of formation	quantitation in vivo				
monovalent lysine modifications						
<i>N</i> ⁶ -carboxymethyl lysine (CML) ^[a]	isomerization, unknown ox. fragmentation	various tissues, plasma, blood cells, urine, faecis, lens, reviewed in (THORPE and BAYNES 2002, DELGADO-ANDRADE 2016)				
<i>N</i> ⁶ -carboxyethyl lysine (CEL) ^[a]	isomerization	plasma (HENNING et al. 2011, EUPEN et al. 2013, GOPAL et al. 2014, LIEUW-A-FA et al. 2004); plasma, blood cells, urine (THORNALLEY et al. 2003, AHMED et al. 2005); lens (SMUDA et al. 2015, AHMED et al. 1997)				
glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA) ^[b]	isomerization	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -formyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β -cleavage	plasma (HENNING et al. 2011), lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -acetyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β -cleavage	plasma (HENNING et al. 2011), lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -oxalyl lysine ^[b]	ox. α-cleavage, amine induced β-cleavage	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -lactoyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β -cleavage	plasma (HENNING et al. 2011); lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -glycerinyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	plasma (HENNING et al. 2011)				
<i>N</i> ⁶ -threonyl lysine ^[b]	ox. α-cleavage	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -xylonyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
N ⁶ -lyxonyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)				
pyrraline ^[b]	cyclization	plasma (PORTERO-OTÍN et al. 1995, MIYATA and MONNIER 1992), serum (ODANI et al. 1999b); urine (TAMURA et al. 2006, Aso et al. 2004, PORTERO-OTÍN et al. 1996); lens (SMUDA et al. 2015, NAGARAJ and SADY 1996) various tissue (MIYATA and MONNIER 1992)				

TABLE 2. Advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) relevant in vivo.

bivalent lysine modifications							
glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) ^[b]	isomerization	lens (GLOMB and PFAHLER 2001, SMUDA et al. 2015)					
glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) ^[a]	isomerization	serum (ODANI et al. 1999b); lens (FRYE et al. 1998); serum, lens (CHELLAN and NAGARAJ 1999)					
methylglyoxal lysine dimer (MOLD) ^[a]	isomerization	serum (ODANI et al. 1999b, NAGARAJ et al. 1996); plasma, blood cells, urine (THORNALLEY et al. 2003, AHMED et al. 2005); lens (FRYE et al. 1998) ; serum, lens (CHELLAN and NAGARAJ 1999)					
vesperlysine (LM-1) ^[a]	unknown	lens (TESSIER et al. 1999)					
monovalent arginine modifications							
<i>N</i> ⁷ -carboxymethyl arginine ^[b]	isomerization	serum (ODANI et al. 2001), lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)					
N^7 -carboxyethyl arginine ^[b]	isomerization	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)					
methylglyoxal imidazolinone (MG-H1) ^[b]	isomerization	plasma, blood cells, urine (THORNALLEY et al. 2003, Анмед et al. 2005); lens (Анмед et al. 2003, SMUDA et al. 2015)					
methylglyoxal imidazolinone (MG-H3) ^[b]	isomerization	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)					
3-deoxyglucosone imidazolinone (3DG-H) ^[b]	isomerization	plasma, blood cells, urine (THORNALLEY et al. 2003, Анмед et al. 2005);					
argpyrimidine (AP) ^[a]	isomerization	plasma, blood cells, urine (THORNALLEY et al. 2003, Анмер et al. 2005); lens (Анмер et al. 2003, SMUDA et al. 2015)					
tetrahydropyrimidine (THP) ^[b]	isomerization	plasma (EUPEN et al. 2013); lens (SMUDA et al. 2015)					
bivalent lysine-arginine modifications							
glucosepane ^[b]	cyclization	lens (SMUDA et al. 2015); serum, lens (BIEMEL et al. 2002a); collagen (MONNIER et al. 2013)					
pentosidine ^[a]	cyclization	plasma (SANAKA et al. 2002, GOPAL et al. 2014);serum (ODANI et al. 1999b); urine (TAMURA et al. 2006, ASO et al. 2004); urine, serum (YOSHIHARA et al. 1998); plasma, blood cells, urine (THORNALLEY et al. 2003, AHMED et al. 2005); collagen (SELL and MONNIER 1990, SELL et al. 1992, YU et al. 2006); lens (NAGARAJ et al. 1991, AHMED et al. 2003)					

^[a] acid stable; ^[b] total degradation under strong acidic conditions

CML and the crosslink pentosidine represent the most investigated AGEs. CML was the first AGE discovered (AHMED et al. 1986) and is of significant quantitative importance. This fact and its acid stability allowed the quantitation in many different matrices (DELGADO-ANDRADE 2016). Pentosidine represents an acid stable fluorophore and thus enabled very sensitive detection in a variety of human tissues even before the coupling of liquid chromatography with mass spectrometry became a common analytical tool (SELL and MONNIER 1989b, Sell and MONNIER 1989a, SELL et al. 1991).

A novel class of important glycation products are amide-AGEs. Their quantitative relevance in lens protein (GLOMB and PFAHLER 2001, SMUDA et al. 2015) and human plasma (publication A) (HENNING et al. 2011) was already established.



FIGURE 13. N^6 -acetyl lysine (A), N^6 -formyl lysine (B), N^6 -lactoyl lysine (C) and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine (D) levels of plasma from healthy subjects (controls) and non-diabetic hemodialysis patients (HD patients). Data are expressed as mean \pm SD. * P < 0.001 vs. control (A, C, D), P < 0.01 vs. control (B). (HENNING et al. 2011)

In publication A plasma from patients undergoing hemodialysis vs. healthy subjects was used. Including only non-diabetic subjects, the impact of differences in glucose plasma concentrations was avoided. The comparison of in vivo results with glucose-lysine model experiments gave a very diverse picture. While all target amides in vivo were significantly increased in uremia (Fig. 13) only N^6 -formyl and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine responded to aeration in the glucose-lysine model (Fig. 14). Incubations under aerated conditions should simulate the situation in uremia. In addition, the ratio of concentrations between the individual amide compounds was completely different. In vivo, N^6 -acetyl, N^6 -formyl and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine exhibiting 10-fold lower concentrations.



FIGURE 14. Formation of AGE-amides in incubation mixtures of 200 mM glucose with 42 mM N^{l} -t-BOC-lysine in phosphate buffer 0.1 M, pH 7.4, at 37 °C under aerated (closed symbols) and deaerated conditions (open symbols): N^{6} -acetyl lysine (\blacktriangle), N^{6} -formyl lysine (\blacklozenge), N^{6} -lactoyl lysine (\blacklozenge) and N^{6} -glycerinyl lysine (\blacksquare). (HENNING et al. 2011)

In contrast, glucose incubations showed the smallest concentrations for N^6 -lactoyl lysine. Given the fact that N^6 -glycerinyl lysine indeed follows the patterns of the model incubation this suggests that the glucose-based pathways shown in Fig. 15 are supplemented by various additional formation reactions of N^6 -acetyl, N^6 -formyl and N^6 -lactoyl lysine.



FIGURE 15. Non-enzymatic degradation pathway of glucose leading to amide-AGEs. (HENNING et al. 2011)

An alternative mechanism leading to N^6 -lactoyl lysine in vivo is the reaction of methylglyoxal with ε -amino lysine residues corresponding to the identification of GALA in glyoxal-lysine model incubations based on rearrangement reactions (GLOMB and PFAHLER 2001). Indeed, incubations of methylglyoxal with N^{1} -t-BOC-lysine yielded significant amounts of N^6 -lactovl lysine independent from the presence of oxygen. In vivo, this also explains the 7-fold increase in uremia, as a four-fold increase in methylglyoxal in such subjects was determined (61 \pm 7 vs. 219 \pm 129 pmol/mL plasma) (HENNING et al. 2014). Concentrations of N^6 -acetyl lysine were highest in vivo and responded to renal failure by a two-fold increase. This might be explained by increased cell death triggered by the strong inflammatory processes observed under uremia resulting in accelerated release of N^{6} -acetyl lysine from acetylated histone proteins. In addition, the increased concentration of methylglyoxal in presence of peroxynitrite might also contribute to the acetylation of *E*-amino lysine residues in vivo. Massari et al. described a mechanism of L-lysine acetylation by a methylglyoxal-peroxynitrite system in vitro (MASSARI et al. 2010). Although the direct reaction of methylglyoxal with proteins probably dominates over that with peroxynitrite, the post-translational acetylation of proteins by radical mechanisms in the presence of methylglyoxal might be a plausible second non-enzymatic pathway to acetyltransferase-catalyzed reactions. Moreover, although much less reactive, H_2O_2 could replace peroxynitrite in the acetyl generating reaction from methylglyoxal. The idea to explain the two-fold increase of N^6 -formyl lysine in uremia based on the in vitro models is supported by the fact that 1-DG and glucosone have recently been detected in vivo (publication B) (HENNING et al. 2014). An alternative mechanism might be the with inflammation increased oxidative DNA breakdown to give 3'-formylphosphate-ended DNA fragments as a potential precursor, however such species have not been identified in vivo so far (JIANG et al. 2007).

Investigations on the mechanistic reaction pathways *in vivo* often raise the question, if the observed AGEs stem mainly from glucose degradation or if ascorbic acid has to be considered as the dominant precursor. The discovery of ascorbic acid specific amide-AGEs N^6 -threonyl lysine and N^6 -xylonyl/lyxonyl lysine in *in vitro* studies (SMUDA and GLOMB 2013b) and their quantitation in human lens (SMUDA et al. 2015) were a first attempt to clarify this issue. Their low abundance raises questions about the role of ascorbic acid as the predominant precursor of AGEs in lens proteins.

Another interesting aspect which needs critical reflection is the chemical stability of AGEs in vivo. Common lysine modifications like CML, CEL, pyrraline, GOLD, MOLD etc. are thought to be stable under physiological conditions. However, in vitro experiments clearly showed that monovalent arginine modifications except CMA and argpyrimidine are only of limited chemical stability with half-lives from one to several weeks, strongly dependent on incubation conditions like pH value, the choosen buffer and buffer strenght (KLÖPFER et al. 2010, GLOMB and LANG 2001, AHMED et al. 2002a, BIEMEL et al. 2002a). Consequently, they are not likely to show a time-dependent accumulation in long-lived proteins, e.g. lens protein, over a time scale of years. However, our findings in normal human lenses contradict this assumption (SMUDA et al. 2015). All target AGEs like CML, CEL, CMA, CEA, MG-H1, MG-H3, THP, glucosepane and most of the amide-AGEs correlated with donor age. Obviously, the formation rate of arginine modifications with limited stability has to be higher than their degradation rate. On the other hand, for lysineamide-AGEs exclusively N^6 -acetyl lysine and the C₄-lysine amides (N^6 -threonyl and N^{6} -erythronyl lysine) showed no age-related accumulation. This did not reflect the *in vitro* situation, where all amide-AGEs proved to be stable under physiological conditions. Indeed, formation of N^6 -acetyl lysine is known to be paralleled by non-Maillard reactions alternative (ALLFREY al. 1964) but mechanisms for C₄-lysine et amide synthesis/degradation in vivo are still unclear.
4 Markers for protein oxidation

It is a matter of common knowledge, that AGE formation *in vivo* is promoted by a general increase in oxidative stress associated with many chronic diseases. This is not surprising, considering that important degradation pathways in Maillard chemistry like the oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage or the formation of dehydroascorbic acid require oxygen. Consequently, to evaluate the stress status in vivo, one promising approach is the quantitation of specific advanced protein oxidation products. To use AGEs like CML which originate from oxidative reaction pathways as analytical probes is therefore an obvious idea. However, most AGEs or precursors thereof can stem from various sources. Therefore, direct oxidation products of protein side chains independent of Maillard chemistry are often discussed as markers for oxidative stress. Methionine sulfoxide is the oxidation product of methionine residues (LEVINE et al. 2000, SWAIM and PIZZO 1988, YU et al. 2006). *o*-Tyrosine, the isomer of the natural occurring *p*-tyrosine, is formed via attack of hydroxyl radicals at phenylalanine (LEEUWENBURGH et al. 1999). 3-Nitrotyrosine (GAUT et al. 2002) and o,o'-dityrosine (LEEUWENBURGH et al. 1999) are the oxidation products of tyrosine residues. In this concept a new marker based on the redox-equilibrium formed by protein bound glycolaldehyde and glyoxal was introduced in publication C (HENNING et al. 2018). Glyoxal represents the oxidized form of glycolaldehyde. The respective imines were stabilized as N^6 -hydroxyethyl lysine derivatives by reduction with sodium borodeuteride (Fig. 16). Glyoxal-imine and glycolaldehyde-imine yield double deuterized HEL-2D and mono deuterized HEL-1D, respectively. This enabled us to differentiate between glyoxal- and glycolaldehyde-imines.



FIGURE 16. Reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal to form N^{6} -(2-hydroxy-1-dethyl)lysine (HEL-1D) and N^{6} -(2-hydroxy-1,2-d-ethyl)lysine (HEL-2D), respectively. (HENNING et al. 2018)

The potential of this approach was proven in a clinical trial with uremic patients versus healthy controls. Uremia is characterized by a state of inflammatory stress resulting from increased oxidation of carbohydrates and lipids (MIYATA et al. 1997a, MIYATA et al. 1997b, MIYATA et al. 1998, CANESTRARI et al. 1994, DASGUPTA et al. 1992, ODETTI et al. 1996, ROSELAAR et al. 1995, WITKO-SARSAT et al. 1996). Indeed, a clear shift towards the factor of 17 of the ratio of glyoxal derived N^6 -hydroxyethyl lysine to the glycolaldehyde derived derivative was observed. In healthy human subjects glyoxal and glycolaldehyde are present in approximately equal amounts (*Fig. 17*). In hemodialysis patients (*HD patients*), the results were in line with the established parameters described above but promised significantly enhanced sensitivity.



FIGURE 17. Plasma levels of total N⁶-(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine (total HEL) and percentage of N⁶-(2-hydroxy-1,2-d-ethyl)lysine (HEL-2D) of total HEL from controls and HD patients. (HENNING et al. 2018)

It has to be noted that also the total HEL content in sodium borodeuterate-reduced plasma protein was significantly elevated in HD patients vs. controls. Thus, formation of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal are stimulated in uremia. The only known other source of glycolaldehyde in vivo besides the Maillard reaction (GLOMB and MONNIER 1995) is the degradation of the amino acid L-serine in presence of hypochlorous acid formed from superoxide and chloride by myeloperoxidase at sites of inflammation (ANDERSON et al. 1999). Glyoxal does not only stem from oxidation of glycolaldehyde in Maillard driven systems, but alternatively is formed by DNA oxidation, lipid peroxidation (FU et al. 1996) and sugar autoxidation (WELLS-KNECHT et al. 1995b). However, glyoxal can be detoxified by the glyoxalase system with glutathione as a cofactor (THORNALLEY 1998). Depletion of glutathione under conditions of oxidative stress therefore may lead to enhanced glyoxallevels.

The relevance of glyoxal and glycolaldehyde to modify and to crosslink proteins in the course of the Maillard reaction has been already studied extensively (GLOMB and PFAHLER 2001, GLOMB and LANG 2001, ACHARYA and MANNING 1983). However, the exact mechanistic relationship of both structures is still unknown. To monitor glyoxal- and glycolaldehyde-amino acid adducts in vitro, N^1 -t-BOC-lysine and N^1 -t-BOC-arginine were incubated in presence of glyoxal and glycolaldehyde.

In contrast to published data (HOFMANN et al. 1999) it was unequivocally shown that glycolaldehyde is oxidized to glyoxal. This redox reaction only proceeded from glycolaldehyde to glyoxal. Glyoxal incubations never produced any glycolaldehyde adducts (Fig. 18).



FIGURE 18. Time dependent formation of total N^6 -(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine (total HEL, dashed lines) and N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-d-ethyl)lysine (HEL-2D) relative to total content HEL (solid lines) in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -t-BOC-lysine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\blacktriangle) and 40 mM glyoxal (\bullet) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions.

The oxidation was dependent on the presence of oxygen and, more important, on the catalytic action of the ε -amino moiety of lysine. When aerated glyoxal- and glycolaldehyde-arginine incubations were monitored for imidazolinone as a probe for the reaction of glyoxal with the guanidine function of arginine, there was a 5-fold increase in

concentration from glycolaldehyde to glyoxal (Fig. 19 A). In contrast, glyoxal- and glycolaldehyde-lysine incubations yielded similar amounts of CML as a probe for glyoxal-lysine modifications after 168 h (Fig. 19 B).



FIGURE 19. (A) Time-dependent formation of imidazolinone in incubations of 40 mM N¹-t-BOC-arginine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (▲) and 40 mM glycoxal (●) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions. (B) Time-dependent formation of N⁶-carboxymethyl lysine (CML) in incubations of 40 mM N¹-t-BOC-lysine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (▲) and 40 mM glyoxal (●) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditons. (HENNING et al. 2018)

Even though glyoxal- and glycolaldehyde-lysine incubations produced similar quantities of CML in the long term (168 h), the rate of formation was very different at very short incubation times (< 96 h). Reduction experiments showed clearly that the glycolaldehydeimine was much more reactive than the glyoxal-imine, resulting in higher concentrations of CML at the beginning of the reaction. Conversion of glyoxal-imines to CML requires a rearrangement step such as enolization or Cannizarro-type reactions whereas conversion of glycolaldehyde-imines must involve an additional oxidation step by definition. This suggests that CML is formed via totally different mechanisms in glycolaldehyde versus glyoxal reactions, respectively. Hayashi et al. (HAYASHI et al. 1977) already established a reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde with an amine leading to glyoxal via a 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium radical cation including an oxidative step, the so-called Namiki pathway. The relevance of this radical intermediate was investigated in-depth by Hofmann et al. (HOFMANN et al. 1999) with regard to the formation of colored compounds during Maillard reactions. This group identified glycolaldehyde as the most effective precursor of radical formation, tracked by means of electron spin resonance spectroscopy. Notably, the observed radical formation already reached its maximum after 5 minutes in incubations of glycolaldehyde and ethyl amine at 95 °C. However, more importantly, they were able to extend the complex reaction cascades of the intermediate pyrazinium radical cation to the generation of diquaternary and hydroxylated pyrazine species.

It has been hypothesized that the 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium radical cation is also a precursor of CML (GLOMB and MONNIER 1995). In publication C this hypothesis was verified by using ethyl amine as a substitute for lysine to simplify the experimental design and incubation of 1,4-diethylpyrazine diquaternary salt in the presence of traces of water. Indeed, it was possible to unequivocally verify the formation of N-ethyl glycine, the ethyl amine pendant of CML. Based on this finding a novel radical-assisted pathway of CML formation in line with above mechanistic studies was proposed (Fig. 20).



FIGURE 20. Reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal leading to N-ethyl glycine or N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine, respectively, depending on the amine-compound used (ethyl amine or lysine). (HENNING et al. 2018)

After rearrangement to the corresponding α -aminoaldehydes two molecules condense to yield 1,4-dialkyl-1,4-dihydropyrazine. As shown by Hayashi et al. and confirmed by Hofmann et al. this structure is immediately oxidized to the 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium radical cation. The high potential of these pyrazine species for single electron transfer reactions is further enlightened by a disproportionation to give the corresponding diquaternary salt in a redox cycling equilibrium. The diquat represents an extremely electron deficient compound, which leads to spontaneous attack of nucleophils as water to give the 2-hydroxypyrazinium cation already verified in literature. This intermediate can now be stabilized via two pathways. (I) Hydrolysis leads to one molecule glycolaldehyde-imine and one molecule of glyoxal-imine, which relatively slow after hydration and rearrangement results in ethyl glycine/ CML. (II) More effectively, alternative direct enolization should give the corresponding 1,4-dialkyl-3,4-dihydro-2-pyrazinone, which hydrolyzes to release glycolaldehyde-imine and instantaneously ethyl glycine/ CML.

The crucial oxidative step in this CML formation cascade was enlightened by the detection of significant lower amounts of CML in glycolaldehyde-lysine incubations under deaeration (Fig. 19 B). On the other hand, as depicted in Fig. 18, deaeration only led to a slight delayed degradation of glycolaldehyde-imines in the initial reaction phase up to 3 h when monitored as content of total HEL. Thus, there must be significant additional unknown degradation mechanisms to CML formation, which do not require oxidative conditions.

5 Summary

In the present Ph.D. thesis the significance of the various routes for carbohydrate fragmentation in Maillard chemistry under physiological conditions was investigated. The results of the in vitro experiments were matched with the in vivo situation.

First, it has to be stated, that the conventional retro-aldol fragmentation pathway is not a significant route for carbohydrate fragmentation in Maillard chemistry under physiological conditions. Second, there is no convincing mechanistic basis for the often suggested hydrolytic α -cleavage. In contrast, the β -dicarbonyl cleavage route must be considered as the major carbohydrate fragmentation pathway in general. The hydrolytic pathway is paralleled in the presence of amino acids or proteins by an analogous amine catalyzed cleavage mechanism. Indeed, acylation is a well-known regulatory concept in vivo (ALLFREY et al. 1964). The posttranslational acylation of amino acids in the polypeptide chain neutralizes the positive charge and, thus, changes protein function in various ways (KOUZARIDES 2000, YANG 2004). Non-enzymatic acylation as described above parallels enzymatic regulatory mechanisms by affecting the same targets. However, the Maillard derived protein modifications might be irreversible and lead to accumulation and adverse effects on protein characteristics. A further fragmentation route in vivo, which is of great mechanistic importance is based on oxidative α -dicarbonyl scission to yield carboxylic acids and related amine acylation. The quantitative aspects of this route still have to be evaluated.

A formation mechanism for the novel amide-AGEs N^6 -acetyl, N^6 -formyl, N^6 -lactoyl and N^{6} -glycerinyl lysine via amine induced β -cleavage degradation of 1-deoxyglucosone in the presence of lysine was already established in vitro by Glomb's group. Now, human plasma levels of the respective compounds as free adducts were determined by means of LC-MS/MS, N^6 -formyl, N^6 -lactoyl and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine for the first time. They were significantly higher in uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis than in healthy subjects. Plasma concentration levels were in the same range like other established lysine modifications, i.e. N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine and N^6 -carboxyethyl lysine. Model reactions N^{l} -t-butoxycarbonyl-lysine under with physiological conditions confirmed 1-deoxyglucosone as an immediate precursor of amide-AGEs. In addition, glucosone and methylglyoxal were identified as alternative precursors for formyl and lactoyl lysine, respectively. Comparison of the in vivo results with the model experiments provided the

possibility to elucidate possible formation pathways linked to Maillard chemistry. The results strongly suggest a major participation of non-enzymatic Maillard mechanisms on amide-AGE formation pathways in vivo, which, in the case of N^6 -acetyl lysine, parallels enzymatic processes.

To understand the complex mechanisms of advanded glycation endproducts (AGE) formation it is crucial to extend the knowledge on plasma concentrations of reactive intermediates. In general, as already mentioned above, α -dicarbonyl compounds (α -DCs) are the key players during Maillard directed degradation processes. With the present work a highly sensitive LC-MS/MS multi-method for human blood plasma based on derivatization with o-phenylenediamine under acidic conditions was introduced. The method was validated with special attention on artifact formation and the mechanistic relationship between the individual target analytes. Included were the α -dicarbonyl compounds 1-deoxyglucosone, 3-deoxyglucosone, glucosone, Lederer's glucosone, dehydroascorbic acid, 2,3-diketogulonic acid, 1-deoxypentosone, 3-deoxypentosone, 3,4-dideoxypentosone, pentosone, 1-deoxythreosone, 3-deoxythreosone, threosone, methylglyoxal, glyoxal, the α -keto-carboxylic acids pyruvic acid and glyoxylic acid and the dicarboxylic acid oxalic acid. The method was then applied to the analyses of 15 healthy subjects and 24 uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis. The comparison of the results revealed a clear shift in the product spectrum. In most cases, the plasma levels of target analytes were significantly higher in the uremic group. In general, the elevated levels of α -DCs found explain the elevated levels of AGEs in uremia. Thus, this is the first time that a complete spectrum of α -dicarbonyl compounds relevant in vivo was established.

The generation and accumulation of these compounds derived from both, oxidative and non-oxidative chemistry must be regarded as one of the major sources of carbonyl stress. AGE formation in vivo is furthermore promoted by a general increase in oxidative stress which is considered as tissue damage resulting from an imbalance between an excessive generation of highly reactive prooxidative compounds, e.g. reactive oxygen species (ROS), and insufficient antioxidant defense mechanisms. Thus, developing novel therapeutic interventions to reduce oxidative stress, i.e. by administration of antioxidants or by attenuation of chronic inflammation, is an important field of research. A necessary prerequisite in such studies is the accurate and reliable quantitation of the stress status. Here, oxidized biomolecules, e.g. proteins, are often used as targets. The present work introduced a novel marker for oxidative stress in human plasma protein and its possible clinical relevance in chronic uremia. The basis of this approach is the amount of protein bound glycolaldehyde in relation to the oxidized counterpart glyoxal. Reduction of the respective imines with sodium borodeuteride and subsequent protein hydrolysis lead to the N^6 -hydroxyethyl lysine (HEL) derivatives. Glycolaldehyde-imines yield mono deuterized HEL (HEL-1D) whereas glyoxal-imines react to double deuterized HEL (HEL-2D). Thus, a shift towards HEL-2D in relation to the total amount of HEL (sum of HEL-1D and HEL-2D) indicates increased protein oxidation. In hemodialysis patients, the results were in line with established parameters like methionine sulfoxide, 3-nitrotyrosine, o-tyrosine and o,o'-dityrosine but promised significantly enhanced sensitivity. The quantitative importance of glycolaldehyde as a potent glycating agent in human plasma was established for the first time, and was in the same range as glyoxal in normal subjects. The significance as a reactive intermediate in Maillard reaction pathways was further emphasized by a novel and very effective mechanism leading to CML incorporating singleelectron transfer reactions.

6 Zusammenfassung

In der vorliegenden Dissertation wurde die Bedeutung der verschiedenen Wege des Kohlenhydratabbaus im Rahmen der Maillard-Reaktion unter physiologischen Bedingungen untersucht. Ein Schwerpunkt der Arbeit lag darüber hinaus auf der Übertragung von in vitro gewonnenen mechanistischen Erkenntnissen auf die in vivo Situation.

Betrachtet man die ablaufenden Maillard-induzierten Fragmentierungsreaktionen von Kohlenhydraten, so muß zunächst festgestellt werden, daß unter physiologischen Bedingungen die klassische Retro-Aldolspaltung kaum eine Rolle spielt. Darüber hinaus gibt es keinen sicheren experimentellen Nachweis für die in der Literatur oft ins Feld geführte hydrolytische α -Spaltung. Die β -Dicarbonylspaltung mu β dagegen als der bedeutendste Abbauweg von Kohlenhydraten unter den gewählten Bedingungen gelten. Die hydrolytische β -Spaltung wird dabei in Gegenwart von Aminosäuren oder Proteinen ergänzt um einen analog ablaufenden Amin-induzierten Weg. Die bekannte posttranslationale Acylierung von Aminosäuren in der Polypeptid-Kette von Proteinen spielt in vielfältigen Regulationsmechanismen in vivo eine Rolle. Hierbei werden positive Ladungen am Protein eliminiert und so die Proteinfunktion verändert. Die hier beschriebene nichtenzymatische Acylierung tritt dabei in Konkurrenz zu den enzymatisch gesteuerten Prozessen, da dieselben Zielstrukturen angegriffen werden. Die Proteinmodifikationen, welche aus der Maillard-Reaktion hervorgehen, können allerdings irreversibel sein, sich anreichern und so die Proteincharakterisitik entscheidend beeinflussen. Einen weiteren mechanistisch bedeutenden Abbauweg in vivo stellt die oxidative α -Dicarbonylspaltung dar, welche zu Carbonsäuren führt. Auch hier ist ein analoger Amin-induzierter Weg möglich. Die quantitative Bedeutung dieser Reaktionsroute muß aber noch untersucht werden.

Kürzlich wurde durch die Arbeitsgruppe Glomb eine neue Klasse von "Advanced Glycation Endproducts" (fortgeschrittene Produkte der Maillard-Reaktion, AGEs) eingeführt, die Amid-AGEs. Für vier dieser Strukturen, N^6 -Acetyl-, N^6 -Formyl-, N^6 -Lactoyl- und N^6 -Glycerinyllysine, wurde als Bildungsweg bereits eine Lysin-induzierte β -Dicarbonylspaltung von 1-Desoxyglucoson in Modellexperimenten nachgewiesen. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurden die genannten Strukturen, drei davon erstmalig, über eine LC-MS/MS-Analytik in humanem Blutplasma als freie Aminosäureaddukte nachgewiesen.

Die ermittelten Konzentrationen waren dabei im Plasma von Urämiepatienten signifikant höher als in der nicht-urämischen Kontrollgruppe. Die Gehalte sind vergleichbar mit etablierten Lysinmodifikationen wie N⁶-Carboxymethyllysin oder N⁶-Carboxyethyllysin. Dies legt einen ähnlichen Einfluß auf die Pathophysiologie im menschlichen Organismus nahe. Modelluntersuchungen mit N¹-t-Butoxycarbonyllysin unter physiologischen Bedingungen bestätigten 1-Desoxyglucosone als direkte Vorläuferstruktur von Amid-AGEs. Darüber hinaus wurden die weiteren α -Dicarbonylverbindungen Glucoson und Methylglyoxal als alternative Vorläufer für N⁶-Formyllysin bzw. N⁶-Lactoyllysin identifiziert. Der Vergleich der in vivo Ergebnisse mit den Modellexperimenten erlaubte es, mögliche Maillard-Bildungswege in vivo aufzudecken. Dabei wurde deutlich, daß ein wesentlicher Einfluß nicht-enzymatischer Mechanismen auf die Bildung von Amid-AGEs in vivo besteht, welche im Falle von N⁶-Acetyllysin in Konkurrenz zu enzymatisch katalysierten Reaktionen treten.

Um die komplexen Reaktionskaskaden verstehen zu können, auf denen AGEs in Blutplasma gebildet werden, ist es unabdingbar, auch die Konzentration von reaktiven Zwischenprodukten zu bestimmen. Wie bereits weiter oben angesprochen sind α -Dicarbonylverbindungen die Schlüsselintermediate der Maillard-Reaktion. Daher wurde im Rahmen der vorliegenden Arbeit erstmals eine empfindliche und umfangreich validierte LC-MS/MS-Multimethode entwickelt, die alle relevanten Strukturen umfaßt. Als Derivatisierungsreagenz kam hierbei o-Phenylendiamin unter sauren Bedingungen zum Einsatz. Insbesondere wurde die Stabilität der entstehenden Derivate und die Artefaktbildung untersucht. Die Methode umfaßt die α -Dicarbonylverbindungen 1-Desoxyglucoson, 3-Desoxyglucoson, Glucoson, Lederer Glucoson, Dehydroascorbinsäure, 2,3-Diketogulonsäure, 1-Desoxypentoson, 3-Desoxypentoson, *3,4-Didesoxypentoson,* Pentoson, 1-Desoxythreoson, 3-Desoxythreoson, Threoson, Methylglyoxal, Glyoxal, die a-Ketocarbonsäuren Brenztraubensäure und Glyoxylsäure und die a-Dicarbonsäure Oxalsäure. Die Ergebnisse einer Studie mit 24 hämodialysepflichtigen Urämiepatienten und 15 nicht-urämischen Kontrollen zeigten eine deutliche Verschiebung im Produktspektrum, wobei in den meisten Fällen die Plasmakonzentrationen der Zielstrukturen in der urämischen Gruppe signifikant höher ausfielen. Im allgemeinen ließen sich so erhöhte Werte bekannter AGEs in Urämiepatienten mit den Konzentrationsanstiegen der einzelnen Dicarbonylstrukturen erklären.

Während die Bildung und Anreicherung von α -Dicarbonylstrukturen, die sowohl auf oxidativem wie auch auf nicht-oxidativem Wege gebildet werden können, die Hauptquelle für Carbonylstress im Organismus darstellen, wird die AGE-Bildung in vivo darüber hinaus durch eine Erhöhung des generellen oxidativen Stresses angeregt. Dieser resultiert aus einer Störung des Gleichgewichts zwischen der Bildung von prooxidativ wirkenden Verbindungen wie z.B. reaktiver Sauerstoffspezies (reactive oxygen species, ROS) und antioxidativen Mechanismen. Die Balance wieder herzustellen, z.B. durch Gabe von Antioxidantien oder Entzündungshemmern, ist ein wichtiges medizinisches Forschungsgebiet. Eine wichtige Voraussetzung, um hier untersuchende Studien durchführen zu können, ist die genaue und zuverlässige Bestimmung des Stress-Status. Oft werden oxidierte Biomoleküle wie z.B. Proteine zu diesem Zwecke genutzt. Mit vorliegender Arbeit wurde ein neuer Marker für oxidativen Stress in menschlichem Plasma eingeführt, der auf dem Verhältnis von proteingebundenem Glycolaldehyd in Relation zu dem oxidiertem Pendant Glyoxal beruht. Die Reduktion der entsprechenden Imin-Strukturen mit Natriumbordeuterid und anschließender Proteinhydrolyse führt für Glycolaldehyd zu einfach deuteriertem N^6 -Hydroxyethyllysin (HEL) während für Glyoxal zweifach deuteriertes HEL erhalten wird. Bei Hämodialyse-Patienten waren die so gewonnenen Ergebnisse vergleichbar mit anderen etablierten Protein-Oxidationsmarkern wie Methioninsulfoxid, 3-Nitrotyrosin, o-Tyrosin und o,o'-Dityrosin. Es wurde allerdings eine deutlich höhere Empfindlichkeit erreicht. Die qualitative und insbesondere auch die quantitative Bedeutung von Glycolaldehyd als potentes Glykierungreagenz in menschlichem Blutplasma konnte hier erstmals dargestellt werden. In der Kontrollgruppe lagen die Konzentrationen für Glycolaldehyd im selben Bereich wie jene für Glyoxal. Die Bedeutung des Glycolaldehyds als reaktives Intermediat der Maillard-Reaktion wurde darüber hinaus durch den Nachweis eines neuen und sehr effektiven Reaktionsweges zu N^6 -Carboxymethyllysin unterstrichen, bei welchem Ein-Elektronen-Transfer-Reaktionen eine wichtige Rolle spielen.

7 References

- Acharya AS, Manning JM (**1983**) Reaction of glycolaldehyde with proteins: latent crosslinking potential of alpha-hydroxyaldehydes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 80, 3590–3594
- Ahmed MU, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (**1986**) Identification of N epsiloncarboxymethyllysine as a degradation product of fructoselysine in glycated protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261, 4889–4894
- Ahmed MU, Brinkmann Frye E, Degenhardt TP, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (**1997**) N-epsilon-(carboxyethyl)lysine, a product of the chemical modification of proteins by methylglyoxal, increases with age in human lens proteins. *The Biochemical journal* 324 (Pt 2), 565–570
- Ahmed N, Argirov OK, Minhas HS, Cordeiro CA, Thornalley PJ (**2002a**) Assay of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs): surveying AGEs by chromatographic assay with derivatization by 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate and application to N∈-carboxymethyl-lysine- and N∈-(1-carboxyethyl)lysine-modified albumin. *Biochemical Journal* 364, 1–14
- Ahmed N, Argirov OK, Minhas HS, Cordeiro CAA, Thornalley PJ (**2002b**) Assay of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs): surveying AGEs by chromatographic assay with derivatization by 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate and application to N∈-carboxymethyl-lysine-and N∈-(1-carboxyethyl) lysine-modified albumin. *Biochemical Journal* 364, 1–14
- Ahmed N, Thornalley PJ (2002) Assay of early and advanced glycation adducts by enzymatic hydrolysis of proteins and HPLC of 6-aminoquinolylcarbonyl adducts. *International Congress Series* 1245, 279–283
- Ahmed N, Thornalley PJ, Dawczynski J, Franke S, Strobel J, Stein G, Haik GM (2003) Methylglyoxal-Derived Hydroimidazolone Advanced Glycation End-Products of Human Lens Proteins. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science* 44, 5287

- Ahmed N, Babaei-Jadidi R, Howell SK, Beisswenger PJ, Thornalley PJ (2005) Degradation products of proteins damaged by glycation, oxidation and nitration in clinical type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 48, 1590–1603
- Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE (**1964**) Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **51**, 786–794
- Alt N, Schieberle P (2005a) Identification of N7-(1-Carboxyethyl)-Arginine, a Novel Posttranslational Protein Modification of Arginine Formed at High Hydrostatic Pressure. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1043, 55–58
- Alt N, Schieberle P (**2005b**) Model studies on the influence of high hydrostatic pressure on the formation of glycated arginine modifications at elevated temperatures. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 53, 5789–5797
- Amadori M (**1929**) The product of the condensation of glucose and p-phenetidine. *Atti* Accademia Lincei 9, 68–73
- Anderson MM, Requena JR, Crowley JR, Thorpe SR, Heinecke JW (1999) The myeloperoxidase system of human phagocytes generates Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine on proteins: a mechanism for producing advanced glycation end products at sites of inflammation. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 104, 103–113
- Arrigoni O, De Tullio MC (2002) Ascorbic acid: much more than just an antioxidant.
 Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects 1569, 1–9
- Aso Y, Takanashi K, Sekine K, Yoshida N, Takebayashi K, Yoshihara K, Inukai T (**2004**) Dissociation between urinary pyrraline and pentosidine concentrations in diabetic patients with advanced nephropathy. *The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine* 144, 92–99
- Baynes JW, Thorpe SR (**1999**) Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications: a new perspective on an old paradigm. *Diabetes* 48, 1–9

- Beck J, Ledl F, Severin T (1989) Formation of glucosyl-deoxyosones from Amadori compounds of maltose. Zeitschrift f
 ür Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und Forschung 188, 118–121
- Beisswenger PJ (**2014**) Methylglyoxal in diabetes: link to treatment, glycaemic control and biomarkers of complications. *Biochemical Society transactions* 42, 450–456
- Biemel KM, Reihl O, Conrad J, Lederer MO (2001) Formation Pathways for Lysine-Arginine Cross-links Derived from Hexoses and Pentoses by Maillard Processes UNRAVELING THE STRUCTURE OF A PENTOSIDINE PRECURSOR. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 23405–23412
- Biemel KM, Friedl DA, Lederer MO (2002a) Identification and quantification of major Maillard cross-links in human serum albumin and lens protein evidence for glucosepane as the dominant compound. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 24907–24915
- Biemel KM, Conrad J, Lederer MO (2002b) Unexpected carbonyl mobility in aminoketoses: the key to major Maillard crosslinks. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 41, 801–804
- Bode AM, Yavarow CR, Fry DA, Vargas T (**1993**) Enzymatic basis for altered ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid levels in diabetes. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 191, 1347–1353
- Brands CMJ, van Boekel MAJS (2001) Reactions of monosaccharides during heating of sugar-casein systems: building of a reaction network model. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 49, 4667–4675
- Brinkmann E, Wells-Knecht KJ, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (1995) Characterization of an imidazolium compound formed by reaction of methylglyoxal and N α-hippuryllysine. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1*, 2817–2818
- Canestrari F, Galli F, Giorgini A, Albertini MC, Galiotta P, Pascucci M, Bossu M (1994) Erythrocyte redox state in uremic anemia: Effects of hemodialysis and relevance of glutathione metabolism. *Acta haematologica* 91, 187–193

- Chaplen FWR, Fahl WE, Cameron DC (**1996**) Detection of methylglyoxal as a degradation product of DNA and nucleic acid components treated with strong acid. *Analytical biochemistry* 236, 262–269
- Chellan P, Nagaraj RH (**1999**) Protein crosslinking by the Maillard reaction: dicarbonylderived imidazolium crosslinks in aging and diabetes. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* 368, 98–104
- Dasgupta A, Hussain S, Ahmad S (**1992**) Increased lipid peroxidation in patients on maintenance hemodialysis. *Nephron* 60, 56–59
- Davidek T, Devaud S, Robert F, Blank I (2005) The effect of reaction conditions on the origin and yields of acetic acid generated by the Maillard reaction. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1043, 73–79
- Davidek T, Robert F, Devaud S, Vera FA, Blank I (**2006**) Sugar fragmentation in the Maillard reaction cascade: Formation of short-chain carboxylic acids by a new oxidative α-dicarbonyl cleavage pathway. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 54, 6677–6684
- Davídek T, Devaud S, Robert F, Blank I (**2006**) Sugar fragmentation in the Maillard reaction cascade: isotope labeling studies on the formation of acetic acid by a hydrolytic β-dicarbonyl cleavage mechanism. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 54, 6667–6676
- Delgado-Andrade C (**2016**) Carboxymethyl-lysine: thirty years of investigation in the field of AGE formation. *Food & function* 7, 46–57
- Descamps-Latscha B, Drücke T, Witko-Sarsat V (2001) Dialysis-induced oxidative stress: biological aspects, clinical consequences, and therapy. *Seminars in dialysis* 14, 193–199
- Duarte NC, Becker SA, Jamshidi N, Thiele I, Mo ML, Vo TD, Srivas R, Palsson BØ (2007) Global reconstruction of the human metabolic network based on genomic and bibliomic data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104, 1777–1782

- Eupen MGA van, Schram MT, Colhoun HM, Scheijen JLJM, Stehouwer CDA, Schalkwijk CG (**2013**) Plasma levels of advanced glycation endproducts are associated with type 1 diabetes and coronary artery calcification. *Cardiovascular diabetology* 12, 149
- Frye EB, Degenhardt TP, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (1998) Role of the Maillard Reaction in Aging of Tissue Proteins: ADVANCED GLYCATION END PRODUCT-DEPENDENT INCREASE IN IMIDAZOLIUM CROSS-LINKS IN HUMAN LENS PROTEINS. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273, 18714–18719
- Fu M-X, Requena JR, Jenkins AJ, Lyons TJ, Baynes JW, Thorpe SR (1996) The advanced glycation end product, N-(carboxymethyl) lysine, is a product of both lipid peroxidation and glycoxidation reactions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271, 9982–9986
- Gaut JP, Byun J, Tran HD, Heinecke JW (**2002**) Artifact-free quantification of free 3chlorotyrosine, 3-bromotyrosine, and 3-nitrotyrosine in human plasma by electron capture–negative chemical ionization gas chromatography mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical biochemistry* 300, 252–259
- Ginz M, Balzer HH, Bradbury AGW, Maier HG (**2000**) Formation of aliphatic acids by carbohydrate degradation during roasting of coffee. *European Food Research and Technology* 211, 404–410
- Glomb MA, Monnier VM (**1995**) Mechanism of protein modification by glyoxal and glycolaldehyde, reactive intermediates of the Maillard reaction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270, 10017–10026
- Glomb MA, Pfahler C (2001) Amides are novel protein modifications formed by physiological sugars. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 41638–41647
- Glomb MA, Tschirnich R (2001) Detection of alpha-dicarbonyl compounds in Maillard reaction systems and in vivo. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 49, 5543–5550
- Glomb MA, Lang G (2001) Isolation and characterization of glyoxal-arginine modifications. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 49, 1493–1501

- Glomb MA, Gobert J, Voigt M (2010) Dicarbonyls from Maillard degradation of glucose and maltose. *Controlling Maillard Pathways To Generate Flavors*, 35–44, ACS Publications
- Gobert J, Glomb MA (**2009**) Degradation of Glucose: Reinvestigation of Reactive α-Dicarbonyl Compounds[†]. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 57, 8591–8597
- Gopal P, Reynaert NL, Scheijen, Jean L J M, Engelen L, Schalkwijk CG, Franssen, Frits M E, Wouters, Emiel F M, Rutten, Erica P A (2014) Plasma advanced glycation endproducts and skin autofluorescence are increased in COPD. *The European respiratory journal* 43, 430–438
- Haik GM, Lo TWC, Thornalley PJ (**1994**) Methylglyoxal concentration and glyoxalase activities in the human lens. *Experimental eye research* 59, 497–500
- Handelman GJ (2000) Evaluation of oxidant stress in dialysis patients. *Blood purification* 18, 343–349
- Hayami J (**1961**) Studies on the chemical decomposition of simple sugars. XII. Mechanism of the acetol formation. *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan* 34, 927–932
- Hayase F, Nagaraj RH, Miyata S, Njoroge FG, Monnier VM (**1989**) Aging of proteins: immunological detection of a glucose-derived pyrrole formed during maillard reaction in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 264, 3758–3764
- Hayashi T, Ohta Y, Namiki M (**1977**) Electron spin resonance spectral study on the structure of the novel free radical products formed by the reactions of sugars with amino acids or amines. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 25, 1282–1287
- Hayashi T, Shibamoto T (**1985**) Analysis of methyl glyoxal in foods and beverages. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 33, 1090–1093
- Hellwig M, Henle T (**2014**) Baking, ageing, diabetes: a short history of the Maillard reaction. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 53, 10316–10329

- Henle T, Walter H, Klostermeyer H (**1991**) Evaluation of the extent of the early Maillardreaction in milk products by direct measurement of the Amadori-product lactuloselysine. *Zeitschrift für Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und Forschung* 193, 119–122
- Henning C, Smuda M, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (2011) Molecular basis of maillard amide-advanced glycation end product (AGE) formation in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286, 44350–44356
- Henning C, Liehr K, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (**2014**) Extending the spectrum of αdicarbonyl compounds in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289, 28676–28688
- Henning C, Liehr K, Girndt M, Ulrich C, Glomb MA (2018) Analysis and Chemistry of Novel Protein Oxidation Markers in Vivo. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 66, 4692–4701
- Heyns K, Noack H (**1962**) Die Umsetzung von D-Fructose mit L-Lysin und L-Arginin und deren Beziehung zu nichtenzymatischen Bräunungsreaktionen. *Chemische Berichte* 95, 720–727
- Hirsch J, Petrakova E, Feather MS (**1992**) The reaction of some dicarbonyl sugars with aminoguanidine. *Carbohydrate research* 232, 125–130
- Hodge JE (**1953**) Dehydrated foods, chemistry of browning reactions in model systems. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 1, 928–943
- Hofmann T, Bors W, Stettmaier K (**1999**) Studies on radical intermediates in the early stage of the nonenzymatic browning reaction of carbohydrates and amino acids. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 47, 379–390
- Jiang T, Zhou X, Taghizadeh K, Dong M, Dedon PC (2007) N-formylation of lysine in histone proteins as a secondary modification arising from oxidative DNA damage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104, 60–65
- Kawakishi S, Tsunehiro J, Uchida K (**1991**) Autoxidative degradation of Amadori compounds in the presence of copper ion. *Carbohydrate research* 211, 167–171

- Kim M-O, Baltes W (**1996**) On the role of 2, 3-dihydro-3, 5-dihydroxy-6-methyl-4 (H)pyran-4-one in the Maillard reaction. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 44, 282–289
- Klöpfer A, Spanneberg R, Glomb MA (**2010**) Formation of arginine modifications in a model system of N α-tert-butoxycarbonyl (Boc)-arginine with methylglyoxal. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 59, 394–401
- Knecht KJ, Feather MS, Baynes JW (1992) Detection of 3-deoxyfructose and 3deoxyglucosone in human urine and plasma: evidence for intermediate stages of the Maillard reaction in vivo. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 294, 130–137
- Kouzarides T (**2000**) Acetylation: a regulatory modification to rival phosphorylation? *The EMBO journal* 19, 1176–1179
- Lapolla A, Reitano R, Seraglia R, Sartore G, Ragazzi E, Traldi P (**2005a**) Evaluation of advanced glycation end products and carbonyl compounds in patients with different conditions of oxidative stress. *Molecular nutrition & food research* 49, 685–690
- Lapolla A, Flamini R, Lupo A, Arico NC, Rugiu C, Reitano R, Tubaro M, Ragazzi E, Seraglia R, Traldi P (2005b) Evaluation of glyoxal and methylglyoxal levels in uremic patients under peritoneal dialysis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1043, 217–224
- Lederer MO, Bühler HP (**1999**) Cross-linking of proteins by Maillard processes characterization and detection of a lysine-arginine cross-link derived from D-glucose. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry* 7, 1081–1088
- Leeuwenburgh C, Hansen PA, Holloszy JO, Heinecke JW (1999) Oxidized amino acids in the urine of aging rats: potential markers for assessing oxidative stress in vivo. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 276, R128-R135
- Levine RL, Moskovitz J, Stadtman ER (2000) Oxidation of methionine in proteins: roles in antioxidant defense and cellular regulation. *IUBMB life* 50, 301–307

- Lieuw-A-Fa MLM, van Hinsbergh VWM, Teerlink T, Barto R, Twisk J, Stehouwer CDA, Schalkwijk CG (**2004**) Increased levels of N -(carboxymethyl)lysine and N -(carboxyethyl)lysine in type 1 diabetic patients with impaired renal function: correlation with markers of endothelial dysfunction. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 19, 631– 636
- Lopez-Anaya A, Mayersohn M (**1987**) Ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids simultaneously quantified in biological fluids by liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, and comparison with a colorimetric assay. *Clinical chemistry* 33, 1874–1878
- Maillard LC (**1912**) Action des acidesamines sur les sucres: formation des melanoidines par voie methodique. *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des Sciences (Paris)* 154, 66–68
- Martins SI, Marcelis ATM, van Boekel, Martinus AJS (2003) Kinetic modelling of Amadori N-(1-deoxy-D-fructos-1-yl)-glycine degradation pathways. Part I—Reaction mechanism. *Carbohydrate research* 338, 1651–1663
- Massari J, Tokikawa R, Zanolli L, Tavares MFM, Assunção NA, Bechara EJH (2010) Acetyl Radical Production by the Methylglyoxal– Peroxynitrite System: A Possible Route for l-Lysine Acetylation. *Chemical research in toxicology* 23, 1762–1770
- McLellan AC, Phillips SA, Thornalley PJ (**1992**) The assay of methylglyoxal in biological systems by derivatization with 1,2-diamino-4,5-dimethoxybenzene. *Analytical biochemistry* 206, 17–23
- Miller R, Olsson K (**1985**) Synthesis of (+-)-2-Formyl-5-(hydroximethyl) pyrrol-1norleucine. A biologically active Maillard reaction product derived from glucose and lysine. *Acta chemica Scandinavica. Series B. Organic chemistry and biochemistry* 39, 717–723
- Mills FD, Weisleder D, Hodge JE (**1970**) 2, 3-Dihydro-3, 5-dihydroxy-6-methyl-4Hpyran-4-one, a novel nonenzymatic browning product. *Tetrahedron Letters* 11, 1243– 1246

- Mirza MA, Kandhro AJ, Memon SQ, Khuhawar MY, Arain R (**2007**) Determination of glyoxal and methylglyoxal in the serum of diabetic patients by MEKC using stilbenediamine as derivatizing reagent. *Electrophoresis* 28, 3940–3947
- Mittelmaier S, Fünfrocken M, Fenn D, Fichert T, Pischetsrieder M (**2010**) Identification and quantification of the glucose degradation product glucosone in peritoneal dialysis fluids by HPLC/DAD/MSMS. *Journal of Chromatography B* 878, 877–882
- Miyata S, Monnier V (**1992**) Immunohistochemical detection of advanced glycosylation end products in diabetic tissues using monoclonal antibody to pyrraline. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 89, 1102–1112
- Miyata T, Wada Y, Cai Z, Iida Y, Horie K, Yasuda Y, Maeda K, Kurokawa K, De Strihou, Charles Van Ypersele (**1997a**) Implication of an increased oxidative stress in the formation of advanced glycation end products in patients with end-stage renal failure. *Kidney international* 51, 1170–1181
- Miyata T, Maeda K, Kurokawa K, De Strihou, C Van Ypersele (**1997b**) Oxidation conspires with glycation to generate noxious advanced glycation end products in renal failure. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 12, 255–258
- Miyata T, Fu M-X, Kurokawa K, De Strihou, Charles Van Ypersele, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (1998) Autoxidation products of both carbohydrates and lipids are increased in uremic plasma: is there oxidative stress in uremia? *Kidney international* 54, 1290–1295
- Miyazawa T, Nakagawa K, Shimasaki S, Nagai R (**2012**) Lipid glycation and protein glycation in diabetes and atherosclerosis. *Amino acids* 42, 1163–1170
- Monnier VM, Sell DR, Strauch C, Sun W, Lachin JM, Cleary PA, Genuth S, DCCT Research Group (**2013**) The association between skin collagen glucosepane and past progression of microvascular and neuropathic complications in type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications* 27, 141–149
- Morita N, Inoue K, Takagi M (**1985**) Quinoxalines Derived from Disaccharides with O-Phenylenediamine under Weakly Acidic Reflux Conditions. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 49, 3279–3289

- Nagaraj RH, Sell DR, Prabhakaram M, Ortwerth BJ, Monnier VM (1991) High correlation between pentosidine protein crosslinks and pigmentation implicates ascorbate oxidation in human lens senescence and cataractogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 88, 10257–10261
- Nagaraj RH, Monnier VM (**1992**) Isolation and characterization of a blue fluorophore from human eye lens crystallins: in vitro formation from Maillard reaction with ascorbate and ribose. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects* 1116, 34–42
- Nagaraj RH, Shipanova IN, Faust FM (**1996**) Protein cross-linking by the Maillard reaction isolation, characterization, and in vivo detection of a lysine-lysine cross-link derived from methylglyoxal. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271, 19338–19345
- Nagaraj RH, Sady C (**1996**) The presence of a glucose-derived Maillard reaction product in the human lens. *FEBS letters* 382, 234–238
- Nakamura K, Nakazawa Y, Ienaga K (**1997**) Acid-stable fluorescent advanced glycation end products: vesperlysines A, B, and C are formed as crosslinked products in the Maillard reaction between lysine or proteins with glucose. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 232, 227–230
- Nakayama K, Nakayama M, Iwabuchi M, Terawaki H, Sato T, Kohno M, Ito S (**2008**) Plasma α-oxoaldehyde levels in diabetic and nondiabetic chronic kidney disease patients. *American journal of nephrology* 28, 871–878
- Nakayama T, Hayase F, Kato H (**1980**) Formation of ε-(2-Formyl-5-hydroxy-methylpyrrol-1-yl)-l-norleucine in the Maillard Reaction between d-Glucose and l-Lysine. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 44, 1201–1202
- Nemet I, Monnier VM (**2011**) Vitamin C degradation products and pathways in the human lens. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286, 37128–37136
- Niwa T (1999) 3-Deoxyglucosone: metabolism, analysis, biological activity, and clinical implication. *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications* 731, 23–36

- Njoroge FG, Sayre LM, Monnier VM (**1987**) Detection of D-glucose-derived pyrrole compounds during Maillard reaction under physiological conditions. *Carbohydrate research* 167, 211–220
- Odani H, Shinzato T, Matsumoto Y, Usami J, Maeda K (**1999a**) Increase in three alpha, beta-dicarbonyl compound levels in human uremic plasma: specific in vivo determination of intermediates in advanced Maillard reaction. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 256, 89–93
- Odani H, Matsumoto Y, Shinzato T, Usami J, Maeda K (**1999b**) Mass spectrometric study on the protein chemical modification of uremic patients in advanced Maillard reaction. *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications* 731, 131–140
- Odani H, Iijima K, Nakata M, Miyata S, Kusunoki H, Yasuda Y, Hiki Y, Irie S, Maeda K, Fujimoto D (**2001**) Identification of N(omega)-carboxymethylarginine, a new advanced glycation endproduct in serum proteins of diabetic patients: possibility of a new marker of aging and diabetes. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 285, 1232–1236
- Odetti P, Girabaldi S, Gurreri G, Aragno I, Dapino D, Pronzato MA, Marinari UM (**1996**) Protein oxidation in hemodialysis and kidney transplantation. *Metabolism* 45, 1319– 1322
- Oya T, Hattori N, Mizuno Y, Miyata S, Maeda S, Osawa T, Uchida K (**1999**) Methylglyoxal Modification of Protein: CHEMICAL AND IMMUNOCHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF METHYLGLYOXAL-ARGININE ADDUCTS. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry 274, 18492–18502
- Portero-Otín M, Nagaraj RH, Monnier VM (1995) Chromatographic evidence for pyrraline formation during protein glycation in vitro and in vivo. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology 1247, 74–80
- Portero-Otín M, Pamplona R, Bellmunt MJ, Bergua M, Nagaraj RH, Prat J (**1996**) Urinary pyrraline as a biochemical marker of non-oxidative maillard reactions in vivo. *Life Sciences* 60, 279–287

- Rabbani N, Thornalley PJ (**2012**) Methylglyoxal, glyoxalase 1 and the dicarbonyl proteome. *Amino acids* 42, 1133–1142
- Reihl O, Rothenbacher TM, Lederer MO, Schwack W (2004a) Carbohydrate carbonyl mobility—the key process in the formation of α-dicarbonyl intermediates. *Carbohydrate research* 339, 1609–1618
- Reihl O, Lederer MO, Schwack W (2004b) Characterization and detection of lysine– arginine cross-links derived from dehydroascorbic acid. *Carbohydrate research* 339, 483–491
- Revel G de, Bertrand A (**1993**) A method for the detection of carbonyl compounds in wine: Glyoxal and methylglyoxal. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 61, 267–272
- Roselaar SE, Nazhat NB, Winyard PG, Jones P, Cunningham J, Blake DR (**1995**) Detection of oxidants in uremic plasma by electron spin resonance spectroscopy. *Kidney international* 48, 199–206
- Rossner J, Velisek J, Pudil F, Davidek J (**2001**) Strecker degradation products of aspartic and glutamic acids and their amides. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences* 19, 41–45
- Sanaka T, Funaki T, Tanaka T, Hoshi S, Niwayama J, Taitoh T, Nishimura H, Higuchi C (2002) Plasma pentosidine levels measured by a newly developed method using ELISA in patients with chronic renal failure. *Nephron* 91, 64–73
- Sell, Monnier VM (1989a) Structure elucidation of a senescence cross-link from human extracellular matrix. Implication of pentoses in the aging process. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 264, 21597–21602
- Sell DR, Monnier VM (**1989b**) Isolation, purification and partial characterization of novel fluorophores from aging human insoluble collagen-rich tissue. *Connective tissue research* 19, 77–92
- Sell DR, Monnier VM (**1990**) End-stage renal disease and diabetes catalyze the formation of a pentose-derived crosslink from aging human collagen. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 85, 380

- Sell DR, Nagaraj RH, Grandhee SK, Odetti P, Lapolla A, Fogarty J, Monnier VM (**1991**) Pentosidine: A molecular marker for the cumulative damage to proteins in diabetes, aging, and uremia. *Diabetes / Metabolism Reviews* 7, 239–251
- Sell DR, Lapolla A, Odetti P, Fogarty J, Monnier VM (1992) Pentosidine formation in skin correlates with severity of complications in individuals with long-standing IDDM. *Diabetes* 41, 1286–1292
- Sell DR, Biemel KM, Reihl O, Lederer MO, Strauch CM, Monnier VM (2005) Glucosepane is a major protein cross-link of the senescent human extracellular matrix relationship with diabetes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 12310–12315
- Severin T, Hiebl J, Popp-Ginsbach H (1984) Investigations relating to the maillard reaction XX. Identification of glyceraldehyd dihydroxyacetone and other hydrophilic sugar degradation products in caramel mixtures. Zeitschrift für Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und Forschung 178, 284–287
- Shin DB, Feather MS (**1990**) The Degradation of L-Ascorbic Acid in Neutral Solutions Containing Oxygen. *Journal of Carbohydrate Chemistry* 9, 461–469
- Shipanova IN, Glomb MA, Nagaraj RH (**1997**) Protein modification by methylglyoxal: chemical nature and synthetic mechanism of a major fluorescent adduct. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* 344, 29–36
- Sies H (1997) Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. *Experimental physiology* 82, 291–295
- Singh R, Barden A, Mori T, Beilin L (2001) Advanced glycation end-products: a review. *Diabetologia* 44, 129–146
- Skovsted IC, Christensen M, Breinholt J, Mortensen SB (1998) Characterisation of a novel AGE-compound derived from lysine and 3-deoxyglucosone. *Cellular and molecular biology (Noisy-le-Grand, France)* 44, 1159–1163
- Smith MA, Taneda S, Richey PL, Miyata S, Yan SD, Stern D, Sayre LM, Monnier VM, Perry G (**1994**) Advanced Maillard reaction end products are associated with Alzheimer

disease pathology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 91, 5710–5714

- Smuda M, Voigt M, Glomb MA (**2010**) Degradation of 1-deoxy-D-erythro-hexo-2, 3diulose in the presence of lysine leads to formation of carboxylic acid amides. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 58, 6458–6464
- Smuda M, Glomb MA (**2011**) Novel insights into the Maillard catalyzed degradation of maltose. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 59, 13254–13264
- Smuda M, Glomb MA (2012) Maillard Degradation of Vitamin C: β-Dicarbonyl Cleavage Leads to Novel Amide-AGEs. 11th International Symposium on the Maillard Reaction Poster Presentation S1.12
- Smuda M, Glomb MA (**2013a**) Fragmentation pathways during Maillard-induced carbohydrate degradation. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 61, 10198–10208
- Smuda M, Glomb MA (**2013b**) Maillard degradation pathways of vitamin C. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 52, 4887–4891
- Smuda M, Henning C, Raghavan CT, Johar K, Vasavada AR, Nagaraj RH, Glomb MA (2015) Comprehensive analysis of maillard protein modifications in human lenses: effect of age and cataract. *Biochemistry* 54, 2500–2507
- Swaim MW, Pizzo SV (**1988**) Methionine sulfoxide and the oxidative regulation of plasma proteinase inhibitors. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 43, 365–379
- Takagi M, Morita N (**1987**) Active oxygens and the peroxidation of linoleic acid catalysed by degraded species of ascorbic acid. *Bioelectrochemistry and Bioenergetics* 18, 171– 178
- Tamura S, Tsukahara H, Ueno M, Maeda M, Kawakami H, Sekine K, Mayumi M (2006) Evaluation of a urinary multi-parameter biomarker set for oxidative stress in children, adolescents and young adults. *Free radical research* 40, 1198–1205
- Tessier F, Obrenovich M, Monnier VM (**1999**) Structure and mechanism of formation of human lens fluorophore LM-1 relationship to vesperlysine A and the advanced Maillard

reaction in aging, diabetes, and cataractogenesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 20796–20804

- Thornalley PJ (**1998**) Glutathione-dependent detoxification of α-oxoaldehydes by the glyoxalase system: involvement in disease mechanisms and antiproliferative activity of glyoxalase I inhibitors. *Chemico-biological interactions* 111, 137–151
- Thornalley PJ, Langborg A, Minhas HS (**1999**) Formation of glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-deoxyglucosone in the glycation of proteins by glucose. *Biochemical Journal* 344, 109–116
- Thornalley PJ, Battah S, Ahmed N, Karachalias N, Agalou S, Babaei-Jadidi R, Dawnay A (2003) Quantitative screening of advanced glycation endproducts in cellular and extracellular proteins by tandem mass spectrometry. *Biochemical Journal* 375, 581–592
- Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (2002) CML: a brief history. *International Congress Series* 1245, 91–99
- Tressl R, Rewicki D (1999) Heat Generated Flavors and Precursors. In Teranishi, R., Wick, E. L., Hornstein, I., Eds. *Flavor Chemistry: Thirty Years of Progress*, 305–325, Boston, MA, Springer US
- Tsukushi S, Katsuzaki T, Aoyama I, Takayama F, Miyazaki T, Shimokata K, Niwa T (**1999**) Increased erythrocyte 3-DG and AGEs in diabetic hemodialysis patients: role of the polyol pathway. *Kidney international* 55, 1970–1976
- Vistoli G, Maddis D de, Cipak A, Zarkovic N, Carini M, Aldini G (**2013**) Advanced glycoxidation and lipoxidation end products (AGEs and ALEs): an overview of their mechanisms of formation. *Free radical research* 47, 3–27
- Voigt M, Glomb MA (2009) Reactivity of 1-Deoxy-D-erythro-hexo-2, 3-diulose: A Key Intermediate in the Maillard Chemistry of Hexoses. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 57, 4765–4770
- Voigt M, Smuda M, Pfahler C, Glomb MA (2010) Oxygen-dependent fragmentation reactions during the degradation of 1-deoxy-d-erythro-hexo-2, 3-diulose. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 58, 5685–5691

- Weenen H (**1998**) Reactive intermediates and carbohydrate fragmentation in Maillard chemistry. *Food Chemistry* 62, 393–401
- Wells-Knecht KJ, Brinkmann E, Baynes JW (1995a) Characterization of an imidazolium salt formed from glyoxal and N. alpha.-hippuryllysine: A model for maillard reaction crosslinks in proteins. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* 60, 6246–6247
- Wells-Knecht KJ, Zyzak DV, Litchfield JE, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (**1995b**) Mechanism of autoxidative glycosylation: identification of glyoxal and arabinose as intermediates in the autoxidative modification of proteins by glucose. *Biochemistry* 34, 3702–3709
- Winkler B (1992) Unequivocal evidence in support of the nonenzymatic redox coupling between glutathione/glutathione disulfide and ascorbic acid/dehydroascorbic acid. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects* 1117, 287–290
- Witko-Sarsat V, Friedlander M, Capeillère-Blandin C, Nguyen-Khoa T, Nguyen AT, Zingraff J, Jungers P, Descamps-Latscha B (1996) Advanced oxidation protein products as a novel marker of oxidative stress in uremia. *Kidney international* 49, 1304–1313
- Yang X (2004) Lysine acetylation and the bromodomain: a new partnership for signaling. *Bioessays* 26, 1076–1087
- Yaylayan VA, Keyhani A (2000) Origin of carbohydrate degradation products in Lalanine/D-[13C] glucose model systems. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 48, 2415–2419
- Yoshihara K, Nakamura K, Kanai M, Nagayaman Y, Takahashit S, Saito N, Nagata M (1998) Determination of urinary and serum pentosidine and its application to elder patients. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 21, 1005–1008
- Yu Y, Thorpe SR, Jenkins AJ, Shaw JN, Sochaski MA, McGee D, Aston CE, Orchard TJ, Silvers N, Peng YG, McKnight JA, Baynes JW, Lyons TJ (2006) Advanced glycation end-products and methionine sulphoxide in skin collagen of patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 49, 2488–2498

8 List of figures

- **FIGURE 1.** Initial state stages of amine induced glucose degradation retaining the intact C_6 -carbon backbone.
- **FIGURE 2.** The modern view of Maillard reaction with α-dicarbonyl compounds as central intermediates (G3P, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate; DHAP, dihydroxyacetone phosphate).
- **FIGURE 3.** Cyclization of Lederer's glucosone ($R = -CH_2OH$) and Lederer's pentosone (R = -H) lead to bivalent lysine-arginine crosslinks glucosepane and pentosidine, respectively.
- **FIGURE 4.** Reaction pathway for the formation of pyrraline.
- **FIGURE 5.** The N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine (CML) reaction cascade explains the formation of glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA), glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) and glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) via isomerization of the hydrated glyoxal-imine.
- FIGURE 6. Formation pathways of methylglyoxal-arginine modifications.
- **FIGURE 7.** Fragmentation pathways of α -dicarbonyl compounds. The relevant mechanisms *in vivo* are set in bold fonds.
- **FIGURE 8.** Oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage reaction of 2,3-diketogulonic acid which is the product of ascorbic acid oxidation and hydrolytic ring opening. Hydrolytic attack leads to oxalic acid and threonic acid (R = -OH) whereas lysine induced fragmentation (R = -NH-lys) yields the amide structure and the corresponding acid.
- **FIGURE 9.** Hydrolytic β-dicarbonyl cleavage reaction of 1-deoxyglucosone.
- FIGURE 10. Hydration (R = -OH) or amination (R = -NH-lys) and subsequent decarboxylation of 2,3-diketogulonic acid leads to the respective C₅-enediol or enaminol.

- **FIGURE 11.** Hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl cleavage leads to an enediol structure and a carboxylic acid as the counterpart. The analogous amine induced β -dicarbonyl cleavage yields the amide structure as the counterpart of the enediol.
- **FIGURE 12.** Formation pathways of α-DCs from glucose and ascorbic acid. (HENNING et al. 2014)
- FIGURE 13. N^6 -acetyl lysine (A), N^6 -formyl lysine (B), N^6 -lactoyl lysine (C) and
 N^6 -glycerinyl lysine (D) levels of plasma from healthy subjects
(controls) and non-diabetic hemodialysis patients (HD patients). Data
are expressed as mean \pm sd. * P < 0.001 vs. control (A, C, D), P < 0.01
vs. control (B). (HENNING et al. 2011)
- FIGURE 14. Formation of AGE-amides in incubation mixtures of 200 mm glucose with 42 mm N¹-t-BOC-lysine in phosphate buffer 0.1 m, pH 7.4, at 37 °C under aerated (closed symbols) and deaerated conditions (open symbols): N⁶-acetyl lysine (▲), N⁶-formyl lysine (◆), N⁶-lactoyl lysine (●) and N⁶-glycerinyl lysine (■). (HENNING et al. 2011)
- **FIGURE 15.** Non-enzymatic degradation pathway of glucose leading to amide-AGEs. (HENNING et al. 2011)
- **FIGURE 16.** Reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal to form N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1-*d*-ethyl)lysine and N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-*d*-ethyl)lysine, respectively. (HENNING et al. 2018)
- **FIGURE 17.** Plasma levels of total N^6 -(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine and percentage of N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-d-ethyl)lysine of total from controls and HD patients. (HENNING et al. 2018)
- **FIGURE 18.** Time dependent formation of total N^6 -(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine (dashed lines) and N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-*d*-ethyl)lysine relative to total content of N^6 -(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine (solid lines) in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -*t*-BOC-lysine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\blacktriangle) and 40 mM glyoxal (\bigcirc) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions.

- **FIGURE 19.** (A) Time-dependent formation of imidazolinone in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -*t*-BOC-arginine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\blacktriangle) and 40 mM glyoxal (\odot) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions. (B) Time-dependent formation of N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -*t*-BOC-lysine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\bigstar) and 40 mM glyoxal (\odot) under aerated (full symbols) conditions. (HENNING et al. 2018)
- **FIGURE 20.** Reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal leading to *N*-ethyl glycine or N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine, respectively, depending on the amine-compound used (ethyl amine or lysine). (HENNING et al. 2018)

9 List of tables

- **TABLE 1.**Levels of all relevant α -dicarbonyl compounds in human blood plasma
(mean \pm SD of 15 healthy subjects and 24 patients undergoing
hemodialysis (HD patients), replicate analyses n = 3, the Student's
t-test was used for statistical evaluation of significant differences
between both groups). (HENNING et al. 2014)
- **TABLE 2.**Advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) relevant *in vivo*.

10 Appendix

10.1 Publication A: Journal of Biological Chemistry (2011), vol. 286, 44350-44356

THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY VOL. 286, NO. 52, pp. 44350–44356, December 30, 2011 © 2011 by The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc. Printed in the U.S.A.

Molecular Basis of Maillard Amide-Advanced Glycation End Product (AGE) Formation *in Vivo*

Received for publication, July 14, 2011, and in revised form, October 26, 2011 Published, JBC Papers in Press, November 8, 2011, DOI 10.1074/jbc.M111.282442

Christian Henning[‡], Mareen Smuda[‡], Matthias Girndt[§], Christof Ulrich[§], and Marcus A. Glomb^{‡1} From [‡]Food Chemistry, Institute of Chemistry, and [§]Department of Internal Medicine II, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, 06120 Halle/Saale, Germany

Background: Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) play a prominent role in various pathophysiologies. **Results:** A new class of lysine amide modifications was established *in vivo*.

Conclusion: Non-enzymatic Maillard mechanisms participate on amide-AGE formation pathways in vivo.

Significance: Plasma levels of the amide-AGEs were in the same range similar to other established lysine modifications and suggest a comparable impact of non-enzymatic biochemistry on pathophysiologies in the human organism.

The Maillard reaction in vivo entails alteration of proteins or free amino acids by non-enzymatic glycation or glycoxidation. The resulting modifications are called advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and play a prominent role in various pathologies, including normoglycemic uremia. Recently, we established a new class of lysine amide modifications in vitro. Now, human plasma levels of the novel amide-AGEs N6-acetyl lysine, N⁶-formyl lysine, N⁶-lactoyl lysine, and N⁶-glycerinyl lysine were determined by means of LC-MS/MS. They were significantly higher in uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis than in healthy subjects. Model reactions with N^1 -t-butoxycarbonyllysine under physiological conditions confirmed 1-deoxy-Derythro-hexo-2,3-diulose as an immediate precursor. Because formation of N⁶-formyl lysine from glucose responded considerably to the presence of oxygen, glucosone was identified as another precursor. Comparison of the in vivo results with the model experiments enabled us to elucidate possible formation pathways linked to Maillard chemistry. The results strongly suggest a major participation of non-enzymatic Maillard mechanisms on amide-AGE formation pathways in vivo, which, in the case of N⁶-acetyl lysine, parallels enzymatic processes.

The Maillard reaction (non-enzymatic reactions of reducing sugars with amines) *in vivo* is associated with long term complications of diabetes, uremia, atherosclerosis, and Alzheimer disease as well as with pathophysiologies linked to aging in general. The stable products of this reaction are referred to as advanced glycation end products (AGEs).² Numerous studies have documented the accumulation of AGEs in tissue proteins but also in the circulation of patients with renal failure, irre-

44350 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

spective of the presence of diabetes (1–3). In general, AGEs can accumulate as protein modifications or as AGE-free adducts (4). These free adducts are formed by cellular proteolysis of glycated proteins, direct glycation of amino acids, and digestion of glycated proteins in food. They have high renal clearance and are the major form in which AGEs are excreted from the body in urine and in dialysate in renal replacement therapy (5).

We reported on two groups of Maillard amide-AGEs. A first set N^6 -{2-[(5-amino-5-carboxypentyl)amino]-2-oxoethyl}lysine and N^6 -glycoloyl lysine have been established for the reaction of glyoxal with lysine via rearrangement reactions in vitro and in vivo. The formation pathways are directly linked to N⁶-carboxymethyl lysine (CML) via glyoxalimine structures (6). More recently, we identified a second class of lysine amide modifications N^6 -acetyl lysine, N^6 -formyl lysine, N^6 -lactoyl lysine, and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine *in vitro* based on β -dicarbonyl fragmentation of native and oxidized reductone structures. Incubation experiments confirmed the α -dicarbonyl compound 1-deoxy-D-erythro-hexo-2,3-diulose (1-deoxyglucosone, 1-DG) as a direct precursor (7). The essential role of α -dicarbonvls as central intermediates of high reactivity in the complex Maillard chemistry in vitro and in vivo has been manifested over the years. The α -dicarbonyl compounds glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-deoxy-D-erythro-hexos-2-ulose (3-deoxyglucosone, 3-DG) were already detected in human plasma (8-11). Even at the low concentrations found in physiological systems, α -dicarbonyls retain potent glycating activity (12).

Acylation of amino acids *in vivo* within the polypeptide chain was first detected in cell nuclei as a rapid and reversible incorporation of radioactive labeled acetate into histones H3 and H4 (13). This posttranslational acetylation neutralizes the positive charge of the amino acid, changing protein function in diverse ways (14, 15). The modification of core histone tails by histone acetyltransferases or histone deacetylases plays a key role in the regulation of gene expression (16, 17). Despite great biochemical and clinical interest in lysine acetylation, the knowledge of *in vivo* acetylation sites is limited and subject to current research (18). Piraud *et al.* (19) presented an ion-pair liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization mass spectrometric analysis for N^6 -acetyl lysine in human plasma and urine. Tsutsui *et al.* (20) detected N^6 -acetyl lysine in the plasma of ddY

VOLUME 286 • NUMBER 52 • DECEMBER 30, 2011

¹ To whom correspondence should be addressed: Kurt-Mothes-Strasse 2, D-06120 Halle/Saale, Germany. Fax: 49-345-55-27341; E-mail: marcus.glomb@ chemie.uni-halle.de.

² The abbreviations used are: AGE, advanced glycation end product; CML, N⁶-carboxymethyl lysine; 1-DG, 1-deoxy-d-erythro-hexo-2,3-diulose (1-deoxyglucosone); 3-DG, 3-deoxy-d-erythro-hexos-2-ulose (3-deoxyglucosone); HD patients, patients undergoing hemodialysis; Amadori product, 1-deoxy-1-(N⁶-lysino)-D-fructose; glucosone, D-arabino-hexos-2-ulose; CEL, N⁶-carboxyethyl lysine; Boc, butoxycarbonyl; DP, declustering potential; CE, collision energy; CXP, collision cell exit potential; LOD, limit of detection; LOQ, limit of quantification.

Amide-AGEs in Vivo

TABLE 1 Mass spectrometric parameters for amide-AGE, CML, and CEL quantification

	Retention time	Precursor ion		Product ion 1"		Product ion 2 ^b		Product ion 3 ^b		3^b		
		m/z	DP	m/z	CE	CXP	m/z	CE	CXP	m/z	CE	CXP
	min	ати	V	amu	eV	V	amu	eV	V	ати	eV	V
N ⁶ -acetyl lysine	11.7	189.2	30.0	126.1	18.0	10.0	84.2	31.0	5.0	143.1	14.0	10.0
N ⁶ -formyl lysine	8.2	175.1	25.0	112.1	20.0	13.0	84.1	35.0	7.0	129.1	15.0	13.0
N ⁶ -lactoyl lysine	12.1	219.2	32.0	156.2	20.0	8.0	84.1	35.0	9.0	173.1	17.0	8.0
N ⁶ -glycerinyl lysine	6.7	235.3	48.0	84.2	37.0	6.0	172.3	23.0	30.0	189.3	17.0	15.0
CML	6.9	205.1	50.0	130.1	17.0	9.5	84.1	46.0	13.0			
CEL	11.5	219.1	54.0	130.1	18.0	11.0	84.1	33.0	7.00	173.0	18.0	15.0

TABLE 2

^a MRM transition used for quantification (quantifier) ^b MRM transition used for confirmation (qualifier).

strain mice, which naturally develop diabetes with age. The lysine adduct was discussed as one of several potential biomarker candidates related to diabetes mellitus.

 N^6 -formyl lysine is formed *in vitro* by reaction of albumin with trichloroethylene oxide, a major metabolite of 1,1,2-trichloroethylene, one of the most common compounds found in chemical waste dumps (21). In addition, it could be identified in incubation mixtures of various sugars, l-ascorbic acid or l-dehydroascorbic acid with poly-l-lysine and β -lactoglobulin, respectively (22). Jiang *et al.* (23) observed transfer of formyl groups from 3'-formylphosphate-ended DNA, arising from oxidation of the 5'-position of deoxyribose and subsequent DNA strand breakage by the enediyne antibiotic neocarzinostatin, to histone proteins in human TK6 cells to give N^6 -formyl lysine.

The aim of the present work was to elucidate formation and relevance of the four amide-AGEs N^6 -acetyl lysine, N^6 -formyl lysine, N^6 -lactoyl lysine, and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine (structures are shown in Fig. 5) *in vivo* with regard to non-enzymatic mechanisms within the Maillard reaction. Therefore, the free adducts were analyzed in human blood plasma by means of an LC-MS/MS technique. In model experiments, formation from glucose, the physiological most important sugar, and from various α -dicarbonyl structures as direct precursors was confirmed. Comparison of *in vivo* with *in vitro* results allowed us to assess the impact of Maillard chemistry on amide-AGE formation *in vivo*.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Plasma Samples-Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg. Blood samples were obtained from 11 healthy subjects (controls) with normal renal function and 18 non-diabetic patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD patients) using disodium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid as an anticoagulant. In dialysis patients, samples were obtained predialysis before the mid-week treatment session. Blood samples were centrifuged (2500 × g, 10 min, 4 °C) within 30 min of collection, and the plasma was frozen immediately at -80 °C. Hemodialysis was performed three times weekly for 4-5 h using polysulfone dialyzers and dialysate containing bicarbonate buffer. HbA1c, creatinine, and C-reactive protein were measured by routine methods at the central laboratory of Martin Luther University Clinical Center (Halle/Saale).

Materials—Chemicals of the highest grade available were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and Thermo Fisher Scientific

DECEMBER 30, 2011 • VOLUME 286 • NUMBER 52

VASBMB

CV, LOD, and LOQ (all steps of the analysis included) of plasma samples

		CV				
	Controls ^a	HD patients ^b	LOD	LOQ		
		%	pmol/ml			
N ⁶ -acetyl lysine	1 - 10	6 - 14	2.1	6.2		
N ⁶ -formyl lysine	1 - 7	8-24	4.1	12.3		
N ⁶ -lactoyl lysine	1 - 13	6-16	1.7	5.1		
N ⁶ -glycerinyl lysine	1 - 20	10 - 18	1.3	4.0		
CML	1 - 13	8-26	5.6	16.9		
CEL	1-12	7-20	5.0	14.9		

^{*a*} 11 subjects, replicate analyses (n = 2)^{*b*} 18 subjects, replicate analyses (n = 6).

18 subjects, replicate analyses (n - 6).

unless otherwise indicated. 1-deoxy-1-(N^6 -lysino)-D-fructose (Amadori product) (24), 3-DG (25), D-*arabino*-hexos-2-ulose (glucosone) (26), 1-DG and 2-ethyl-3-methylquinoxaline (27), CML (28), N^6 -carboxyethyl lysine (CEL) (29), and N^6 -lactoyl lysine and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine (7) were synthesized according to the literature. The identities of target compounds was verified by nuclear magnetic resonance experiments. Furthermore, the elemental composition was confirmed by accurate mass determination.

Model Reactions—In general, incubations were conducted in 0.1 $\,$ M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, after sterile filtration in a shaker incubator (New Brunswick Scientific, Nürtingen, Germany) at 37 °C. The reactant concentrations are mentioned in the legends to the corresponding figures and tables. Deaeration and inhibition of metal-catalyzed oxidation chemistry was achieved by using phosphate buffer containing 1 mM diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid and gassing with argon. Buffer was degassed with helium and stored under argon prior to sample preparation. At various time points aliquots of the reaction mixtures were diluted with 6 $\,$ M HCl to a final HCl concentration of 3 $\,$ M. For quantitative removal of the Boc protection group, the samples were kept at room temperature for 30 min. After dilution to appropriate concentrations, the solutions were subjected LC-MS/MS analysis.

Assay of Amide-AGEs, CML, and CEL in Plasma—200 μ l of plasma was transferred into a centrifugal filter containing a modified polyethersulfone membrane with 3 kDa molecular weight cut-off (VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany). Centrifugation was carried out at 14,000 \times g and 4 °C. The filtrate was diluted on a scale of 1:20 with 0.1% HCl and administered to LC-MS/MS analysis.

Assay of Methylglyoxal in Plasma—Methylglyoxal in plasma samples was analyzed according to a modified method by McLellan *et al.* (8). Briefly, 500 μ l of plasma were incubated

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 44351

Amide-AGEs in Vivo

with *o*-phenylenediamine at room temperature in the dark for 24 h under acidic conditions. 2-Ethyl-3-methylquinoxaline was used as internal standard. The filtered supernatant was subjected to LC-MS/MS analysis.

High Performance LC-MS/MS—The HPLC apparatus (Jasco, Gross-Umstadt, Germany) consisted of a pump (PU-2080 Plus) with degasser (LG-2080-02) and quaternary gradient mixer (LG-2080-04), a column oven (Jasco Jetstream II), and an autosampler (AS-2057 Plus). Mass spectrometric detection was conducted on an API 4000 QTrap LC-MS/MS system (Applied Biosystems/MDS Sciex, Concord, ON, Canada) equipped with a turbo ionspray source using electrospray ionization in positive mode: sprayer capillary voltage, 4.0 kV; nebulizing gas flow, 50 ml/min, heating gas, 60 ml/min at 550 °C; and curtain gas, 40 ml/min.

For the detection of the amide-AGEs, CML and CEL, chromatographic separations were performed on a stainless steel column packed with RP-18 material (Vydac CRT, no. 218TP54, 250 × 4.0 mm, RP-18, 5 μ m, Hesperia, CA) using a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The mobile phase used was water (solvent A) and methanol/water (7:3 (v/v), solvent B). To both solvents (A and B), 1.2 ml/liter heptafluorobutyric acid was added. Analysis was performed at 35 °C column temperature using isocratic elution at 98% A/2% B. For mass spectrometric detection, the multiple reaction monitoring mode was used, utilizing collision-induced dissociation of the protonated molecules with compound specific orifice potentials and fragment-specific collision energies (Table 1).

Quantification was performed using the standard addition method. More precisely, increasing concentrations of authentic reference compounds at factors of 0.5, 1, 2, and $3 \times$ the concentration of the analyte in the sample were added to separate aliquots of the sample after workup procedure. The aliquots were analyzed, and a regression of response *versus* concentration was used to determine the concentration of the analyte in the sample. Spikes were run one in approximately every 30 samples. Calibration with this method resolves potential matrix interferences.

To obtain fragmentation spectra of amide-AGEs in plasma workup solutions, target material was first enriched by repeated collection from the above HPLC system. After solvent evaporation in a vacuum concentrator (Savant SpeedVac Plus SC 110 A combined with a Vapor Trap RVT 400, Thermo Fisher Scientific GmbH), the residue was dissolved in water and reinjected, using a collision-induced dissociation experiment. The fragmentation spectra of the authentic references were obtained with the same parameters. For N^6 -lactoyl lysine, the following parameters were used: declustering potential (DP), 33 V; collision energy (CE), 23 eV; collision cell exit potential (CXP), 8 V; and scan range (m/z), 50–220 (2 s).

For the detection of methylglyoxal quinoxaline, chromatographic separations were performed on a stainless steel column (Knauer, Eurospher 100 C18, 5 μ m, 250 × 4.6 mm, Berlin, Germany) using a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The mobile phase used was water (solvent A) and methanol/water (7:3 (v/v), solvent B). To both solvents (A and B), 0.6 ml/liter heptafluorobutyric acid was added. Analysis was performed at 35 °C column temperature using gradient elution: 20 (0) to 30 (35) to 100 (65–70) to 20

44352 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

TABLE 3 Profile of subjects examined in this study

-			
	Healthy subjects	Hemodialysis patients	
No. of participants	11	18	
Age (years)	66 ± 6	69 ± 11	
HbA1c (%)	5.6 ± 0.2	6.3 ± 1.7^{a}	
Serum creatinine (µmol/liter)	81 ± 8	706 ± 222^{b}	
C-reactive protein (mg/liter)	$1.7\pm1.1\;({<}1.0{-}4.5)$	23 ± 19 (6–70)	

^a Not significant.
^b p < 0.001 versus healthy subjects.</p>

(75−85); % B (*t*/min). For mass spectrometric detection, the multiple reaction monitoring mode was used, utilizing a collision-induced dissociation of the protonated molecules with MS parameters as follows: *m*/*z* 229.2 → 77.0 (DP, 50 V; CE, 41.0 eV; CXP, 5.0 V, quantifier), *m*/*z* 229.2 → 118.1 (DP, 50 V; CE, 45.0 eV; CXP, 7.0 V; qualifier), *m*/*z* 229.2 → 65.0 (DP, 50 V; CE, 45.0 eV; CXP, 5.0 V, qualifier). Methylglyoxal quinoxaline was detected at the retention time of *t*_R = 58.1 min. Quantification was performed using the standard addition method with pure authentic reference compounds.

All plasma workup samples and incubations were analyzed in single batches to exclude interassay variations. Intra-assay coefficients of variation were determined by repeated analyses of controls and HD patients. In addition, as shown in Table 2, limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) with all steps of the analysis included were estimated according to DIN 32645 (n = 6, confidence level, p = 0.95, k = 3) (30). In model experiments, coefficients of variation < 10% (n = 3) for all target compounds was achieved, and LOD/LOQ was 0.0004/0.001 mmol/mol lysine for acetyl lysine, 0.0013/0.004 mmol/mol lysine for lactoyl lysine, and 0.0135/0.041 mmol/mol lysine for glycerinyl lysine.

Statistical Evaluation—Data are expressed as mean \pm S.D. The Student's *t* test was used for statistical evaluation of significant differences between both groups.

RESULTS

Amide-AGEs in Human Blood Plasma of Uremic Patients versus Healthy Subjects—Plasma was obtained from 11 healthy subjects (controls) with normal renal function and no proteinuria and 18 HD patients. In dialysis patients, samples were obtained predialysis before the mid-week treatment session. Details on the study population are summarized in Table 3. Normal renal function was defined as a serum creatinine level below 102 μ mol/liter. After appropriate dilution and separation from the protein residue by a 3 kDa molecular weight cutoff membrane, the plasma samples were subjected to liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometric detection using multiple reaction monitoring.

As shown in Fig. 1, plasma levels of all four carboxylic acid amides were significantly higher in HD patients than those in controls (acetyl lysine, 746 \pm 151 *versus* 335 \pm 63 pmol/ml plasma; formyl lysine, 281 \pm 78 *versus* 145 \pm 70 pmol/ml plasma; lactoyl lysine, 273 \pm 90 *versus* 36 \pm 15 pmol/ml plasma; glycerinyl lysine, 23.0 \pm 5.1 *versus* 5.6 \pm 0.9 pmol/ml plasma). To compare with well established AGE structures, we measured plasma concentrations of CML and CEL. In accordance with the literature (4), the levels were significantly elevated in

VASBMB

VOLUME 286 • NUMBER 52 • DECEMBER 30, 2011


FIGURE 1. N^6 -acetyl lysine (A), N^6 -formyl lysine (B), N^6 -lactoyl lysine (C), and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine (D) levels of plasma from healthy subjects (controls) and HD patients. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.D., *, p < 0.01 versus control (A, C, and D), p < 0.01 versus control (B).



FIGURE 2. Verification of N⁶-lactoyl lysine by collision-induced dissociation of m/z 219.2 [M + H]⁺, authentic reference (A), and plasma workup of HD patients (B).

HD patients (CML, 2051 \pm 760 versus 129 \pm 59 pmol/ml plasma; CEL, 2063 \pm 785 versus 157 \pm 78 pmol/ml plasma).

In selected cases, the identity of the detected compounds was confirmed by comparison of the retention time and fragmentation pattern with authentic reference standards. The results for lactoyl lysine are shown in Fig. 2. The quasi molecular ion $[M + H]^+$ at m/z 219.2 is expected to undergo dehydration with immediate decarbonylation to the ion at m/z 173. The subsequent deamination of the immonium fragment renders

the most abundant ion at m/z 156. Cyclization of lactoyl lysine to a six-membered ring and elimination of N^{ϵ} functionality yields the ion at m/z 130. m/z 84 presents the pyrrolinium ion.

Formation of Amide-AGEs in α -Dicarbonyl/N¹-t-Boc-lysine Incubations—To identify the direct precursors of the carboxylic acid amides, 1-DG, 3-DG, D-arabino-hexos-2-ulose (glucosone) and methylglyoxal were incubated with N¹-t-Boc-lysine under physiological conditions (pH 7.4, 37 °C). To study the impact of oxygen, incubations were conducted under aera-

DECEMBER 30, 2011 • VOLUME 286 • NUMBER 52

VASBMBL

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 44353

Amide-AGEs in Vivo

TABLE 4

Comparison of amide concentrations in incubation mixtures of 200 mm glucose, 42 mm 1-desoxyglucoson (1-DG), 42 mm glucosone, and 42 mm methylglyoxal in the presence of 42 mm N¹-t-Boc-lysine and in incubation mixtures of 42 mm Amadori product under aerated and deaerated conditions

	Glucose ^a		Amadori product ^b		$1-DG^b$		Glucosone ^b		Methylglyoxal ^b	
	Aerated	Deaerated	Aerated	Deaerated	Aerated	Deaerated	Aerated	Deaerated	Aerated	Deaerated
	mmol/	mol lysine	mmol/mol A	madori product	mmol/	mol lysine	mmol/	mol lysine	mmol/	mol lysine
N ⁶ -acetyl lysine	0.46	0.35	0.004	Ô.007	0.78	0.75	0.05	0.04	< LOD	< LOD
N ⁶ -formyl lysine	1.39	0.48	0.37	0.05	1.47	1.08	2.60	0.89	< LOD	< LOD
N ⁶ -lactoyl lysine	0.06	0.06	< LOD	< LOD	0.25	0.26	< LOQ	< LOQ	0.35	0.34
N ⁶ -glycerinyl lysine	0.75	0.10	0.20	<LOQ	0.15	0.09	0.06	< LOQ	< LOD	< LOD

^a At 28 days ^b At 72 h.

tion and deaeration. After acidic treatment to remove the Boc protection group, the samples were subjected to LC-MS/MS. Amides were found to be stable under these workup conditions, and artifact formation was excluded by immediate assay of the incubation mixtures at 0 h. The results at 72 h are provided in Table 4. 3-DG is not listed because none of the acylation products could be detected. The data for 1-DG were published in our previous work (7). With methylglyoxal, lactoyl lysine was the sole amide generated and the formation did not respond to aeration. In contrast, aeration revealed significant higher amounts of formyl lysine in glucosone incubations, whereas the levels of acetyl lysine, lactoyl lysine, and glycerinyl lysine were negligible compared with the amounts produced in 1-DG incubations.

Formation of Amide-AGEs in Glucose/N¹-t-Boc-lysine Incubations—Because glucose is a major source of glycation and glycoxidation *in vivo*, incubations of glucose with N¹-t-Boc-lysine and of 1-deoxy-1-(N⁶-lysino)-D-fructose, the Amadori product of both, were performed under physiological conditions (pH 7.4, 37 °C) for comparison. The time course of formation of target amides in the glucose-lysine system over a time period of 4 weeks is shown in Fig. 3 and Table 4.

Acetyl lysine and formyl lysine were the dominant amide modifications under deaerated conditions. Both lactoyl lysine and glycerinyl lysine showed considerably lower levels of formation. In contrast to formyl and glycerinyl lysine, the impact of aeration on formation of acetyl and lactoyl lysine was negligible. However, the ratio of glycerinyl to formyl lysine changed dramatically with aeration: 1.50 *versus* 1.79 mmol/mol lysine compared with 0.16 *versus* 0.70 mmol/mol lysine with deaeration (incubation time, 48 days). This led to the conclusion that there must be additional oxygen-dependent mechanisms for glycerinyl lysine independent from formation of formyl lysine.

DISCUSSION

Performing several model incubations, we tried to gain insights into possible formation pathways linked to Maillard chemistry *in vivo*. N^6 -{2-[(5-amino-5-carboxypentyl)amino]-2oxoethyl}lysine and N^6 -glycoloyl lysine are formed via rearrangement reactions of glyoxal with lysine in contrast to the novel amide-AGEs involving β -dicarbonyl fragmentations (Fig. 4). We already investigated the degradation of the α -dicarbonyl 1-DG in the presence of N^1 -*t*-Boc-lysine, identifying 1-DG as a direct precursor of the amide-AGEs (7). Now, glucosone was found to be another potential precursor of formyl lysine, while degradation of 3-DG did not result in any acylation. This is

44354 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY



FIGURE 3. Formation of AGE-amides in incubation mixtures of 200 mM glucose with 42 mM N^1 -t-Boc-lysine in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, at 37 °C under acreted (*closed symbols*) and deaerated conditions (*open symbols*): N^6 -acetyl lysine (\blacktriangle), N^6 -formyl lysine (\blacklozenge), N^6 -lactoyl lysine (\blacksquare), and N^6 -glycerinyl lysine (\blacksquare).

expected because 3-DG in contrast to 1-DG and glucosone cannot be converted to an α -oxoenediol, which is a prerequisite for β -dicarbonyl fragmentations. As shown in Fig. 5, all three C6-dicarbonyl structures are known Maillard degradation products of glucose. Although 1-DG and 3-DG are generated non-oxidatively via enolization and dehydration from the Amadori product, glucosone is formed via autoxidation of glucose or oxidation of the Amadori product or the intermediate Schiff base (31).

The results of incubations of glucose with $N^1\mathchar`-t\mathchar`-boc-lysine$ and of the Amadori product of both revealed a very similar formation pattern for acetyl lysine and lactoyl lysine in reaction mixtures with glucose and 1-DG, respectively (Table 4 and Fig. 3), confirming 1-DG as the direct precursor independent from oxidative processes via hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl fragmentation. Although the formation of formyl lysine from 1-DG responded to oxidative conditions, the difference was far more pronounced from glucose or the Amadori product. This pointed to the existence of another precursor emerging from oxidative pathways, which was identified as glucosone. Here, formyl lysine was detected in significant amounts, whereas formation of all other target amides was negligible. These findings were further supported by the same ratio of acetyl to formyl lysine in 1-DG versus glucose incubations under deaerated conditions, i.e. glucosone contributes only under oxidative conditions to formation of formyl lysine from glucose, whereas 1-DG is the

VASBMB

VOLUME 286 • NUMBER 52 • DECEMBER 30, 2011



FIGURE 4. Mechanism of amide-AGE formation via rearrangement (a) and β -dicarbonyl cleavage (b).



FIGURE 5. Non-enzymatic degradation pathway of glucose.

sole precursor in absence of oxygen. As formyl lysine, glycerinyl lysine showed a significant discrepancy in glucose *versus* 1-DG incubations induced by aeration. From the present results the additional reaction pathway leading to glycerinyl lysine from glucose remained unclear as none of the other Maillard intermediates responded. However, it is obvious that oxidation is required and that glucosone is not a relevant precursor.

Comparing the results of *in vivo* samples with above model experiments, incubations under aerated conditions should simulate the situation in uremia. Uremia has been described as a state of inflammatory stress resulting from either increased oxidation of carbohydrates and lipids (oxidative stress) or inadequate detoxification or inactivation of reactive carbonyl compounds derived from both carbohydrates and lipids by

DECEMBER 30, 2011 • VOLUME 286 • NUMBER 52

VASBMB/

oxidative and non-oxidative chemistry (carbonyl stress) (3). Including only non-diabetic subjects in the present study, the impact of differences in glucose plasma concentrations was avoided.

The comparison gave a very diverse picture. Although all target amides in vivo were significantly increased in uremia (Fig. 1), only formyl and glycerinyl lysine responded to aeration in the glucose-lysine model. In addition, the ratio of concentrations between the single amides was completely different. In vivo, acetyl, formyl, and lactoyl lysine were within the same range, with glycerinyl lysine showing 10-fold lower concentrations. In contrast, glucose incubations showed the smallest concentrations for lactoyl lysine. Given that glycerinyl lysine indeed follows the patterns of the model incubations, this suggests additional pathways for the formation of acetyl, formyl, and lactovl lysine. An alternative mechanism leading to lactovl lysine *in vivo* is the reaction of methylglyoxal with ϵ -amino lysine residues corresponding to our identification of N⁶-glycoloyl lysine in glyoxal lysine model incubations based on rearrangement reactions. Indeed, when we incubated methylglyoxal with N^1 -t-Boc-lysine, we found significant amounts of lactoyl lysine independent from the presence of oxygen (Table 4). In vivo, this also explains the 7-fold increase in uremia, as we measured a 4-fold increase in methylglyoxal in such subjects (138 \pm 39 versus 496 \pm 132 pmol/ml plasma). Concentrations of acetyl lysine were highest in vivo and responded to renal failure by a 2-fold increase. This might be explained by increased cell death triggered by the strong inflammatory processes observed under uremia resulting in accelerated release of acetyl lysine from acetylated histone proteins. In addition, the increased concentration of methylglyoxal in presence of peroxynitrite might also contribute to the acetylation of ϵ -amino lysine residues in vivo. Massari et al. (32) described a mechanism of L-lysine acetylation by a methylglyoxal-peroxynitrite system in vitro. Although the direct reaction of methylglyoxal with proteins probably dominates over that with peroxynitrite, the post-translational acetylation of proteins by radical mechanisms in the presence of methylglyoxal might be a plausible

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 44355

Amide-AGEs in Vivo

second non-enzymatic pathway to acetyltransferase-catalyzed reactions. Moreover, although much less reactive, H_2O_2 could replace peroxynitrite in the acetyl-generating reaction from methylglyoxal. The idea to explain the 2-fold increase of formyl lysine in uremia based on the *in vitro* models is undermined by the fact that neither 1-DG nor glucosone have been detected *in vivo* so far. An intriguing alternative mechanism might be the with inflammation increased oxidative DNA breakdown to give 3'-formylphosphate-ended DNA fragments as a potential precursor, but again, such species have not been identified *in vivo* (23).

As a first attempt to assess the importance of the novel a mide-AGEs as clinical markers for kidney failure, plasma levels of the well established lysine modifications CML and CEL were measured additionally. In healthy human subjects, concentrations were within the same range. The AGE levels decreased in the following order: acetyl lysine > CEL \approx formyl lysine \approx CML > lactoyl lysine > glycerinyl lysine. In uremia, we observed a 13- to 16-fold increase of CEL and CML. Amide-AGEs showed only a 2- to 8-fold increase. Thus, amide-AGEs might be of major importance when compared with other AGE structures identified *in vivo* so far, even though the impact of uremia on plasma concentrations of CML and CEL is more pronounced.

In conclusion, we previously proposed a formation mechanism for the novel amide-AGEs acetyl, formyl, lactoyl, and glycerinyl lysine via degradation of 1-DG in the presence of lysine (7). Now, glucosone and methylglyoxal were identified as alternative precursors for formyl and lactoyl lysine, respectively. All four amide-AGEs were unequivocally detected in human plasma, formyl, lactoyl, and glycerinyl lysine for the first time. The results strongly suggest a major participation of nonenzymatic Maillard mechanisms on amide-AGE formation pathways in vivo paralleled by enzymatic processes. The pathophysiologic consequences of two to 7-fold increased levels of amide-AGE free adducts in plasma of HD patients is not yet understood and requires further investigation. Also, the question which quantities of AGE-free adducts are derived from the breakdown of AGE-modified proteins or from direct synthesis remains unclear. However, absolute plasma concentration levels were in the same range similar to other established lysine modifications, i.e. CML and CEL, and suggest a comparable impact of non-enzymatic biochemistry on pathophysiologies in the human organism.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dawnay, A., and Millar, D. J. (1998) Cell Mol. Biol. 44, 1081–1094
- 2. Friedlander, M. A., Wu, Y. C., Elgawish, A., and Monnier, V. M. (1996)

J. Clin. Invest. 97, 728-735

- Miyata, T., van Ypersele de Strihou, C., Kurokawa, K., and Baynes, J. W. (1999) *Kidney Int.* 55, 389–399
- Agalou, S., Ahmed, N., Thornalley, P. J., and Dawnay, A. (2005) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1043, 734–739
- 5. Thornalley, P. J. (2005) Pediatr. Nephrol. 20, 1515–1522
- 6. Glomb, M. A., and Pfahler, C. (2001) J. Biol. Chem. 276, 41638-41647
- 7. Smuda, M., Voigt, M., and Glomb, M. A. (2010) J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 6458-6464
- McLellan, A. C., Phillips, S. A., and Thornalley, P. J. (1992) Anal. Biochem. 206, 17–23
- 9. Lapolla, A., Reitano, R., Seraglia, R., Sartore, G., Ragazzi, E., and Traldi, P. (2005) *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **49**, 685–690
- Odani, H., Shinzato, T., Matsumoto, Y., Usami, J., and Maeda, K. (1999) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 256, 89–93
- Mirza, M. A., Kandhro, A. J., Memon, S. Q., Khuhawar, M. Y., and Arain, R. (2007) *Electrophoresis* 28, 3940–3947
- 12. Lo, T. W., Selwood, T., and Thornalley, P. J. (1994) *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **48**, 1865–1870
- Allfrey, V. G., Faulkner, R., and Mirsky, A. E. (1964) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 51, 786–794
- 14. Kouzarides, T. (2000) EMBO J. 19, 1176-1179
- 15. Yang, X. J. (2004) Bioessays 26, 1076-1087
- 16. Lee, K. K., and Workman, J. L. (2007) Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 284–295
- 17. Shahbazian, M. D., and Grunstein, M. (2007) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 76, 75–100
- Choudhary, C., Kumar, C., Gnad, F., Nielsen, M. L., Rehman, M., Walther, T. C., Olsen, J. V., and Mann, M. (2009) *Science* 325, 834–840
- Piraud, M., Vianey-Saban, C., Petritis, K., Elfakir, C., Steghens, J. P., and Bouchu, D. (2005) *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 19, 1587–1602
- 20. Tsutsui, H., Maeda, T., Toyo'oka, T., Min, J. Z., Inagaki, S., Higashi, T., and Kagawa, Y. (2010) *J. Proteome. Res.* **9**, 3912–3922
- 21. Cai, H., and Guengerich, F. P. (2000) Chem. Res. Toxicol. 13, 327-335
- 22. Hasenkopf, K., Rönner, B., Hiller, H., and Pischetsrieder, M. (2002) J. Agric. Food Chem. 50, 5697–5703
- Jiang, T., Zhou, X., Taghizadeh, K., Dong, M., and Dedon, P. C. (2007) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 60-65
- 24. Glomb, M. A., and Tschirnich, R. (2001) J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 5543–5550
- 25. Madson, M. A., and Feather, M. S. (1981) Carbohydr. Res. 94, 183-191
- 26. Bayne, S. (1963) Methods Carbohydr. Chem. 421-423
- 27. Glomb, M. A., and Pfahler, C. (2000) Carbohydr. Res. 329, 515-523
- Glomb, M. A., and Monnier, V. M. (1995) *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 10017–10026
 Ahmed, M. U., Brinkmann Frye, E., Degenhardt, T. P., Thorpe, S. R., and Baynes, I. W. (1997) *Biochem. J.* 324, 565–570
- 30. Materials Testing Standards Committee NA 062 of the Deutsches Institut für Normung (German Institute for Standardization) (1994) DIN 32645; Chemical Analysis: Decision Limit, Detection Limit and Determination Limit; Estimation in Case of Repeatability; Terms, Methods, Evaluation, Beuth Verlag, Berlin
- 31. Gobert, J., and Glomb, M. A. (2009) J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 8591-8597
- Massari, J., Tokikawa, R., Zanolli, L., Tavares, M. F., Assunção, N. A., and Bechara, E. J. (2010) *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 23, 1762–1770

44356 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

VASEMEL

10.2 Publication B: Journal of Biological Chemistry (2014), vol. 289, 28676-28688

THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY VOL. 289, NO. 41, pp. 28676–28688, October 10, 2014 D 2014 by The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc. Published in the U.S.A.

Extending the Spectrum of α -Dicarbonyl Compounds in Vivo*

Received for publication, March 7, 2014, and in revised form, August 25, 2014 Published, JBC Papers in Press, August 27, 2014, DOI 10.1074/jbc.M114.563593

Christian Henning⁺, **Kristin Liehr⁺**, **Matthias Girndt[§]**, **Christof Ulrich[§]**, **and Marcus A. Glomb⁺¹** From the [†]Institute of Chemistry-Food Chemistry and the [§]Department of Internal Medicine II, Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg, Kurt-Mothes-Strasse 2, 06120 Halle/Saale, Germany

Background: α -Dicarbonyls are central intermediates in the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). **Results:** A quantitation method for the complete spectrum relevant *in vivo* was established. **Conclusion:** Non-enzymatic chemistry of glucose and L-ascorbic acid as precursors and α -dicarbonyl intermediates play an important role *in vivo*.

Significance: Knowledge of plasma levels of α -dicarbonyls is crucial to understand the complex pathways of AGE formation *in vivo*.

Maillard a-dicarbonyl compounds are known as central intermediates in advanced glycation end product (AGE) formation. Glucose is the primary source of energy for the human body, whereas L-threo-ascorbic acid (vitamin C) is an essential nutrient, involved in a variety of enzymatic reactions. Thus, the Maillard degradation of glucose and ascorbic acid is of major importance in vivo. To understand the complex mechanistic pathways of AGE formation, it is crucial to extend the knowledge on plasma concentrations of reactive key α -dicarbonyl compounds (e.g. 1-deoxyglucosone). With the present work, we introduce a highly sensitive LC-MS/MS multimethod for human blood plasma based on derivatization with o-phenylenediamine under acidic conditions. The impact of workup and reaction conditions, particularly of pH, was thoroughly evaluated. A comprehensive validation provided the limit of detection, limit of quantitation, coefficients of variation, and recovery rates. The method includes the α -dicarbonyls 1-deoxyglucosone, 3-deoxyglucosone, glucosone, Lederer's glucosone, dehydroascorbic acid, 2,3-diketogulonic acid, 1-deoxypentosone, 3-deoxypentosone, 3,4-dideoxypentosone, pentosone, 1-deoxythreosone, 3-deoxythreosone, threosone, methylglyoxal, glyoxal; the α -keto-carboxylic acids pyruvic acid and glyoxylic acid; and the dicarboxylic acid oxalic acid. The method was then applied to the analyses of 15 healthy subjects and 24 uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis. The comparison of the results revealed a clear shift in the product spectrum. In most cases, the plasma levels of target analytes were significantly higher. Thus, this is the first time that a complete spectrum of *a*-dicarbonyl compounds relevant in vivo has been established. The results provide further insights into the chemistry of AGE formation and will be helpful to find specific markers to differentiate between the various precursors of glycation.

Advanced glycation of proteins has been investigated in aging, diabetes, and nutrition (1-3). The Maillard reaction, a non-enzymatic process, is initiated when proteins are exposed to glucose or other carbohydrates. Through a series of reactions, it eventually yields the irreversible advanced glycation

28676 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

end products (AGEs).² There are multiple sources and mechanisms of AGE formation *in vivo*, involving oxidative and nonoxidative chemistry of reducing sugars, Schiff bases, Amadori adducts, ascorbic acid and metabolic intermediates (4, 5). Because they are correlated to the severity of diabetic and uremic complications their clinical relevance was established (6–8).

AGE concentrations *in vivo* are markedly amplified in diabetes but also in non-diabetic uremia with a significant loss of renal clearance (9). Thus, besides substrate concentration, carbonyl stress, as described by Baynes *et al.* (10), is an alternative explanation for the increase of chemical protein modifications in various diseases. Carbonyl stress is caused by a generalized increase in the concentration of reactive carbonyl precursors of AGEs. Among those, α -dicarbonyl compounds (α -DCs) play a very prominent role. Their relevance as key intermediates in AGE formation was extensively investigated in *in vitro* model systems (11–15).

Endogenous formation is supposed to be the predominant source of α -DCs in human circulation (16). However, information on the physiological importance of exogenous dicarbonyl intake is scarce and subject to recent investigations (17–19). Regarding this topic, foods and peritoneal dialysis fluids are considered to release considerable amounts of reactive α -DCs (20–24).

For a comprehensive understanding of the complex formation pathways of AGEs *in vivo*, the analytical assessment of the complete α -DC spectrum is crucial. Nemet and Monnier (25) examined the L-*threo*-ascorbic acid (ASA, vitamin C) degradation products dehydroascorbic acid (DHA), 2,3-diketogulonic acid

² The abbreviations used are: AGE, advanced glycation end products; α-DC, α-dicarbonylcompound; ASA, L-threo-ascorbic acid; DHA, dehydroascorbic acid; 2,3-DKG, 2,3-diketogulonic acid; L-threo-2,3-hexodiulosonic acid;): 3-DT, 3-deoxythresosone (4-hydroxy-2-vsobutanal); GO, glyoxal; MGO, methylglyoxal (2-oxopropanal); 3-DG, 3-deoxyglucosone (3-deoxy-0-enthro-hexos-2-ulose); OPD, o-phenylenediamine; threosone, 3,4-dihydroxy-2-oxobutanal; I-DG, 1-deoxyglucosone (1-deoxy-0-enthro-hexo-2,3-diulose); DHA, dehydroascorbic acid; DHAP, dihydroxyacetone phosphate; G3P, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate; 1-DP, 1-deoxypentosone; 3-DDP, 3-deoxypentosone; 3-DDP, 3-deoxypentosone; 3-DDP, 3-deoxypentosone; 3-DDP, 3-deoxypentosone; 3-DGa, 3-deoxyglactosone; EtOAc, ethyl acetate; 3,4-DGE, 3,4-dideoxyglucosone-3-ene; MeOH, methanol; CID, collision-induced dissociation; glucosone, n-arabino-hexos-2-ulose; 2-ulose; 2-ulose-2-ulose; 2-ulose-2-ulose; 2-ulose-2-ulose-2-ulose



^{*} This work was supported by German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) Project 13N11798.

¹ To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: 49-345-55-27341; E-mail: marcus.glomb@chemie.uni-halle.de.

(2,3-DKG), threosone, 3-deoxythresosone (3-DT), and xylosone in human lens. In human blood plasma, however, only glyoxal (GO), methylglyoxal (MGO), 3-deoxyglucosone (3-DG), and DHA have been described in detail so far (26–33). The implemented analytical methods vary not only in the inevitable derivatization procedure but also in the chromatographic technique used. The common alternative approach for the quantitation of DHA is the measurement of the difference of ASA before and after a reduction step (34, 35). Consequently, concentrations of published plasma levels of healthy subjects differ in a wide range and are thus not comparable (*e.g.* for GO from 220 to 1150 pmol/ml, for MGO from 120 to 650 pmol/ml, and for DHA from 550 to 6800 pmol/ml (mean values)).

Glomb and Tschirnich compared common derivatization approaches (36). According to them, the use of aromatic *a*-diamines (*e.g. a*-phenylenediamine (OPD)) is prerequisite for the analysis of highly reactive α -DCs, such as 1-deoxyglucosone (1-DG). The detection of these short lived intermediates is limited by the rate of condensation of the reagent with the carbonyl moiety. However, these trapping reagents impose high oxidative stress on the system investigated and could lead to artifact formation, especially of α -DCs that originate from oxidative pathways (*e.g. D-arabino*-hexos-2-ulose (glucosone)).

The work group of Thornalley (31) developed a reliable method for the detection of MGO as 6,7-dimethoxy-2-methylquinoxaline in human plasma. They stressed the importance of pH control to avoid the degradation of dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (G3P) to MGO, both central intermediates in several metabolic pathways in living organisms.

Although many methods for the detection of a few selected α -DCs were described already, a comprehensive method including all relevant compounds *in vivo* has been missing up to now. The particular analytical challenge in this regard is the very diverging polarity of the target substances but also the baseline separation of isomeric pairs with identical molecular masses (*e.g.* 1-/3-deoxypentosone (1-/3-DP)).

We developed and validated a highly sensitive LC-MS/MS multimethod suitable for routine analysis based on the derivatization with OPD, including 15 α -dicarbonyl compounds and two α -ketocarboxylic acids. Both substance categories are hereafter referred to as α -DCs for reasons of simplicity. In detail, the method covers 1-DG, 3-DG, glucosone, N^6 -(3,6-dideoxyhexos-2-ulos-6-yl)-Llysine (Lederer's glucosone), DHA, 2,3-DKG, 4,5-dihydroxy-2,3pentanedione (1-DP), 4,5-dihydroxy-2-oxopentanal (3-DP), 3,4-dideoxypentosone (3,4-DDP), pentos-2-ulose (pentosone), 1-deoxythreosone (1-DT), 3-DT, threosone, MGO, ethanedial (glyoxal, GO), 2-oxopropanoic acid (pyruvic acid), oxoethanoic acid (glyoxylic acid), and ethanedioic acid (oxalic acid) and was used to screen an initial set of plasma samples from 15 healthy human subjects and 24 uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD patients). The results are discussed with respect to the sources and mechanistic relationships of the α -DCs detected.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Materials and Plasma Samples—Chemicals of the highest grade available were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and Fisher unless otherwise indicated. NMR solvents were purchased from

OCTOBER 10, 2014 · VOLUME 289 · NUMBER 41

acid-Q, and 3-DG were synthesized according to our previous work (37–39). The identities of target compounds were verified by

ARMAR Chemicals (Leipzig/Doettingen, Germany). The qui-

noxaline derivatives of the α -DCs will be marked hereafter with

the suffix "-Q". 1-DG-Q, 3-DG-Q, glucosone-Q, Lederer's glu-

cosone-Q, 1-DP-Q, 3-DP-Q, 3,4-DDP-Q, pentosone-Q, 1-DT-Q,

3-DT-Q, threosone-Q, pyruvic acid-Q, glyoxylic acid-Q, oxalic

nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) experiments. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg. Blood samples were obtained from 15 healthy subjects with normal renal function and 24 non-diabetic patients undergoing hemodialysis using EDTA as an anticoagulant (2 mg/ml whole blood). In HD patients, samples were obtained predialysis before the midweek treatment session. Hemodialysis was performed three times weekly for 4-5 h using polysulfone dialyzers. All patients were treated with bicarbonate hemodialysis (acid concentrate type 257, 8.4% sodium bicarbonate type 200, MTN Neubrandenburg GmbH, Neubrandenburg, Germany) with ultrapure water quality (by reverse osmosis and sterile filters). Plasma was derived by centrifugation (3000 \times g, 10 min, 4 °C) within 20 min of collection and immediately subjected to the assay procedure described below. HbA1c, creatinine, and C-reactive protein were measured by routine methods at the central laboratory of Martin-Luther-University Clinical Center, Halle (Saale, Germany).

2-(2'(R),3'(R),4'-Trihydroxybutyl)quinoxaline (3-DGal-Q)-3-Deoxy-D-threo-hexos-2-ulose (3-deoxygalactosone; 3-DGal) was synthesized according to the literature (40) with the exception of the 3-DGal bis(benzoyl hydrazone) cleavage. Here, instead of benzaldehyde, sodium nitrite was used, following the procedure of Henseke and Bauer (41). Purification of crude 3-DGal-Q was achieved by preparative high performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection (HPLC-UV). NMR results were in line with those of Hellwig *et al.* (40).

3-(*p*-erythro-Glycerol-1-yl)-quinoxaline-2-carboxylic Acid o-Aminoanilide (DHA Precursor-Q)—DHA (250 mg; 1.44 mmol) was suspended in methanol (25 ml), and OPD was added (308.5 mg; 2.85 mmol). The reaction mixture was heated for 2 h at 40 °C and allowed to cool. The precipitated solid was isolated by filtration; washed with water, ethanol, and ether; and dried (yield: 282.6 mg, 76%). Recrystallization from ethanol gave yellow needles.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ (ppm) = 3.44–3.55 (m, 2H), 4.03 (m, 1H), 5.42 (m, 1H), 6.63 (m, 1H), 6.8 (dd, *J* = 8.0, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.0 (m, 1H), 7.36 (dd, *J* = 8.0, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.96 (m, 2H), 8.17 (m, 1H), 8.23 (m, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ (ppm) = 63.3, 72.0, 74.5, 116.4, 116.6, 122.9, 126.4, 127.2, 128.9, 129.5, 131.0, 132.0, 139.6, 141.2, 143.2, 147.4, 156.0, 165.1. HR-MS: *m/z* 393.09645 (found); *m/z* 393.09596 (calculated for C₁₈H₁₈O₄N₄K [M + K]⁺).

3-(*D*-erythro-Glycerol-1-yl)-quinoxaline-2-carboxylic γ -Lactone (*DHA*-*Q*)—A suspension of precursor DHA-Q (500 mg) in water (10 ml) was treated with 0.1 M hydrochloric acid (25 ml) and stirred at room temperature. The reaction process was followed by thin layer chromatography (TLC; EtOAc, UV detection). The reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc (3 \times

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 28677

lpha-Dicarbonyl Compounds in Vivo

<u>- 67</u> <u>-</u>

SASBMB

35 ml), the organic layers were combined, and the solvent was evaporated. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel 60, 63–200 μ m (Merck), EtOAc). Fractions including the compound with R_f 0.24 (TLC: EtOAc, UV detection) were collectively concentrated *in vacuo* to afford 180 mg (66%) of light yellow needles. NMR results were in line with those of Nemet and Monnier (25). HR-MS: m/z 269.05301 (found); m/z 269.05328 (calculated for $C_{12}\rm H_{10}O_4N_2Na~[M + Na]^+).$

2,3-DKG—2,3-DKG as sodium salt was synthesized according to the method of Otsuka *et al.* (42). The product was obtained as a white hygroscopic precipitate. It was characterized by the LC-MS/MS method mentioned below after derivatization with OPD and directly utilized for quinoxaline synthesis.

3-((15,2R)-1,2,3-Trihydroxypropyl)-quinoxaline-2-carboxylic Acid (2,3-DKG-Q)—The corresponding quinoxaline of 2,3-DKG was obtained according to Nemet and Monnier (25). Purification of the quinoxaline solution was done by preparative HPLC-UV ($t_R = 62$ min). Fractions including the pure compound were collectively evaporated under reduced pressure, dissolved in water, and lyophilized to afford 2,3-DKG-Q as a light yellow powder in quantitative yield. NMR data were in line with the literature (25). HR-MS: m/z 263.06749 (found); m/z 263.06735 (calculated for $C_{12}H_{11}O_5N_2$ [M – H]⁺).

Isotopically Labeled 2-Hydroxy-3-methyl-2,3-¹³C₂-quinoxaline (Pyruvic Acid-¹³C₂-Q)—Pyruvic acid-¹³C₂-Q was synthesized according to the method of Arun *et al.* (43). Briefly, a solution of OPD in distilled water (306.9 mg in 8 ml of ultrapure water, 2.84 mM) was added to 1,2-¹³C₂-pyruvic acid (250.0 mg in 8 ml ultrapure water, 2.84 mM) dropwise with constant stirring. The precipitated pale yellow colored compound was filtered, washed with water, and lyophilized. The crude sample was recrystallized from 50% ethanol absolute (404.7 mg, 88%). NMR data were in line with the literature. HR-MS: *m/z* 163.0779 (found); *m/z* 163.0776 (calculated for C₇⁻¹³C₂H₈ON₂ [M + H]⁺).

Time Course of the OPD Reaction of 3-DG, MGO, GO, Glyoxylic Acid, Pyruvic Acid, Oxalic Acid, DHA Precursor-Q, and 2,3-DKG-Q under Assay Conditions—All compounds (20 μM) were incubated under assay conditions in amber glass vials under argon atmosphere at 22 °C in 0.4 M formate buffer (pH 3.0) containing 0.55 mM OPD and 3.4 mM EDTA. Vials were tightly sealed by a screw cap with integrated polytetrafluoroethylene/silicone septum. At various time points, aliquots of the reaction mixtures were subjected to LC-UV analysis as described below. After 24 h, trifluoroacetic acid (TFA; 0.4 M) was added, and the incubation was continued for 1 h. Then pH 3.0 was adjusted again with 4 M ammonium hydroxide. The injection volume was adjusted to account for the dilution of the reaction mixture. The yields were determined against the authentic reference α-DC-Q standards.

Time Course of the OPD Reaction of ASA, DHA, 2,3-DKG, and 3-DG-Q under Assay Conditions—All compounds (20μ M) were incubated as described above over a prolonged time period. No TFA was added after 24 h. At various time points, aliquots of the reaction mixtures were subjected to LC-UV analysis as described below. The yields were determined against the authentic reference α -DC-Q standards. Due to the lack of authentic reference for the quinoxaline of 3,4dideoxyglucosone-3-ene (3,4-DGE-Q), quantitation was done with 3-DGal-Q under the assumption of an equal extinction coefficient.

De Novo Formation of MGO-Q from G3P and DHAP with OPD under Various Assay Conditions-G3P and DHAP (50 and 100 μ M, which corresponds to a plasma concentration of 100 and 200 $\mu{\rm M}$, respectively) were incubated under assay conditions in amber glass vials under argon atmosphere at 22 °C in various buffer solutions containing 0.55 mm $\rm \overline{OPD}$ and 3.4 mm EDTA. The buffers used were potassium phosphate buffer (0.4 M, pH 7.0), sodium formate buffer (0.4 M, pH 3.0), and perchloric acid (0.4 M, pH <0). Vials were tightly sealed by a screw cap with integrated polytetrafluoroethylene/silicone septum. Reaction mixtures were subjected to LC-UV analysis as described below not only after 24 h but immediately after the addition of OPD and after a 1-h incubation time to account for possible MGO impurities of the starting materials. The yield of MGO was determined against the authentic reference α -DC-Q standards.

Assay of α -DCs in Plasma—Sodium formate buffer (2 M, pH 3.0, 200 μ l), the internal standard pyruvic acid-¹³C₂-Q (1.25 μ M, 100 μ l) and the derivatizing agent OPD (2.75 mM, 200 μ l) were added to 500 μ l of blood plasma. The sample was incubated for 24 h in the dark at room temperature under argon atmosphere. TFA (2 M, 250 μ l) was added, and the incubation continued for 1 h under the same conditions. The pH of the sample was then adjusted to pH 3.0 with ammonium hydroxide (4 M, 415 μ l). Water was added (85 μ l) to give a total sample volume of 1750 μ l. The protein precipitate was separated by centrifugation (16,000 × g and 20 °C). The supernatant (storage at -80 °C) was administered to LC-MS/MS analysis.

HPLC-UV--ABesta HD 2-200 pump (Wilhelmsfeld, Germany) was used at a flow rate of 15 ml/min. Elution of material was monitored by a UV detector (Jasco UV-2075 with a preparative flow cell (Gross-Umstadt, Germany)). The detection wavelength was 320 nm. Chromatographic separations were performed on a stainless steel column (KNAUER, 250 \times 20 mm, Eurospher-100 C18, 10 μ m (Berlin, Germany)). The mobile phase used consisted of water (solvent A) and methanol/water (7:3 (v/v), solvent B). To both solvents (A and B) 0.8 ml/liter formic acid was added. Samples were injected at 5% B for 2,3-DKG-Q and at 35% B for 3-DGal-Q and purified under isocratic conditions.

 $\it NMR$ Spectroscopy—NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian VXR 400 spectrometer operating at 400 MHz for $^{1}\rm H$ and 100 MHz for $^{13}\rm C$ or on a Varian Unity Inova 500 instrument operating at 500 MHz for $^{1}\rm H$ and 125 MHz for $^{13}\rm C$, respectively. Chemical shifts are given relative to external SiMe₄.

Accurate Mass Determination (High Resolution MS)—The high resolution positive and negative ion electrospray ionization mass spectra (electrospray ionization-high resolution MS) were taken on a Bruker Apex III Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics, Billerica, MA) equipped with an Infinity cell, a 7.0-tesla superconducting magnet, a radio frequency-only hexapole ion guide, and an external off-axis electrospray source (Apollo; Agilent, Santa

28678 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

SASBMB VOLUME 289•NUMBER 41•OCTOBER 10, 2014

TABLE 1	
LC-MS/MS parameters for guinoxaline guanti	tation

Quinovaline and letter	Retention	Precur	sor ion	Pr	oduct ion	1^a	Pre	oduct ion	2^{b}	Pre	oduct ion	3^b
assignment (see Fig. 2)	time	m/z	DP^{c}	m/z	CE^d	CXP^e	m/z	CE	CXP	m/z	CE	CXP
	min	amu ^f	V	ати	eV	V	ати	eV	V	amu	eV	V
2,3-DKG (a)	9.5	265.1	40	185.1	23.0	11.0	221.1	17.0	17.0	161.0	27.0	11.0
Glucosone (b)	9.9	251.1	55	173.1	24.0	16.0	161.1	30.0	13.0	233.2	19.0	16.0
Oxalic acid (c)	10.5	162.9	70	90.1	42.0	15.0	145.1	25.0	10.0	117.1	31.0	7.0
Pentosone (d)	11.2	221.1	50	173.1	22.0	14.0	161.0	27.0	13.0	132.1	45.0	10.0
1-DG (e)	11.9	235.2	55	175.1	28.0	12.0	187.1	27.0	11.0	217.2	18.0	16.0
DHA (f)	12.0	247.1	55	229.0	18.0	20.0	185.3	20.0	15.0	171.1	33.0	10.0
3-DG (g)	13.9	235.2	55	199.1	24.0	17.0	145.0	31.0	9.0	157.1	12.0	30.0
Threosone (h)	14.0	191.2	45	173.1	17.5	14.0	144.1	37.0	11.0	161.2	24.0	12.0
1-DP (<i>i</i>)	16.8	205.1	50	187.1	21.0	14.0	145.1	27.0	12.0	169.2	30.0	11.0
Glyoxylic acid (j)	17.1	147.1	65	129.0	26.5	9.0	119.1	30.0	10.0	102.1	39.0	8.5
3-DP (k)	17.1	205.1	50	187.2	19.5	10.0	158.1	34.0	14.0	174.1	32.5	13.0
Lederer's glucosone	18.4	363.3	65	187.1	27.0	16.0	159.1	29.0	10.0	219.1	24.0	12.0
3-DT (l)	19.2	175.1	55	157.2	24.0	10.0	129.2	35.0	9.0	145.0	25.5	10.0
DHA precursor (m)	19.5	355.3	52	109.2	19.0	8.0	247.2	15.0	16.0	337.2	15.0	12.0
Pyruvic acid (n)	19.5	160.9	60	133.1	28.0	10.0	91.9	40.0	7.0	64.9	54.0	11.0
Pyruvic acid- ¹³ C ₂	19.5	163.1	60	134.0	28.0	10.0	92.1	40.0	7.0	64.9	54.0	11.0
1-DT (0)	19.6	175.1	45	157.1	22.0	7.0	156.1	35.0	15.0	89.1	55.0	5.0
3,4-DDP (<i>p</i>)	20.5	189.1	55	171.2	25.0	15.0	145.1	25.0	11.0	102.1	52.0	16.0
GO(q)	20.9	131.1	32	77.0	40.0	6.0	104.0	30.0	8.0			
MGO (r)	22.3	145.0	50	77.0	41.0	5.0	118.1	30.5	7.0	65.0	45.0	5.0

^a MRM transition used for quantitation (quantifier).
 ^b MRM transition used for confirmation (qualifier).
 ^c DP, declustering potential.

^d CE, collision energy.
 ^e CXP, collision cell exit potential.
 ^f amu, atomic mass units.

Clara, CA). Nitrogen was used as a drying gas at 150 °C. The samples were dissolved in methanol, and the solutions were introduced continuously via a syringe pump at a flow rate of 120 μ l/h. The data were acquired with 256,000 data points and zero-filled to 1,024,000 by averaging 32 scans.

High Performance Liquid Chromatography with Coupled Ultraviolet-Mass Spectrometry Detection (LC-UV-MS/MS)-The HPLC apparatus (Jasco, Gross-Umstadt, Germany) consisted of a pump (PU-2080 Plus) with degasser (LG-2080-02) and quaternary gradient mixer (LG-2080-04), a column oven (Jasco Jetstream II), an autosampler (AS-2057 Plus), and a UV detector (UV-2075). Mass spectrometric detection was conducted on an API 4000 QTrap LC-MS/MS system (Applied Biosystems/MDS Sciex, Concord, Canada) equipped with a turbo ion spray source using electrospray ionization in positive mode: sprayer capillary voltage, 4.5 kV; nebulizing gas flow, 50 ml/min; heating gas, 60 ml/min at 550 °C; and curtain gas, 40 ml/min.

Chromatographic separation was performed on a stainless steel column packed with RP-18 material (KNAUER, 250×4.6 mm, Eurospher-100 C18, 5 µm (Berlin, Germany)) using a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The mobile phase used was water (solvent A) and methanol/water (7:3 (v/v), solvent B). To both solvents (A and B), 0.6 ml/liter heptafluorobutyric acid was added. Analysis was performed at 25 °C column temperature using gradient elution: 5% B (0 – 0.1 min) to 35% B (0.5 min) to 47% B (12 min) to 100% B (17-25 min). For mass spectrometric detection, the scheduled multiple-reaction monitoring mode was used, utilizing collisioninduced dissociation (CID) of the protonated molecules with compound-specific orifice potentials and fragment-specific collision energies (Table 1). Quantitation was performed using the standard addition method. More precisely, increasing concentrations of authentic α -DC-O reference compounds at factors of 0.5, 1, 2, and 3 times the concentration of the analyte in the sample were added

OCTOBER 10, 2014 • VOLUME 289 • NUMBER 41

SASBMB

to separate aliquots of the sample after the workup procedure. The aliquots were analyzed, and a regression of response versus concentration is used to determine the concentration of the analyte in the sample. Spikes were run for one of approximately every 30 samples. Calibration with this method resolves potential matrix interferences. Potential losses during the workup procedure and intrabatch changes of instrument sensitivity were corrected with pyruvic acid- ${}^{13}\tilde{C_2}$ as an internal standard.

To obtain fragmentation spectra of α -DCs-Q in plasma workup solutions, target material was first enriched by repeated collection from the above HPLC system. After solvent evaporation in a vacuum concentrator (Savant SpeedVac Plus SC 110 A combined with a Vapor Trap RVT 400, Thermo Fisher Scientific GmbH (Dreieich, Germany)), the residue was dissolved in water and reinjected, using a CID experiment. The fragmentation spectra of the authentic references were obtained with the same parameters. For 1-DG-Q, the following parameters were used: declustering potential, 50 V; collision energy, 30 eV; collision cell exit potential, 10 V; scan range, m/z 130-250 (4 s). All plasma workup samples and incubations were analyzed in single batches to exclude interassay variations.

Validation of the Quantitation Method-Intraassay coefficients of variation were determined by repeated workup and analysis of a plasma sample (n = 6). In addition, the limit of detection and limit of quantitation with all steps of the analysis included were estimated according to DIN 32645 (n = 6, confidence level p = 0.95, k = 3) (44). To determine recovery rates, the respective alpha-DCs-Q were added at four different concentrations to three parallel sets of blood samples of one subject. The native and the spiked plasma sample were subjected to the assay of α -DCs in plasma as described above. The recovery rate was estimated as the quotient of (spiked a-DC-Q amount – amount α -DC-Q in native plasma sample)/amount of added α -DC-Q \times 100%.

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 28679

RESULTS

 α -Dicarbonyl Compounds in Blood Plasma of Healthy Human Subjects and Hemodialysis Patients—Plasma was obtained from 15 healthy subjects with normal renal function and no proteinuria and 24 uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD patients). Details are given in Table 2. Normal renal function was defined as a serum creatinine level below 102 μ mol/liter. To ensure the absence of inflammatory reactions, C-reactive protein had to be 5 μ mol/liter or below for all healthy subjects.

After derivatization of target α -DCs to the respective quinoxalines and separation from the protein residue, the plasma samples were subjected to the described LC-MS/MS method. All plasma workup samples of controls and HD patients were each analyzed in single batches to exclude interassay variations. Intraassay coefficients of variation were determined by independent analyses of three different blood samples for each subject and were <10% in all cases. The results are presented in Table 3.

In selected cases, the identity of the detected compounds in plasma was confirmed by comparison of the native fragmentation spectrum with authentic reference standards. The results were in full compliance and are exemplarily shown for 1-DG-Q in Fig. 1. The protonated molecular ion $[M + H]^+$ at m/z 235.2 is expected to undergo dehydration to the ion at m/z 217.2 and 199.2. Subsequent decay leads to signals at m/z 191.0, 187.1, 175.1, 171.2, and 158.1.

TABLE 2

Profile of subjects examined in this study

,	,		
	Healthy subjects	HD patients	
No. of participants	15	24	
Sex, female/male	6/9	6/18	
Age (years)	24-34	30-85	
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	37 ± 2	40 ± 17	
Serum creatinine (µmol/liter)	82 ± 13	861 ± 322	
C-reactive protein (mg/liter)	<5	11 ± 21	

Development of an LC-MS/MS Method for 17 Relevant Dicarbonyl Compounds as Their Corresponding Quinoxalines—The complex matrix and the low concentration of most target analytes hamper the use of UV detectors for qualitative and quantitative analysis. Tandem mass spectrometric detection in the multiple-reaction monitoring mode was prerequisite for the detection of the 17 relevant α -DCs in blood plasma. To achieve highly sensitive detection utilizing collision-induced dissociation of the protonated molecules, the compound-specific orifice potentials and fragment-specific collision energies had to be determined by authentic reference material (Table 1).

HPLC separation was based on a RP-18 phase with methanol as the organic eluent. Optimization of gradient, column temperature, and ion pair reagent led to almost baseline separation of all critical quinoxalines possessing the same molecular weight, which therefore could not be distinguished via MS detection (1-DG-Q versus 3-DG-Q versus 4-DG-Q versus 3-DGal-Q, 1-DP-Q versus 3-DP-Q, 1-DT-Q versus 3-DT-Q). Fig. 2 shows the typical chromatogram of a plasma sample after derivatization with OPD.

Verification of the Derivatization Procedure—The reactivity of α -DCs required conversion into stable quinoxaline derivatives. After the blood sample is drawn from the living subject, the complex system blood is prone to significant alterations regarding its biological activity and chemical composition, especially under exposure to oxygen. Immediate plasma generation and instant start of the derivatization procedure under well defined conditions is therefore prerequisite for reproducible quantitative results.

To prevent underestimation of rather slow reacting compounds, OPD was chosen as the derivatization agent. It has a comparatively high conversion rate of α -DCs to the respective quinoxaline derivatives. To ensure complete derivatization, selected native α -DCs (GO, MGO, glyoxylic acid, pyruvic acid, oxalic acid, and 3-DG) were incubated with OPD under stan-

TABLE 3

Levels of all relevant α -dicarbonyl compounds in human blood plasma

Values shown are the mean \pm S.D. of 15 healthy subjects and 24 patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD patients), replicate analyses, n = 3. Student's *t* test was used for statistical evaluation of significant differences between both groups: *, p < 0.01 versus healthy subjects; **, p < 0.001 versus healthy subjects.

3
3
35
4
80

^{*a*} $LOD < \times < LOQ$

 b The sum of DHA-Q and DHA precursor-Q account for approximately 38% of the true DHA content. c Values adjusted as described under "Disussion."

Values adjusted as described under "Disus

28680 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

```
SASBMB
```

VOLUME 289•NUMBER 41•OCTOBER 10, 2014





FIGURE 1. Verification of 1-DG by CID of m/z 235.2 [M + H]⁺. A, authentic reference; B, plasma workup.





FIGURE 2. LC-MS/MS chromatogram of a plasma sample after standard workup procedure. For clarity, only the quantifier mass transition for each analyte of the scheduled multiple-reaction monitoring is shown. For *letter* assignments (*a*-*r*), see Table 1.

dard assay conditions, and the formation of respective quinoxalines was monitored between 0.5 and 48 h. The results presented in Fig. 3 revealed complete reaction (\pm 5%) within 11 h, with the short-chained substances reacting much more rapidly, which is in accordance with our previous findings (36). The exception was oxalic acid, which showed no reaction with OPD. Furthermore, the stability of all quinoxaline compounds included in our method was monitored with authentic references under the derivatization conditions for 24 h. No degradation was observed.

In addition, the derivatization of a plasma sample was monitored by repeated injection of aliquots and LC-MS/MS analyses of the complete α -DC spectrum. Besides the risk of under-

OCTOBER 10, 2014 · VOLUME 289 · NUMBER 41

SASBMB

FIGURE 3. Reactions of selected dicarbonyl compounds with OPD in formate buffer (0.4 m, pH 3.0) at room temperature: 3-DG (\blacklozenge), MGO (\spadesuit), GO (\blacksquare), pyruvic acid (\P), glyoxylic acid (\blacktriangle), and oxalic acid (*hexagons*).

estimation of α -DCs in trace amounts, avoiding overestimation of certain dicarbonyl quinoxalines is an even bigger challenge. For example, *de novo* formation of glucosone-Q and GO-Q during derivatization with OPD are described in the literature (22, 36, 45). The main reasons are the strong oxidative conditions imposed on the system by the addition of OPD in combination with oxygen and trace amounts of metal ions. However, with our derivatization procedure, a stable plateau for all analytes was reached within the relevant incubation time, indicating no or negligible *de novo* formation in the plasma matrix. In this regard, it is important to note that the incubation took place under argon atmosphere to minimize the impact of oxygen. Furthermore, EDTA as a metal ion-chelating agent was present in the assay.

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 28681

 α -Dicarbonyl Compounds in Vivo



FIGURE 4. Degradation of 3-DG-Q at pH 0.6 (*open symbols*) and pH 3.0 (*closed symbols*): 3-DG (♦), 3-DGal (●), and 3,4-DGE (▲).

The plasma samples were diluted in formate buffer (pH 3.0). McLellan and Thornalley (31) applied different derivatization procedures to biological systems and discovered significant interferences from G3P and DHAP by spontaneous elimination of phosphate to form MGO during sample processing, depending on the chosen pH value. The rate of reaction increased with increasing pH. To avoid the degradation of G3P and DHAP, we conducted the derivatization step under strong acidic conditions with perchloric acid. However, under these harsh conditions, we discovered significant degradation of 3-DG-Q, 1-DP-Q, 3-DT-Q, and threosone-Q (data not shown). Especially 3-DG-Q with a half-life of 80 h was rapidly degraded to form the diastereomer 3-DGal-Q (Fig. 4). Mittelmaier et al. (46) already investigated the formation of 3-DGal in peritoneal dialysis fluids under sterilization conditions. They postulated a reaction mechanism that includes a reversible dehydration of free 3-DG leading to 3,4-dideoxyglucosone-3-ene (3,4-DGE). Subsequently, 3,4-DGE undergoes hydration to form 3-DGal. Obviously, this type of reaction also takes place with the corresponding quinoxalines under harsh acidic assay conditions. Whereas with the native α -DC, the carbonyl moiety is the driving force, with the quinoxaline, it is the extension of conjugated unsaturation

We monitored the degradation of 3-DG-Q in sodium formate solution at different pH values (data not shown). Based on our findings, we chose more gentle conditions and employed a formate buffer (0.4 M, pH 3.0). Here, no degradation of 3-DG-Q at 21 °C for 48 h was observed. In addition, formation of MGO caused by oxidative degradation of nucleic acids and related compounds during the derivatization process is accelerated by strong acids like perchloric acid but negligible with milder acidic treatment (47, 48).

To ensure reliable MGO quantitation with the method described herein, we conducted control experiments at different pH conditions with 100 and 200 μ M concentrations of G3P and DHAP, respectively (Table 4). The chosen concentrations were based on the experiments conducted by McLellan and Thornalley (31). The conversion rate at pH 3.0 after 24 h in mol % was below 2% for G3P and below 8% for DHAP, independent from the starting concentration of both. The minor interfer-

28682 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

TABLE 4

Conversion rate in mol % of G3P and DHAP, respectively, to MGO over an incubation period of 24 h in the indicated medium in presence of 0.55 mM OPD and 3.4 mM EDTA

	G	3P	DHAP		
	100 µ м	200 µм	100 µм	200 μm	
	ma	d %	ma	ol %	
pH <0; 0.4 м perchloric acid	21.3	21.2	8.5	8.3	
pH 3.0; 0.4 м sodium formate buffer	1.4	1.5	7.7	7.6	
pH 7.0; 0.4 M potassium phosphate	18.3	19.8	96.6	98.6	



FIGURE 5. Reaction of DHA with OPD in formate buffer (0.4 M, pH 3.0) at room temperature yields DHA precursor-Q (\bigcirc), DHA-Q (\bigcirc), and 2,3-DKG-Q (\blacktriangle).

ences found were inevitable, and the results were comparable with the well established method of McLellan. To ensure the absence of contaminants in water or chemicals used in the assay possibly leading to overestimation, a reactant blank was incubated along with the plasma samples.

Mechanistic Relationship of DHA, 2,3-DKG, and Their Corresponding Quinoxalines under Assay Conditions-Investigation of the derivatization reaction of DHA in sodium formate buffer (0.4 M, pH 3.0) with OPD (0.55 mM) gave rather surprising results shown in Fig. 5 and in the scheme in Fig. 6. Initially, a precursor compound (DHA precursor-Q) with two molecules of OPD was formed. The precursor then converted to DHA-Q. However, after 24 h, no plateau was reached, and the precursor compound was still detectable in significant amounts. A quantitative reaction of DHA with OPD was only achieved after more than 6 days, which is not feasible for the present analytical assessment. In addition, oxidative conditions imposed by OPD lead to formation of DHA from ASA. When 20 $\mu{\rm M}$ ASA was incubated under assay conditions, 50 mol % of the ASA was converted to DHA-Q after 6 days, whereas after 24 h, de novo formation of DHA-Q from ASA was negligible (<2%).

In contrast, conversion of 2,3-DKG to its corresponding quinoxaline is completed after 8 h (data not shown). Obviously, DHA is the least reactive of all α -DCs assessed (with the exception of oxalic acid). Consequently, it is important to note that the plasma levels of DHA-Q and DHA precursor-Q given in Table 3 have to be added and account for \sim 38% of the true DHA plasma content.

To monitor the conversion of DHA precursor-Q to DHA-Q, the precursor was synthesized independently. The authentic

SASBMB VOLUME 289•NUMBER 41•OCTOBER 10, 2014





FIGURE 8. Degradation of 2,3-DKG-Q (▲) under standard workup conditions yields DHA-Q (●).

DKG-Q were detected (7%). A reverse reaction of the quinoxalines to form free DHA with subsequent hydrolytic opening of the lactone ring system to yield 2,3-DKG and its corresponding quinoxaline 2,3-DKG-Q can be excluded. Thus, DHA-Q has to be hydrolyzed slowly to form 2,3-DKG-Q directly. To further investigate the relationship of the two quinoxalines, 2,3-DKG-Q was incubated under assay conditions, including the protein precipitation step with TFA after 24 h. The results in Fig. 8 show conversion of 2,3-DKG-Q to DHA-Q, which was significantly triggered at the lower pH during the 1-h precipitation step. 2,3-DKG-Q yields ~25% DHA-Q after the complete workup procedure. Obviously, there is a steady state between DHA-Q and 2,3-DKG-Q with preferred DHA-Q formation as the more stable product under acidic conditions.

Validation of the Proposed Method—The limit of detection and limit of quantitation with all steps of the analytical method included were calculated as described under "Experimental Procedures." The limit of detection differs from 0.5 to 42.2 pmol/liter. The accuracy of the method was determined as the recovery rate at three different concentration levels and ranged between 82 and 120%. Repeatability was expressed as the coefficient of variation and was 10% or better. The complete validation data are shown in Table 5.

DISCUSSION

vield (%)

Up to now, only GO, MGO, 3-DG, and DHA were quantitated in human plasma using established methods, although the spectrum of α -DCs *in vivo* is supposed to be far more complex. Major endogenous sources are the degradation of blood glucose and ascorbic acid. As a result, the corresponding degradation products already identified in model experiments should also be present *in vivo*. Beyond that, lipid peroxidation as well as enzymatic and non-enzymatic pathways irrespective of Maillard reactions contribute to the content of α -DCs. It is speculated that even exogenous sources like foods add to the plasma level of α -DCs.

Because derivatization with OPD is prone to both underestimation of α -DC levels and *de novo* formation during the derivatization procedure, recovery levels for each compound

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 28683

FIGURE 6. Mechanistic relationship of DHA, 2,3-DKG, and their corresponding derivatization products.



FIGURE 7. Formation of DHA-Q (\bullet) and 2,3-DKG-Q (\triangle) starting from DHA precursor-Q (\bigcirc) under standard workup conditions.

reference DHA precursor-Q was then incubated under assay conditions (Fig. 7). A half-life of 5 h was observed. After 24 h, 81% of DHA precursor-Q was converted to DHA-Q. Residual amounts of DHA precursor-Q (10% based on initial concentration) remained and had to be considered for the calculation of DHA concentration. Interestingly, also small amounts of 2,3-

OCTOBER 10, 2014 · VOLUME 289 · NUMBER 41

SASBMB

TABLE 5

Coefficient of variation (CV), recovery rates, limit of detection (LOD), and limit of quantitation (LOQ) (all steps of the analysis included) of plasma samples

Quinoxaline	CV^a	Recovery ^b	LOD^{b}	LOQ^b	
	%	%	pmol/ml	pmol/ml	
Glucosone	6	109	6.1	18.3	
1-DG	4	112	2.2	6.6	
3-DG	5	97	5.4	16.2	
Lederer's glucosone	C	114	3.5	10.5	
Pentosone	7	98	8.3	24.9	
1-DP	9	82	2.5	7.5	
3-DP	8	93	3.5	10.5	
Threosone	3	90	4.2	12.6	
1-DT	3	91	0.5	1.5	
3-DT	3	98	2.0	6.0	
MGO	8	106	3.0	9.0	
GO	9	98	6.9	20.7	
Pyruvic acid	2	99	14.1	42.3	
Glyoxylic acid	4	92	42.2	126.6	
Oxalic acid	7	89	6.8	20.4	
3,4-DDP	3	110	0.8	2.4	
DHA precursor	d	d	2.9	8.7	
DHA	10	91	22.9	68.7	
2,3-DKG	6	119	6.1	18.3	

^{*a*} Repeatability conditions, n = 6^{*b*} Replicate analyses, n = 3.

^c Estimation not possible because analyte was below the limit of detection

^d Estimation not possible because compound is the intermediate in DHA-Q formation

were thoroughly evaluated, and conversion conditions were kept strictly constant. A blank was prepared for each derivatization set to monitor the quality of all incorporated reagents. The derivatization period was adjusted to provide quantitative conversion of all α -DCs except DHA and oxalic acid, which will be discussed below. The sample deproteinization step by the addition of TFA was kept as short as possible. Immediately after protein separation, the pH was adjusted to pH 3.0 again. Under these conditions, even critical quinoxaline structures like 3-DG-Q proved to be stable, and oxidative degradation of G3P and DHAP, which will lead to overestimation of MGO, were avoided.

 α -DCs are known to exhibit a high reactivity toward N-terminal amino acids and amino acid residues of proteins, especially to the sulfhydryl group of cysteine, the guanidino group of arginine, and the $\epsilon\text{-}\mathrm{amino}$ group of lysine. Because these amino functionalities are readily available in excess in human blood plasma, we reason that nearly all α -DCs are bound reversibly or irreversibly to these residues. In the case of MGO, in vitro experiments of Lo et al. (49) showed that only 1% exists in a free form. The reversibly bound MGO is in a dynamic equilibrium with its free form and can be measured by trapping with OPD (50, 51). Therefore, our approach included the separation of the high molecular plasma fraction only after the derivatization procedure to cover the total amount of free and reversibly bound α -DCs in a reliable way. Although, the definition of "reversibly bound α -DCs" remains the object of critical discussion (48) because some reversible reactions under assay conditions might be instead irreversible under physiological conditions, the good validation results proved the reliability of the newly developed workup and derivatization procedure.

The formation of MGO in physiological systems was studied extensively in the literature, reviewed recently by Rabbani and Thornalley (16). The enzymatic and spontaneous degradation

28684 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

of the triose phosphates G3P and DHAP are known sources for MGO. Oxidation of acetone in the catabolism of ketone bodies, oxidation of aminoacetone in the catabolism of threonine, degradation of proteins glycated by glucose, and degradation of ASA also contribute to the total plasma content of MGO. GO is formed by DNA oxidation, lipid peroxidation (52), sugar autoxidation (53), and oxidative degradation of glycated proteins (11). GO and MGO are both detoxified mainly by the glyoxalase system with glutathione as a cofactor to give glycolate and lactate, respectively (55). Because C2- and C3-fragments originate by various non-enzymatic and enzymatic pathways besides the breakdown of glucose and ASA, they must be evaluated as very vague parameters from the mechanistic point of view. The same applies for pyruvic acid as a central intermediate in several metabolic processes, which explains its high concentration in plasma.

The C_{e} -dicarbonyl compound glucosone and its analogues 1-DG and 3-DG do not arise from ascorbate degradation and therefore are markers for glucose-derived α -DCs in the context of Maillard chemistry (see scheme in Fig. 9). 3-DG is formed non-oxidatively from the Amadori product of glucose via 1,2enolization and dehydration, whereas 2,3-enolization yields 1-DG (56). Oxidation of the Amadori compound leads to glucosone (37). Besides from the Maillard reaction, an important endogenous route leading to 3-DG formation from glucose is the enzymatic polyol pathway (57). Although the bioconversion of glucose into glucosone by pyranose oxidase for synthetic purposes is described in the literature (58), no such enzymatic pathway has been identified *in vivo* so far.

3-DG is reviewed in the literature as the most abundant C₆-dicarbonyl in vivo (59) but possesses only a very limited glycating reactivity (37). Thus, the chemistry of 3-DG has to be considered as of minor relevance regarding Maillard processes under physiological conditions. This is supported by the fact that 3-DG-derived AGEs (e.g. N^{δ} -[5-hydro-5-(2,3,4trihydroxybutyl)-4-imidazolon-2-yl]ornithine (3-DG-H1), 6-(2formyl-5-hydroxymethyl-1-pyrrolyl)-l-norleucine (pyrraline), and N^{ϵ} -{2-{[(4S)-4-ammonio-5-oxido-5-oxopentyl]amino}-5-[(2S,3R)-2,3,4-trihydroxybutyl]-3,5-dihydro-4H-imidazol-4ylidene}-l-lysinate (DODIC or DOGDIC)) are only of minor quantitative importance in blood plasma. 1-DG and glucosone were identified as the central intermediates leading to C4- and C₅-fragments, respectively (60). Their reductone structure with an α -oxo-enediol moiety boasts significantly higher reactivity. More generally, this applies to all analog C4- and C5-dicarbonyls. As reported before, the half-life of 1-DG is about 0.5 h under physiological conditions (61) versus 8 h for glucosone (37) and 40 h for 3-DG (36). Hence, 1-DG is by far the most reactive and thus important α -DC intermediate regarding glucose-derived AGEs. In particular, amine-induced β -cleavage in the presence of lysine leads directly to carboxylic acid amides, a novel class of amide-AGEs (14, 62) that are of quantitative importance in vivo (9).

Lederer's glucosone was not detected in the plasma of healthy subjects, although it is a relative stable non-reductone structure like 3-DG. However, unlike 3-DG, the required enolization along the entire carbon backbone makes this α -DC susceptible to multiple degradation processes. The existence of

SASBMB vo

VOLUME 289•NUMBER 41•OCTOBER 10, 2014



Lederer's glucosone *in vivo* is evident from the detection of its AGE follow-up structure glucosepane at low levels in human blood and extracellular matrix (63, 64).

DHA is a C₆-dicarbonyl structure exclusively assigned to the degradation of ASA, formed by oxidation. As mentioned above, the DHA level in plasma can only be roughly estimated by the analytical assay described herein, mainly because of the incomplete conversion to its corresponding quinoxaline in the given time period. However, DHA in aqueous solution hydrolyzes irreversibly to 2,3-DKG, which is the central intermediate of ASA degradation (65). Therefore, it is important to differentiate between DHA as part of the redox equilibrium ASA-DHA, mediated *in vivo* by enzymatic pathways, and 2,3-DKG as the direct precursor of fragmentation products with a carbon backbone smaller than $\rm C_{6}.$

The yields of 2,3-DKG-Q from DHA in Fig. 5 and from DHA precursor-Q in Fig. 7 after 24 h were almost equal, which certainly excludes *de novo* formation of 2,3-DKG via hydrolyzation

OCTOBER 10, 2014 · VOLUME 289 · NUMBER 41

of DHA. In addition, we confirmed that ASA and DHA did not yield any C₄- or C₅-dicarbonyl degradation compounds during the incubation period. Indeed, the plasma level of 2,3-DKG can be estimated fairly accurately, taking into account the comprehensively investigated relationship of DHA-Q and 2,3-DKG-Q under assay conditions. Based on our results, 6.5% of DHA-Q was converted to 2,3-DKG-Q during the derivatization time of 24 h (Figs. 7 and 8). On the other hand, 25% of the formed 2,3-DKG-Q was converted to DHA-Q. The values given in Table 3 for 2,3-DKG are already adjusted accordingly. The adjustments described above are only valid if DHA-Q is in significant excess, which is given by the situation in blood plasma. Only in this case, the change in DHA-Q level due to the conversion is negligible compared with that of 2,3-DKG-Q.

 α -DCs with a carbon skeleton smaller than C_6 arise from the degradation of glucose as well as of ASA. As established in previous papers of our group (39, 66), the C_4 -dicarbonyls threosone, 1-DT, and 3-DT are formed from both 1-DG and

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 28685

SASBMB

2,3-DKG via β -dicarbonyl cleavage with an C_4 -enediol as the reactive intermediate. Oxidation of the latter leads to threosone, whereas dehydration at C3 results in 3-DT. The enediol may also undergo isomerization to give 1-DT in an equivalent reaction. As a consequence under deaeration, which represents the situation *in vivo*, 3-DT was the prominent structure because the reductone 1-DT has to be considered a much more reactive and, thus, short lived intermediate.

It has to be noted that differentiation between l-threo-pentos-2-ulose (arising from ASA and often referred to as xylosone) and the C4-stereoisomer D-erythro-pentos-2-ulose (arising from glucose) was not possible. For the applied LC-MS/MS method, MRM parameters were determined with L-three-pentos-2-ulose. In model incubations of glucose and lysine, a signal with retention time and mass transitions identical to those of L-threo-pentos-2-ulose was detected (data not shown). By definition, with glucose as precursor, the detected compound has to be D-erythro-pentos-2-ulose. Thus, both structures coelute and are therefore summarized under the term pentosone regardless of its origin. Yet, the plasma levels of pentosone were comparatively high and did not fit into the picture. Decarboxylation is a well established mechanism of ASA degradation and leads to C5-compounds, including pentosone (65, 67), but under physiological conditions, the formation of C₄-dicarbonyls from 2,3-DKG is favored (25, 39). Glucose-derived pentosone stems from glucosone by the same mechanism of hydrolytic β -cleavage as threosone from 1-DG as the precursor. After isomerization and hydration, formic acid is cleaved off and gives an C_5 -1,2-enediol as the reactive intermediate. Oxidation leads to pentosone, whereas water elimination yields 3-DP or, after 2,3-enolization, 1-DP (60). Considering the need for an oxidation step in order to obtain pentosone from both 2,3-DKG or glucosone, formation of 1-DP and 3-DP should be favored. The results therefore strongly suggest an additional alternative source for pentosone formation in vivo.

In Maillard chemistry, glyoxylic acid is assigned to disaccharide chemistry (38) but can also arise from oxidation of glyoxal (68) and degradation of DHA (65, 69). However, this cannot account solely for the plasma levels, which were 2.5-fold higher than GO and in the same range as 2,3-DKG. An alternative source is the degradation of hydroxyproline with the subsequent glyoxylate metabolism in the human organism, which is rather complex, involving several enzymatic and non-enzymatic reactions, and has been subject to recent investigation (54).

Oxalic acid can originate via β -dicarbonyl fragmentation as well as via oxidative α -DC cleavage from 2,3-DKG and is the main degradation product of the latter (39). In addition, oxalate is also part of the glyoxylate metabolism mentioned above. However, under assay conditions, the dicarboxylic acid oxalic acid is not converted to its corresponding quinoxaline. This is expected, because at the chosen workup pH, the carboxylic acid groups do not show sufficient carbonyl activity to react with OPD. Consequently, there must be alternative precursors for oxalic acid-Q formation to oxalic acid itself. 3,4-DDP is a known intermediate of maltose degradation but was found in neither the glucose nor ASA reaction systems (38). Hence, the origin of the detected 3,4-DDP-Q remains unknown.

28686 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

The presented LC-MS/MS method provides for the first time the opportunity to identify and quantitate the complete spectrum of relevant α -DCs in plasma of healthy human subjects in a single chromatographic run. For 14 compounds, the plasma levels were determined. Three compounds were below the limit of quantitation but were unequivocally identified. 10 substances have not been reported for human plasma samples before. To evaluate the clinical relevance of the assay described herein, an initial set of 24 uremic patients undergoing hemodialysis was analyzed. Uremia is related to an increase in oxidative and carbonyl stress and thus should lead to a clear shift in the dicarbonyl spectrum. Indeed, most α -DCs were considerably higher in HD patients. Glucose-derived glucosone exhibited a 2-fold increase, which is expected under conditions of elevated oxidative stress. In contrast, 1-DG does not require an oxidation step for its formation and remained nearly at the level of healthy subjects. Interestingly, plasma levels of 2,3-DKG were considerably decreased in HD patients. This must be explained by a significantly accelerated degradation via oxidative pathways. GO and MGO are further compounds of published interest in regard to certain chronic diseases like uremia. A 3-fold elevation of GO and a 4-fold increase of MGO were observed in uremic plasma. This is in line with the literature (27, 29, 32), although the absolute values differ significantly, depending on the respective study. The assessment of α -DC plasma levels depends strongly on the analytical approach, specifically on workup conditions, derivatization procedure, and chromatographic method. Most importantly, the derivatization was conducted in the presence of protein to assess both free and reversibly bound α -DCs. Therefore, a direct comparison of the plasma levels of the present study and those reported previously is not possible.

Nevertheless, validation of the present method for the detection of α -DC compounds in plasma has been carried out extensively regarding the formation of artifacts and mechanistic relationships to exclude false quantitative data. In general, the elevated levels of α -DCs found explain the elevated levels of AGEs in uremia. The newly developed method has now to be extended to follow-up studies with patients with various complications. The results for a wide range of highly reactive carbonyl intermediates will help us to understand the complex mechanisms and factors that influence α -DC formation and consequently open new perspectives regarding the formation and relevance of AGE chemistry *in vivo*.

Acknowledgment—We thank Dr. J. Schmidt (Leibnitz Institute of Plant Biochemistry, Halle, Germany) for performing accurate mass determination.

REFERENCES

- Monnier, V. M., Mustata, G. T., Biemel, K. L., Reihl, O., Lederer, M. O., Zhenyu, D., and Sell, D. R. (2005) Cross-linking of the extracellular matrix by the maillard reaction in aging and diabetes: an update on "a puzzle nearing resolution". *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1043, 533–544
- Baynes, J. W. (2001) The role of AGEs in aging: causation or correlation. Exp. Gerontol. 36, 1527–1537
- Tessier, F. J., and Birlouez-Aragon, I. (2012) Health effects of dietary Maillard reaction products: the results of ICARE and other studies. *Amino*

SASBMB

Acids **42**, 1119–1131

- Degenhardt, T. P., Brinkmann-Frye, E., Thorpe, S. R., and Baynes, J. W. (1998) Role of carbonyl stress in aging and age-related diseases. in *The Maillard Reaction in Foods and Medicine* (O'Brien, J., ed) pp. 3–10, Royal Society of Chemistry, London
- Hamada, Y., Araki, N., Koh, N., Nakamura, J., Horiuchi, S., and Hotta, N. (1996) Rapid formation of advanced glycation end products by intermediate metabolites of glycolytic pathway and polyol pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 228, 539–543
- Sell, D. R., Lapolla, A., Odetti, P., Fogarty, J., and Monnier, V. M. (1992) Pentosidine formation in skin correlates with severity of complications in individuals with long-standing IDDM. *Diabetes* 41, 1286–1292
- McCance, D. R., Dyer, D. G., Dunn, J. A., Bailie, K. E., Thorpe, S. R., Baynes, J. W., and Lyons, T. J. (1993) Maillard reaction products and their relation to complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J. Clin. Invest.* 91, 2470–2478
- Sugiyama, S., Miyata, T., Ueda, Y., Tanaka, H., Maeda, K., Kawashima, S., Van Ypersele de Strihou, C., and Kurokawa, K. (1998) Plasma levels of pentosidine in diabetic patients: an advanced glycation end product. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 9, 1681–1688
- Henning, C., Smuda, M., Girndt, M., Ulrich, C., and Glomb, M. A. (2011) Molecular basis of maillard amide-advanced glycation end product (AGE) formation *in vivo. J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 44350–44356
- Baynes, J. W., and Thorpe, S. R. (1999) Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications: a new perspective on an old paradigm. *Diabetes* 48, 1–9
- Glomb, M. A., and Monnier, V. M. (1995) Mechanism of protein modification by glyoxal and glycolaldehyde, reactive intermediates of the Maillard reaction. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 10017–10026
- 12. Glomb, M. A., and Lang, G. (2001) Isolation and characterization of glyoxal-arginine modifications. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **49**, 1493–1501
- Smuda, M., and Glomb, M. A. (2013) Fragmentation pathways during Maillard-induced carbohydrate degradation. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61, 10198-10208
- Smuda, M., Voigt, M., and Glomb, M. A. (2010) Degradation of 1-deoxy-D-erythro-hexo-2,3-diulose in the presence of lysine leads to formation of carboxylic acid amides. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 58, 6458–6464
- Ahmed, N., and Thornalley, P. J. (2002) Chromatographic assay of glycation adducts in human serum albumin glycated *in vitro* by derivatization with 6-aminoquinolyl-*N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate and intrinsic fluorescence. *Biochem. J.* 364, 15–24
- Rabbani, N., and Thornalley, P. J. (2012) Methylglyoxal, glyoxalase 1 and the dicarbonyl proteome. *Amino Acids* 42, 1133–1142
- Linden, T., Musi, B., Järkelid, L., Forsbäck, G., Kjellstrand, P., Deppisch, R., and Wieslander, A. (2001) Glucose degradation products in peritoneal dialysis fluids may have both local and systemic effects: a study of residual fluid and mesothelial cells. *Perit. Dial. Int.* **21**, 607–610
- Tauer, A., Bender, T. O., Fleischmann, E. H., Niwa, T., Jörres, A., and Pischetsrieder, M. (2005) Fate of the glucose degradation products 3-deoxyglucosone and glyoxal during peritoneal dialysis. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 49, 710–715
- Ankrah, N. A., and Appiah-Opong, R. (1999) Toxicity of low levels of methylglyoxal: depletion of blood glutathione and adverse effect on glucose tolerance in mice. *Toxicol. Lett.* 109, 61–67
- Degen, J., Hellwig, M., and Henle, T. (2012) 1,2-Dicarbonyl compounds in commonly consumed foods. J. Agric. Food Chem. 60, 7071–7079
- Arribas-Lorenzo, G., and Morales, F. J. (2010) Analysis, distribution, and dietary exposure of glyoxal and methylglyoxal in cookies and their relationship with other heat-induced contaminants. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 2966–2972
- 22. Gensberger, S., Mittelmaier, S., Glomb, M. A., and Pischetsrieder, M. (2012) Identification and quantification of six major α -dicarbonyl process contaminants in high-fructose corn syrup. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **403**, 2923–2931
- Schalkwijk, C. G., Posthuma, N., ten Brink, H. J., ter Wee, P. M., and Teerlink, T. (1999) Induction of 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds, intermediates in the formation of advanced glycation end-products, during heatsterilization of glucose-based peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 19, 325–333

OCTOBER 10, 2014 · VOLUME 289 · NUMBER 41

SASBMB

α -Dicarbonyl Compounds in Vivo

- Mittelmaier, S., Fünfrocken, M., Fenn, D., Berlich, R., and Pischetsrieder, M. (2011) Quantification of the six major α-dicarbonyl contaminants in peritoneal dialysis fluids by UHPLC/DAD/MSMS. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 401, 1183–1193
- 25. Nemet, I., and Monnier, V. M. (2011) Vitamin C degradation products and pathways in the human lens. J. Biol. Chem. **286**, 37128–37136
- Mirza, M. A., Kandhro, A. J., Memon, S. Q., Khuhawar, M. Y., and Arain, R. (2007) Determination of glyoxal and methylglyoxal in the serum of diabetic patients by MEKC using stilbenediamine as derivatizing reagent. *Electrophoresis* 28, 3940–3947
- 27. Odani, H., Shinzato, T., Matsumoto, Y., Usami, J., and Maeda, K. (1999) Increase in three $\alpha_i\beta$ -dicarbonyl compound levels in human uremic plasma: specific *in vivo* determination of intermediates in advanced Maillard reaction. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **256**, 89–93
- Lapolla, A., Reitano, R., Seraglia, R., Sartore, G., Ragazzi, E., and Traldi, P. (2005) Evaluation of advanced glycation end products and carbonyl compounds in patients with different conditions of oxidative stress. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 49, 685–690
- Lapolla, A., Flamini, R., Lupo, A., Aricò, N. C., Rugiu, C., Reitano, R., Tubaro, M., Ragazzi, E., Seraglia, R., and Traldi, P. (2005) Evaluation of glyoxal and methylglyoxal levels in uremic patients under peritoneal dialysis. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1043, 217–224
- Knecht, K. J., Feather, M. S., and Baynes, J. W. (1992) Detection of 3-deoxyfructose and 3-deoxyglucosone in human urine and plasma: evidence for intermediate stages of the Maillard reaction *in vivo. Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 294, 130–137
- McLellan, A. C., Phillips, S. A., and Thornalley, P. J. (1992) The assay of methylglyoxal in biological systems by derivatization with 1,2-diamino-4,5-dimethoxybenzene. *Anal. Biochem.* 206, 17–23
- Nakayama, K., Nakayama, M., Iwabuchi, M., Terawaki, H., Sato, T., Kohno, M., and Ito, S. (2008) Plasma α-oxoaldehyde levels in diabetic and nondiabetic chronic kidney disease patients. *Am. J. Nephrol.* 28, 871–878
- Lopez-Anaya, A., and Mayersohn, M. (1987) Ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids simultaneously quantified in biological fluids by liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, and comparison with a colorimetric assay. *Clin. Chem.* 33, 1874–1878
- Margolis, S. A., Ziegler, R. G., and Helzlsouer, K. J. (1991) Ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acid measurement in human serum and plasma. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 54, 13155–13185
- Lykkesfeldt, J., Loft, S., Nielsen, J. B., and Poulsen, H. E. (1997) Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid as biomarkers of oxidative stress caused by smoking. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 65, 959–963
- 36. Glomb, M. A., and Tschirnich, R. (2001) Detection of α -dicarbonyl compounds in Maillard reaction systems and *in vivo. J. Agric. Food Chem.* **49**, 5543–5550
- Gobert, J., and Glomb, M. A. (2009) Degradation of glucose: reinvestigation of reactive α-dicarbonyl compounds. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 8591–8597
- Smuda, M., and Glomb, M. A. (2011) Novel insights into the Maillard catalyzed degradation of maltose. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59, 13254–13264
- Smuda, M., and Glomb, M. A. (2013) Maillard degradation pathways of vitamin C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 52, 4887–4891
- Hellwig, M., Degen, J., and Henle, T. (2010) 3-deoxygalactosone, a "new" 1,2-dicarbonyl compound in milk products. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 10752–10760
- Henseke, G., and Bauer, C. (1959) Heterocyclische Verbindungen, V. Chinoxalinsynthesen mit Osonhydrazonen. *Chem. Ber.* 10.1002/cber.19590920236
- Ótsuka, M., Kurata, T., and Arakawa, N. (1986) Isolation and characterization of an intermediate product in the degradation of 2,3-diketo-Lgulonic acid. Agric. Biol. Chem. 50, 531–533
- Arun, V., Robinson, P. P., Manju, S., Leeju, P., Varsha, G., Digna, V., and Yusuff, K. K. M. (2009) A novel fluorescent bisazomethine dye derived from 3-hydroxyquinoxaline-2-carboxaldehyde and 2,3-diaminomaleonitrile. *Dyes Pigments* 82, 268–275
- 44. Materials Testing Standards Committee NA 062 of the Deutsches Institut fuer Normung (German Institute for Standardization) (1994) DIN 32645; Chemical Analysis: Decision Limit, Detection Limit and Determination Limit; Estimation in Case of Repeatability; Terms, Methods, Evaluation,

JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 28687

Beuth Verlag, Berlin

- Mittelmaier, S., Fünfrocken, M., Fenn, D., Fichert, T., and Pischetsrieder, M. (2010) Identification and quantification of the glucose degradation product glucosone in peritoneal dialysis fluids by HPLC/DAD/MSMS. J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 878, 877–882
- Mittelmaier, S., Fünfrocken, M., Fenn, D., and Pischetsrieder, M. (2011) 3-Deoxygalactosone, a new glucose degradation product in peritoneal dialysis fluids: identification, quantification by HPLC/DAD/MSMS and its pathway of formation. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 399, 1689–1697
- Chaplen, F. W., Fahl, W. E., and Cameron, D. C. (1996) Detection of methylglyoxal as a degradation product of DNA and nucleic acid components treated with strong acid. *Anal. Biochem.* 236, 262–269
- Chaplen, F. W., Fahl, W. E., and Cameron, D. C. (1998) Evidence of high levels of methylglyoxal in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 5533–5538
- Lo, T. W., Westwood, M. E., McLellan, A. C., Selwood, T., and Thornalley, P. J. (1994) Binding and modification of proteins by methylglyoxal under physiological conditions. A kinetic and mechanistic study with N-α-acetylarginine, N-α-acetylcysteine, and N-α-acetyllysine, and bovine serum albumin. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 32299–32305
- Dhar, A., Desai, K., Liu, J., and Wu, L. (2009) Methylglyoxal, protein binding and biological samples: are we getting the true measure? *J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci.* 877, 1093–1100
- Chaplen, F. W., Fahl, W. E., and Cameron, D. C. (1996) Method for determination of free intracellular and extracellular methylglyoxal in animal cells grown in culture. *Anal. Biochem.* 238, 171–178
- Fu, M. X., Requena, J. R., Jenkins, A. J., Lyons, T. J., Baynes, J. W., and Thorpe, S. R. (1996) The advanced glycation end product, N-ε-(carboxymethyl)lysine, is a product of both lipid peroxidation and glycoxidation reactions. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9982–9986
- Wells-Knecht, K. J., Zyzak, D. V., Litchfield, J. E., Thorpe, S. R., and Baynes, J. W. (1995) Mechanism of autoxidative glycosylation: identification of glyoxal and arabinose as intermediates in the autoxidative modification of proteins by glucose. *Biochemistry* 34, 3702–3709
- Duarte, N. C., Becker, S. A., Jamshidi, N., Thiele, I., Mo, M. L., Vo, T. D., Srivas, R., and Palsson, B. Ø. (2007) Global reconstruction of the human metabolic network based on genomic and bibliomic data. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 1777–1782
- 55. Thornalley, P. J. (1998) Glutathione-dependent detoxification of α-oxoaldehydes by the glyoxalase system: involvement in disease mechanisms and antiproliferative activity of glyoxalase I inhibitors. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* **111**, 137–151

- Niwa, T. (1999) 3-Deoxyglucosone: metabolism, analysis, biological activity, and clinical implication. J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Sci. Appl. 731, 23–36
- Tsukushi, S., Katsuzaki, T., Aoyama, I., Takayama, F., Miyazaki, T., Shimokata, K., and Niwa, T. (1999) Increased erythrocyte 3-DG and AGEs in diabetic hemodialysis patients: role of the polyol pathway. *Kidney Int.* 55, 1970–1976
- Karmali, A., and Coelho, J. (2011) Bioconversion of D-glucose into D-glucosone by glucose 2-oxidase from *Coriolus versicolor* at moderate pressures. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 163, 906–917
- Vistoli, G., De Maddis, D., Cipak, A., Zarkovic, N., Carini, M., and Aldini, G. (2013) Advanced glycoxidation and lipoxidation end products (AGEs and ALEs): an overview of their mechanisms of formation. *Free Radic. Res.* 47, 3–27
- Glomb, M. A., Gobert, J., and Voigt, M. (2010) Dicarbonyls from Maillard degradation of glucose and maltose. ACS Symp. Ser. 1042, 35–44
- Glomb, M. A., and Pfahler, C. (2000) Synthesis of 1-deoxy-D-erythrohexo-2,3-diulose, a major hexose Maillard intermediate. *Carbohydr. Res.* 329, 515–523
- Glomb, M. A., and Pfahler, C. (2001) Amides are novel protein modifications formed by physiological sugars. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 41638–41647
- Biemel, K. M., Friedl, D. A., and Lederer, M. O. (2002) Identification and quantification of major maillard cross-links in human serum albumin and lens protein. Evidence for glucosepane as the dominant compound. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 24907–24915
- Sell, D. R., Biemel, K. M., Reihl, O., Lederer, M. O., Strauch, C. M., and Monnier, V. M. (2005) Glucosepane is a major protein cross-link of the senescent human extracellular matrix. Relationship with diabetes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 12310–12315
- Shin, D. B., and Feather, M. S. (1990) The degradation of L-ascorbic acid in neutral solutions containing oxygen. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 9, 461–469
- Voigt, M., and Glomb, M. A. (2009) Reactivity of 1-deoxy-D-erythrohexo-2,3-diulose: a key intermediate in the Maillard chemistry of hexoses. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 4765–4770
- Reihl, O., Lederer, M. O., and Schwack, W. (2004) Characterization and detection of lysine-arginine cross-links derived from dehydroascorbic acid. *Carbohydr. Res.* 339, 483–491
- Rossner, J., Velisek, J., Pudil, F., and Davidek, J. (2001) Strecker degradation products of aspartic and glutamic acids and their amides. *Czech J. Food Sci.* 19, 41–45
- Takagi, M., and Morita, N. (1987) Active oxygens and the peroxidation of linoleic acid catalysed by degraded species of ascorbic acid. *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg.* 18, 171–178

SASBMB

Publication C: Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 66, 4692-4701 10.3

JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL AND FOOD CHEMISTRY

Scite This: J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 4692–4701



Analysis and Chemistry of Novel Protein Oxidation Markers in Vivo

Christian Henning,[†] Kristin Liehr,[†] Matthias Girndt,[‡] Christof Ulrich,[‡] and Marcus A. Glomb^{*,†}

[†]Institute of Chemistry, Food Chemistry, Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg, Kurt-Mothes-Str. 2, 06120 Halle/Saale, Germany

[‡]Department of Internal Medicine II, Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg, Ernst-Grube-Str. 40, 06120 Halle/Saale, Germany

ABSTRACT: Proteins continually undergo spontaneous oxidation reactions, which lead to changes in structure and function. The quantitative assessment of protein oxidation adducts provides information on the level of exposure to reactive precursor compounds with a high oxidizing potential and reactive oxygen species (ROS). In the present work, we introduce N^6 -(2hydroxyethyl)lysine as a novel marker based on the ratio of glycolaldehyde and its oxidized form glyoxal. The high analytical potential was proven with a first set of patients undergoing hemodialysis versus healthy controls, in comparison with well-established parameters for oxidative stress. In vitro experiments with N^1 -t-BOC-lysine and N^1 -t-BOC-arginine enlightened the mechanistic relationship of glycolaldehyde and glycxal. Oxidation was strongly dependent on the catalytic action of the e-amino moiety of lysine. Investigations on the formation of N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine revealed glycolaldehyde-imine as the more reactive precursor, even though an additional oxidative step is required. As a result, a novel and very effective alternative mechanism was unraveled.

KEYWORDS: carbohydrate chemistry, oxidative stress, Maillard reaction, glyoxal, glycolaldehyde, carboxymethyl lysine, hydroxyethyl lysine, high-performance liquid chromatography, mass spectrometry, plasma, hemodialysis

INTRODUCTION

Glycation is an unavoidable process of post-translational protein modification, relevant in aging and complications of certain diseases. A complex series of reactions, collectively referred to as the "Maillard reaction", leads to a variety of stable reaction products (advanced glycation end products, AGEs).

AGE formation in vivo is promoted by a general increase in oxidative stress, on the one hand, and the availability of reactive precursor compounds derived from both oxidative and nonoxidative chemistry (carbonyl stress), on the other hand.¹ We already investigated one of the major sources of carbonyl stress, the generation and accumulation of reactive α -dicarbonyl compounds with special attention on uremia compared to healthy human subjects.² In the present study, we focused on oxidative stress, which is often considered as tissue damage resulting from an imbalance between an excessive generation of highly reactive prooxidative compounds and insufficient antioxidant defense mechanisms.³ If chronically present, e.g., in pathological situations, such as uremia, oxidative stress can lead to protein oxidation, entailing complications like atherosclerosis and β_2 -microglobulin amyloidosis.^{4,5} This is generally due to a combination of inflammatory processes, a comprised metabolism by the uremic milieu, a significantly impaired glomerular filtration rate, and furthermore to an abnormal nutrition.⁶ Especially the latter is of importance because a controlled diet can not only have preventive effects but may also reduce adverse long-term effects. Dietary antioxidative capacity in foods is thus an area of intense research. Nutritional antioxidative compounds are vitamin C and E, polyphenols and phenolic acid derivatives, carotenoids, and certain trace elements.7 Here, one must differentiate between the effect in foods and the health benefits in vivo, as described by Yang et al.⁸ Blocking oxidative reactions prolongs not only the shelf lives of food products but also might suppress formation of potentially noxious substances. For example, oxidized tyrosine or AGEs like CML in the diet are likely to induce an oxidative stress response in the living organism. Other major considerations in this respect are bioavailability, synergistic effects with other nutritional components or endogenous enzyme systems, and dose dependence.¹² Indeed, at higher doses many antioxidants exert a pro-oxidative effect which is referred to as "the antioxidant paradox".

Thus, developing novel therapeutic approaches to reduce protein oxidative stress, i.e., by dietary interventions or administration of antioxidants, is a promising task. A necessary prerequisite in such studies is the accurate and reliable quantitation of the stress status in vivo. Here, oxidized biomolecules, e.g., proteins, are often used as targets. A term frequently used in protein oxidation research is "advanced oxidation protein products (AOPPs)" expressed as the ability of proteins to oxidize iodide to iodine.¹⁶ As a major drawback of this approach, the molecular nature of AOPPs is not further specified, and potential mechanistic backgrounds remain unclear. A promising but analytically much more complex alternative is the detection of specific well-defined oxidation marker compounds.

Especially, methionine residues exposed on protein surfaces are readily oxidized to methionine sulfoxide (MetSO) by many reactive species. MetSO reductase in tissues serves as a recovery system and maintains the balance in this redox system. The process is also thought to act as a protective mechanism for other redox active sites on proteins and to preserve functionality.

Received: January 31, 2018 **Revised**: April 20, 2018 Accepted: April 21, 2018 Published: April 30, 2018

ACS Publications © 2018 American Chemical Society

4692

DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b00558 J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 4692–4701

3-Nitrotyrosine (3-NT) is a marker of nitration damage to proteins. The nitrating species are formed enzymatically via peroxidases or in a direct reaction between nitric oxide and superoxide, which yields peroxynitrite.¹⁹

o-Tyrosine, the isomer of the natural occurring *p*-tyrosine, is formed via oxidation of protein-bound phenylalanine residues by hydroxyl radicals. Hydroxyl radicals can also induce the cross-linking of tyrosine residues. The resulting oxidation product *o*,*o*'-dityrosine is alternatively produced from the enzymatic reaction of free or protein-bound tyrosine with tyrosyl radicals generated by myeloperoxidase or other heme enzymes from superoxide and *p*-tyrosine.²⁰ Myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidative pathways in renal failure were further investigated by Himmelfarb et al.²¹ and Gozdzikiewicz et al.²²

 N^6 -Carboxymethyl lysine (CML) is a widely studied AGE, derived from the reaction of glyoxal (GO) with the ε -amino moiety of lysine but also from the oxidative cleavage of the Amadori product of the latter with reducing sugars.^{25,24}

5-(4,5-Dihydroxy-2-imino-1-imidazolidinyl)norvaline, the early product of the reaction of GO with arginine residues, is slowly degraded to $N^5-[[(carboxymethyl)amino]-(imino)$ $methyl]ornithine (<math>N^5$ -carboxymethyl arginine, CMA), the corresponding arginine-derived AGE to CML. Both GOarginine adducts are converted to 5-(2-imino-5-oxo-1imidazolidinyl)norvaline (imidazolinone) under conditions of acid protein hydrolysis.²⁵

As a novel sensitive marker for oxidative stress, we introduce N^6 -(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine (HEL). The potency of HEL is based on the redox system formed by glycolaldehyde (GA) and GO. The mechanistic background of HEL is discussed in detail and compared to the established parameters of the oxidative protein damage in vivo mentioned above to evaluate the suitability of HEL as a probe of plasma protein oxidation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials. Chemicals of the highest grade available were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany) and Fisher Scientific (Nidderau, Germany) unless otherwise indicated. $o_i o'$ -Dityrosine,²⁶ 5-(2-imino-5-oxo-1-imidazolidinyl)norvaline (imidazolionone, G-H3),²⁵ N⁶-(2-hydroxyethyl) lysine (HEL), and N⁶-carboxymethyl lysine (CML),²³ were synthesized according to the literature. The identity of the target compounds was verified by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) experiments. Furthermore, the elemental composition was confirmed by accurate mass determination.

Plasma Samples. Written informed consent was obtained from all of the patients. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg. Blood samples were obtained from 11 healthy subjects with normal renal function and 40 nondiabetic patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD patients). The samples were anticoagulated with ethyl-enediaminetetraacetate (EDTA, 2 mg/mL of whole blood). In HD patients, samples were obtained predialysis before the midweek treatment session. Hemodialysis was performed three times weekly for 4-5 h using polysulfone dialyzers. All of the patients were treated with bicarbonate hemodialysis (acid concentrate type 257, sodium bicarbonate 8.4% type 200, MTN Neubrandenburg GmbH, Neubrandenburg, Germany) with ultrapure water quality (by reverse osmosis and sterile filters). Plasma was obtained by centrifugation $(3000 \times g, 10 \text{ min}, 4 \degree \text{C})$ within 20 min of collection, and an aliquot of 500 μ L was immediately incubated with sodium borodeuteride (6.7 M in 0.01 M sodium hydroxide solution, 1000 μ L) for 5 h on ice. After the addition of ultrapure water (5 mL), the protein content was precipitated (50% trichloracetic acid, 3275 μ L), and the precipitate was washed two times with diluted trichloracetic acid solution (5%, 4000 μ L), lyophilized, and treated with hydrochloric acid (6 M, 6 mL, degassed with helium for 10 min) in an argon atmosphere for

complete protein hydrolysis (20 h at 110 °C). The lyophilized residue was dissolved in 600 μ L of hydrochloric acid (0.05 mM). The filtrate (0.45 μ m, cellulose acetate) was diluted on a scale of 1:5 with hydrochloric acid (0.05 mM) and administered to liquid chromatography coupled tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis and the ninhydrin assay.

HbA1c, creatinine, and C-reactive protein (CRP) were measured by routine methods at the central laboratory of Martin-Luther-University Clinical Center, Halle (Saale).

Ninhydrin Assay. The appropriately diluted plasma workup samples (100 μ L) were incubated for 60 min at 80 °C with 100 μ L of ninhydrin reagent solution (2.0 mg of ninhydrin, 0.3 mg of hydrindantin, 74 μ L of ethylene glycol monomethyl ether, 26 μ L of 4 M acetate buffer, pH 5.5). After being cooled to room temperature, the absorbance of the samples and standard solutions (0.5–10 nmol leucine) was determined at 546 nm with a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite M200) using 96-well plates. Each sample was prepared at least three times.

1,4-Diethylpyrazinium Diquaternary Salt. The diquat was synthesized according to the method of Curphey and Prasad.²⁷ Briefly, a suspension of triethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate (50 mmol) in dichlormethane (20 mL, anhydrous) was stirred under argon, while a solution of pyrazine (20 mmol) in dichlormethane (10 mL, anhydrous) was added dropwise (5 min). The reaction mixture was heated under reflux for 40 min. After being cooled to room temperature, the precipitated pale green-colored compound was obtained by centrifugation. Recrystallization from acetonitrile (anhydrous) by the addition of 2 volumes of dichlormethane yielded a white solid (13 mmol, 65%). NMR data were in line with the literature.²⁷

Degradation of 1,4-Diethylpyrazinium Diquaternary Salt in the Presence of Water. The diquat (3 mg) was dissolved in acetonitrile (500 μ L, anhydrous), and water (2 μ L) was added. The solution was immediately dried under argon and administered to the gas chromatography coupled mass spectrometry (GC-MS) procedure described below.

Gas Chromatography with Coupled Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS). Adopting the method described by Glomb and Tschirnich.²⁸ the dried sample was dissolved in pyridine (100 μ L), and N,O-bis(trimethylsilyl)acetamide with 5% trimethylchlorosilane (100 μ L) was added. Samples were kept 30 min at 80 °C to yield the corresponding trimethylsilyl derivatives.

Samples were analyzed on a Trace GC Ultra coupled to a Trace DSQ (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The GC column was a DB-5 (30 m × 0.32 mm, film thickness 0.25 μ m; Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA). The injector was 220 °C, the split ratio was 1:20, and the transfer line was 250 °C. The oven temperature program was as follows: 60 °C (1 min), 2 °C/min to 110, and 50 °C/min to 270 °C (10 min). Helium 5.0 was used as the carrier gas in the constant flow mode (linear velocity, 28 cm/s; flow, 1 mL/min). Mass spectra were obtained with electron ionization (EI) at 70 eV (source temperature: 210 °C) in full scan mode (mass range m/z 50–350). Identification was achieved by comparison of the retention time and the fragmentation pattern in the EI mass spectrum with the authentic reference compound.

Incubation of N¹-t-BOC-Lysine and N¹-t-BOC-Arginine with Glyoxal and Glycolaldehyde. Incubations were conducted in 0.2 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, after sterile filtration in a shaker incubator (New Brunswick Scientific, Nürtingen, Germany) at 37 °C. The reactant concentrations are mentioned in the legends of the corresponding figures and tables. Deaeration and inhibition of metalcatalyzed oxidation chemistry were achieved by using a phosphate buffer containing 1 mM diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid (DTPA) and gassing with argon. The buffer was degassed with helium for 10 min and stored under argon prior to sample preparation. At various time points, aliquots of the reaction mixtures were reduced for 1 h at room temperature with a 5-fold excess of sodium borodeuteride in relation to the carbonyl compound used. Addition of 6 M hydrochloric acid to a final concentration of 3 M hydrochloric acid was followed by incubation at 110 °C (arginine) or room temperature (lysine) for 1 h.

Table 1, LC-MS/MS Parameters for Quantitation of Target Analytes

		precurso	precursor ion		product ion 1 ^a		pro	product ion 2 ^b			product ion 3 ^b		
	ret. time (min)	m/z (amu)	DP (V)	m/z (amu)	CE (eV)	CXP (V)	m/z (amu)	CE (eV)	CXP (V)	m/z (amu)	CE (eV)	CXP (V)	
MetSO	2.6	165.9	33	74.2	20.0	12.0	56.1	30.0	10.0	102.1	19.0	18.0	
CML	2.9	205.1	50	130.2	17.0	9.5	84.1	46.0	13.0	56.1	59.0	8.0	
HEL-1D	4.2	192.2	42	84.0	28.0	6.0	130.2	18.0	23.0	56.2	56.0	4.0	
HEL-2D	4.2	193.2											
imidazolinone	5.1	215.1	48	70.1	38.0	11.3	100.1	20.0	8.0	116.2	20.0	9.0	
o-tyrosine	18.0	182.1	35	136.2	18.0	24.0	91.1	42.0	4.5	119.1	27.0	6.2	
3-NT	23.3	227.2	50	181.1	18.0	32.0	117.1	35.0	8.0	168.1	23.0	14.0	
o,o'-dityrosine	26.7	361.2	25	315.3	23.5	7.5	254.2	33.0	15.0	237.2	34.0	21.0	

^aMRM transition used for quantitation (quantifier). ^bMRM transition used for confirmation (qualifier)

The acidic solvent was removed in a vacuum concentrator. The residue was resuspended, filtered (0.45 μ m, cellulose acetate), and diluted appropriately with 0.05 mM hydrochloric acid prior to liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis.

High-Performance Liquid Chromatography with Coupled Mass Spectrometry Detection (LC-MS/MS). The HPLC apparatus (Jasco, Groß-Umstadt, Germany) consisted of a pump (PU-2080 Plus) with a degasser (LG-2080-02) and quaternary gradient mixer (LG-2080-04), a column oven (Jasco Jetstream II), and an autosampler (AS-2057 Plus). Mass spectrometric detection was conducted on an API 4000 QTrap LC-MS/MS system (AB Sciex, Concord, ON, Canada) equipped with a turbo ionspray source using electrospray ionization (ESI) in positive mode. The chromatographic method and the source parameters for mass spectrometric detection were recently published by Smuda et al.²⁹ Compound specific orifice potentials and fragment specific collision energies are listed in Table 1 Quantitation was performed using the standard addition method. More precisely, increasing concentrations of authentic reference compounds at factors of 0.5, 1, 2, and 3 times the concentration of the analyte in the sample were added to separate aliquots of the sample after the workup procedure. The aliquots were analyzed, and a regression of response versus concentration was used to determine the concentration of the analyte in the sample. Spikes were run one in approximately every 30 samples. Calibration with this method resolves the potential matrix interferences. All of the plasma workup samples and incubations were analyzed in single batches to exclude interassay variations. Each plasma sample was quantitated in duplicate. The limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) with all steps of the analysis included (Table 2) were estimated according to DIN

 Table 2. Limit of Detection LOD and Limit of Quantitation

 LOQ (All Steps of the Analysis Included) of Plasma Samples

	LOD^a ($\mu mol/mol$ leu)	LOQ^a ($\mu mol/mol$ leu)
MetSO	1.13	3.39
CML	0.31	0.93
HEL	0.07	0.20
imidazolinone	0.07	0.21
o-tyrosine	0.08	0.24
3-NT	0.04	0.12
o,o'-dityrosine	0.01	0.03
^a Replicate analyse	s n = 6.	

32645 (n = 6, confidence level P = 0.95, k = 3).³⁰ In model experiments, coefficients of a variation <10% (n = 3) for all of the target compounds were achieved.

Štatistical Evaluation. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD. The Student's *t*-test (modified according to Welch) was used for statistical evaluation of significant differences between both study groups (* p < 0.05; ** p < 0.001).

RESULTS

Kinetic Studies on the Reaction of N^1 -t-BOC-Lysine with Glyoxal and Glycolaldehyde. To monitor the reaction of GO and GA in the presence of ε -amino residues of lysine, both were incubated with N^1 -t-BOC-lysine over a time period of 168 h (pH 7.4, 37 °C). To evaluate the influence of oxidative conditions, reaction batches were performed aerated and deaerated in parallel. At specific time points, samples were reduced with sodium borodeuterate and administered to LC-MS/MS.

In the first step, the free α -dicarbonyl structure GO and the α -hydroxyaldehyde GA reversibly bind to the ε -amino group of N^1 -*t*-BOC-lysine to yield the corresponding imines. After reduction with sodium borodeuterate, the stable product HEL is obtained (Figure 1). Specifically, GO-imine reacts to N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-*d*-ethyl)lysine (HEL-2D), whereas GA-imine yields N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1-*d*-ethyl)lysine (HEL-1D). As a result, it became possible to obtain insights into the redox system GA/GO.

Figure 2 shows the time course of the formation of HEL-2D as a percentage of the total HEL (sum of HEL-1D and HEL-2D). Starting from GO, only HEL-2D was detected after 168 h, whereas GA was oxidized to GO under areated conditions. After 24 h, a plateau with equal amounts of HEL-2D and HEL-1D was reached. In the absence of oxygen, only negligible amounts of HEL-2D were detected after 168 h. This clearly indicated the need for an oxidative step from GA to GO.

Total HEL concentration reached a maximum at about 3 h. Immediate GA-imine degradation in GA incubations led to a steady state ratio of GA- and GO-imines after 24 h at very low concentration levels. In contrast, GO incubations never showed any GA-imines, and degradation proceeded much slower to give 8-fold higher levels of total HEL, even after 168 h. Remarkably, the presence of oxygen had no influence on the total degradation process in both cases.

Formation of CML, generated by the reaction of GO with the *e*-amino group of lysine, is illustrated in Figure 3. With GO as a precursor, no oxidation is required. Therefore, no differences between the aerated and deaerated conditions were observed. In contrast, the reaction of GA to CML depends on an additional oxidation step. Indeed, formation of CML only proceeded under aerated conditions. Surprisingly, the formation rate was considerably higher in the first 24 h of the incubation than with GO and lysine.

Investigation of a Single-Electron Transfer assisted Reaction Pathway with 1,4-Dialkylpyrazinium Diquaternary Salt as Intermediate. GA in the presence of an amine compound is a known precursor of 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium

Article

DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b00558 J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 4692–4701



Figure 1. Reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal to form N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1-d-ethyl)lysine (HEL-1D) and N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-d-ethyl)lysine (HEL-2D), respectively.



Figure 2. Time dependent formation of N^6 -(2-hydroxy-1,2-*d*-ethyl)-lysine (HEL-2D) relative to total content of HEL (A) and the absolute amount of HEL formation (total HEL, sum of HEL-1D and HEL-2D) (B) in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -t-BOC-lysine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\blacktriangle) and 40 mM glycoxal (\odot) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions.

diquaternary salts.³⁰ Highly unstable in aqueous solutions, we hypothesized the hydration of this early intermediate to yield the 1,4-dialkyl-2-hydroxypyrazinium cation. Hydrolysis then decomposes the pyrazine ring system to give the corresponding *N*-alkyl glycine. If the ε -amino group of lysine acts as the amine in the reaction with GA, the described mechanism might be an alternative route of CML formation. To confirm this hypothesis, we synthesized the diquaternary salt under strictly anhydrous conditions with ethyl amine as the amine compound. The addition of traces of water should produce *N*-ethyl glycine. Indeed, we identified the silylated target



Figure 3. Time-dependent formation of N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -t-BOC-lysine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\blacktriangle) and 40 mM glycoxal (O) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions.

analyte with GC-MS (Figure 4). The comparison of the EI-spectra at the same retention time of the authentic reference $% \left({{{\rm{E}}_{{\rm{F}}}} \right)$



Figure 4. Verification of *N*-ethyl glycine by GC-MS (after silylation, retention time, 27.1 min; m/z, 247). EI mass spectrum of (A) the authentic reference and (B) 1,4-diethylpyrazinium diquaternary salt incubated in the presence of traces of water.

DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b00558 J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 4692–4701

<u>- 82</u> -

with the reaction mixture workup gave the molecular ion peak at m/z 246.9 and the more abundant [M-15] peak, which represents the loss of a methyl group. Other more abundant peaks at m/z 73, 75, or 147 result nonspecifically from the silylation. Thus, both spectra were virtually identical.

Kinetic Studies on the Reaction of N^1 -t-BOC-Arginine with Glyoxal and Glycolaldehyde. In arginine incubations, the product spectrum of the reaction with GO is more complex than in lysine incubations. From the mechanistic point of view, the early product 5-(4,5-dihydroxy-2-imino-1-imidazolidinyl)norvaline (DIN) is slowly degraded to N^6 -carboxymethyl arginine (CMA).²⁵ However, under strong acidic conditions, as in protein hydrolysis (6 M HCl, 110 °C, 20 h), both structures are converted to an imidazolinone, also called G-H3. The latter, in turn, is slowly degraded to arginine under the very same conditions. However, if the acidic workup conditions are well controlled as herein, the imidazolinone can be used as a marker of the total extent of GO-arginine modifications.

As depicted in Figure 5, the reaction of GO with the guanidine group of arginine was independent of oxygen,



Figure 5. Time-dependent formation of imidazolinone (G-H3, a measure of total GO-arginine modifications) in incubations of 40 mM N^1 -*t*-BOC-arginine with 40 mM glycolaldehyde (\blacktriangle) and 40 mM glycoal (\odot) under aerated (full symbols) and deaerated (open symbols) conditions.

whereas GA and arginine under deaerated conditions yielded only negligible amounts of the imidazolinone. In line with literature, this highlights that the products DIN, CMA, and the imidazolinone are specific for the reaction of GO with the guanidine group of arginine, and that starting from GA, an oxidation step to GO is a prerequisite for the progression of the reaction. It has to be noted that the GO reactivity is predominantly arginine-directed as the total amount of GOarginine modification was 5-fold higher than that of the GOlysine modification CML.

['] Markers for Protein Oxidation in Uremic Plasma vs Healthy Controls. Plasma was obtained from 11 healthy subjects (controls) with normal renal function and no proteinuria and from 40 HD patients. Details on the study population are given in Table 3. Normal renal function was defined as a creatinine level below 100 μ mol/L, and the absence of inflammatory reactions in controls was ensured by a CRP concentration of 5 μ mol/L or below.

Table 2	Drofilo	of Subjects	Examinad	in Thie	Study	

,		'
	healthy subjects	HD patients
no. of participants	11	40
sex, female/male	2/9	18/25
age (years)	66 ± 6	67 ± 12
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	38 ± 1	40 ± 17
serum creatinine (μ mol/L)	81 ± 8	659 ± 284
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	1.7 ± 1.1	12 ± 11

The reduction of plasma samples was performed within 20 min after blood draw to preserve the GA/GO redox status. After protein precipitation and acid hydrolysis samples were subjected to LC-MS/MS. Quantitation with the standard addition method incorporating authentic references guaranteed elimination of matrix interferences. All of the results were normalized to the respective total amino acid content expressed as leucine equivalents (leu). The total amino acid content was determined by a high-throughput ninhydrin assay.

The ratio of HEL-2D/1D, as shown in Figure 6, expressed as a percentage of HEL-2D to the total HEL, clearly shifted to



Figure 6. Plasma levels of total N⁶-(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine and the percentage of N⁶-(2-hydroxy-1,2-*d*-ethyl)lysine of the total from controls and HD patients. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD, the significant difference between groups was calculated by Welch's *t*-test (** p < 0.001).

GO-imines in HD patients (92 \pm 5 vs 40 \pm 7% HEL-2D; *p* < 0.001). In addition, the plasma levels of the total HEL content were significantly elevated (3.0 \pm 1.4 vs 0.3 \pm 0.1 μ mol/mol leu).

MetSO, as the most important product in quantitative terms, was significantly higher in HD patients compared to controls (2530 \pm 1683 vs 452 \pm 35 μ mol/mol leu; p < 0.001). However, the large deviation range in the patient group was striking. MetSO is part of an enzymatically triggered redox equilibrium, which is believed to serve as a defense mechanism against oxidative protein damage. This implies that levels of MetSO cannot be directly correlated to oxidative stress but to the efficiency of this specific enzyme system in general. Thus, a possible explanation for the individual variations might be the interference of the uremic metabolism with the activity of MetSO reductases. However, all other protein markers formed



Figure 7. Plasma levels of methionine sulfoxide, o-tyrosine, o,o'-dityrosine, 3-nitrotyrosine, N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine, and imidazolinone from controls and HD patients. Data are expressed as mean ± SD, the significant difference between groups was calculated by Welch's t-test (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.001)



Figure 8. The reaction pathway of glycolaldehyde and glyoxal leading to N-ethyl glycine or N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine, respectively, depending on the amine-compound used (ethyl amine or lysine).

enzymatically or did not show the same basic distribution pattern (Figure 7).

Mean values of o-tyrosine were increased by 50% in HD patients vs controls, but the difference was only of limited significance (p < 0.05). $o_{,o'}$ -Dityrosine showed a 2.5-fold increase in HD patients (0.10 \pm 0.04 vs 0.04 \pm 0.01 μ mol/mol leu; p < 0.001). 3-NT, as a marker for protein nitration, was $0.17 \pm 0.14 \ \mu mol/mol$ leu in HD patients but below LOD in controls

Markers for Maillard-Modified Protein Residues. The lysine derived AGE CML was 6-fold elevated in HD patients $(46.4 \pm 30.6 \text{ vs } 7.8 \pm 1.3 \ \mu \text{mol/mol leu; } p < 0.001)$ (Figure 8). GO-imidazolinone, as a cumulative parameter of GO-derived arginine AGEs, was 10-fold elevated in HD patients (8.8 \pm 8.0 vs 0.9 \pm 0.2 μ mol/mol leu; p < 0.001). The comparison of CML vs the imidazolinone content gave a reverse picture, as in the above model experiments. In vivo, CML was much more important than the imidazolinone with regard to the quantitative amount.

DISCUSSION

The present study describes a novel marker for oxidative stress and its possible clinical relevance in chronic uremia. The basis of this approach is the amount of protein bound GA in relation to the oxidized counterpart GO. The relevance of GO and GA to modify and to cross-link proteins in the course of the Maillard reaction has been already studied extensively. However, the exact origin and mechanistic relationship of both structures is still unknown.

To monitor GO- and GA-amino acid adducts in vitro, N1-t-BOC-lysine and N1-t-BOC-arginine were incubated in the presence of GO and GA. In addition, solutions were reduced with sodium borodeuterate. GO-imine and GA-imine yield double deuterized HEL-2D and mono deuterized HEL-1D, respectively. This enabled us to differentiate between GO- and GA-imines.

In contrast to the published data,³³ it was unequivocally shown that GA is oxidized to GO. This redox reaction only proceeded from GA to GO. GO incubations never produced any GA adducts (Figure 2). The oxidation was dependent on the presence of oxygen and, more importantly, on the catalytic action of the ε -amino moiety of lysine. When aerated GO- and GA-arginine incubations were monitored for imidazolinone as a probe for the reaction of GO with the guanidine function of arginine, there was a 5-fold increase in concentration from GA to GO (Figure 5). In contrast, GO- and GA-lysine incubations yielded similar amounts of CML as a probe for GO-lysine modifications after 168 h (Figure 3).

Even though GO- and GA-lysine incubations produced similar quantities of CML in the long term (168 h), the rate of

DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b00558 J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 4692–4701

formation was very different at very short incubation times (<96 h). Reduction experiments showed clearly that the GAimine was much more reactive than the GO-imine, resulting in higher concentrations of CML at the beginning of the reaction. Conversion of GO-imines to CML requires a rearrangement step, such as enolization or Cannizarro-type reactions, whereas conversion of GA-imines must involve an additional oxidation step by definition. This suggests that CML is formed via totally different mechanisms in GA versus GO reactions. Hayashi et al. already established a reaction pathway of GA with an amine leading to GO via a 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium radical cation, including an oxidative step, the so-called Namiki pathway. The relevance of this radical intermediate was investigated indepth by Hofmann et al. with regard to the formation of colored compounds during the Maillard reactions.³³ This group identified GA as the most effective precursor of radical formation, tracked by means of electron spin resonance spectroscopy. Notably, the observed radical formation already reached its maximum after 5 min in incubations of GA and ethyl amine at 95 °C. However, more importantly, they were able to extend the complex reaction cascades of the intermediate pyrazinium radical cation to the generation of diquaternary and hydroxylated pyrazine species

It has been hypothesized that the 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium radical cation is also a precursor of CML.²³ To verify this hypothesis, we used ethyl amine as a substitute for lysine to simplify the experimental design and incubated 1,4-diethylpyrazine diquaternary salt in the presence of traces of water. Indeed, we were able to unequivocally verify the formation of N-ethyl glycine, the ethyl amine pendant of CML. Based on this finding, we propose a novel radical-assisted pathway of CML formation in line with above mechanistic studies, as depicted in Figure 8. After rearrangement to the corresponding α aminoaldehvdes, two molecules condense to vield 1.4-dialkyl-1,4-dihydropyrazine. As shown by Hayashi et al. 30,34 and confirmed by Hofmann et al. 33 this structure is immediately oxidized to the 1,4-dialkylpyrazinium radical cation. The high potential of these pyrazine species for single electron transfer reactions is further enlightened by a disproportionation to give the corresponding diquaternary salt in a redox cycling equilibrium. The diquat represents an extremely electron deficient compound, which leads to a spontaneous attack of nucleophiles as water to give the 2-hydroxypyrazinium cation already verified in literature.^{27,33} This intermediate can now be stabilized via two pathways. (I) Hydrolysis leads to one molecule of GA-imine and one molecule of GO-imine, which is relatively slow after hydration, and the rearrangement results in ethyl glycine/CML. (II) More effectively, the alternative direct enolization should give the corresponding 1,4-dialkyl-3,4dihydro-2-pyrazinone, which hydrolyzes to release GA-imine and instantaneously ethyl glycine/CML.

The crucial oxidative step in this CML formation cascade was enlightened by the detection of the significant lower amounts of CML in the GA-lysine incubations under deaeration (Figure 3). On the other hand, as depicted in Figure 2, deaeration only led to a slightly delayed degradation of GA-imines in the initial reaction phase up to 3 h, when monitored as the content of the total HEL. Thus, there must be significant additional unknown degradation mechanisms to the CML formation, which do not require oxidative conditions.

In vivo, the situation is far more complex. When the plasma levels of protein-bound MetSO and o,o'-dityrosine were increased, oxidation products of methionine and tyrosine,

Article

respectively, could indeed be explained by increased ROS levels and a decreased antioxidative capacity. However, alternative explanations are an impairment of proteolytic activity, like proteasomes, which preferentially degrade oxidized and misfolded proteins, but also of enzymatic reactions meant to maintain protein integrity. For example, MetSO residues are converted back to methionine by the tissue MetSO reductase system.³⁵ In contrast, oxidation of tyrosine residues to form *o*,*o*'-dityrosine cross-links was enhanced by the inflammatory myeloperoxidase–superoxide system, as demonstrated by Heinicke et al. in in vitro experiments.³⁶ This notion is further supported by the fact that products of neutrophil degranulation are elevated in the plasma of chronic HD patients, e.g., Hörl et al. observed the elevation of myeloperoxidase plasma levels by the factor of approximately two during a 3.6 h hemodialysis session.³⁷

We detected a 5-fold increase in MetSO plasma levels of HD patients with respect to control subjects. In contrast, Agalou et al. reported only on a 2-fold increase, but with a very limited number of participants, including diabetic subjects as well.³⁸ In this study, no significant influence of the diabetic subjects with normal renal function, the same workgroup detected a 4-fold increase of MetSO compared to nondiabetic controls.³⁹

Plasma levels of o-tyrosine, which represent another posttranslational protein alteration induced by hydroxyl radicals, indicated only a slight increase toward HD patients. Comparing both tyrosine species, concentrations of o-tyrosine were 10-fold higher than o,o'-dityrosine which suggests that the former may stem from other additional sources. Leeuwenburgh et al., who investigated oxidized amino acids in the urine of aging rats, argued the possibility that o-tyrosine contained in the diet might be taken up by the intestines and then misincorporated into proteins.²⁰ Alternative metal-catalyzed pathways with phenylalanine as the precursor appeared to be of minor ⁹ This line of argumentation can be also found in importance.4 other studies for different matrices and contexts, like human lens protein,⁴¹ low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques,⁴² and various tissues of Wistar rats.⁴

The 3-NT residue content of plasma protein as a measure for protein nitration was increased by a factor of at least two in HD patients due to the oxidation of nitric oxide to peroxynitrite, a potent nitrating intermediate.⁴⁴ This is in line with the results of Agalou et al.³⁸ More recently, Ahmed et al. investigated the protein oxidation and nitration biomarkers MetSO, *o*,*o*'-dityrosine, and 3-NT with regard to arthritic disease.⁴⁵ The results for the plasma of healthy subjects differ significantly from those published by Agalou; however, a different workup and standardization method was used.

The ratio between GO-imine and GA-imine significantly shifted toward 95/5 in HD patients, while controls gave 40/60, i.e., here, GA-imine was the predominant parameter. Alternative approaches to quantitate GO and GA, e.g., by derivatization of GO and GA with *o*-phenylenediamine² and ethoxamine,³³ respectively, share a common problem. The inevitable but different derivatization procedures do not allow a direct quantitative comparison of the individual species and methods. Consequently, in vivo studies on GO levels in plasma of uremic patients gave very different results ranging between 1 and approximately 400 nmol/mL.^{2,46,47} On the other hand, to our knowledge, there is no data available regarding plasma concentrations of GA in HD patients so far.

It has to be noted that also the total HEL content in sodium borodeuterate-reduced plasma protein was significantly elevated in HD patients vs controls. Thus, formation of GA and GO are stimulated in uremia. The only known other source of GA in vivo, besides the Maillard reaction,²³ is the degradation of the amino acid L-serine in the presence of hypochlorous acid formed from superoxide and chloride by myeloperoxidase at sites of inflammation.⁴⁸ GO does not only stem from oxidation of GA in Maillard driven systems but alternatively is formed by DNA oxidation, lipid peroxidation,⁴⁹ and sugar autoxidation.⁵ However, GO can be detoxified by the glyoxalase system with glutathione as a cofactor.⁵¹ Depletion of glutathione under conditions of oxidative stress, therefore, may lead to enhanced GO-levels.

The reactivity of GO toward the guanidino group of arginine is significantly higher than that toward the ε -amino group of lysine, which, in vitro, resulted in 5-fold higher levels of GOimidazolinone as a probe for arginine modifications compared to CML. In vivo, the situation was reversed. This was not surprising since here the alternative pathway, i.e., the oxidative cleavage of the Amadori product of glucose with lysine, is the major source for CML formation.^{23,24} CML plasma levels of HD patients were already the subject of several studies.^{38,52} An approximately 3-fold elevation in regard to controls was observed, however, again with a very limited number of participants. Here, we found a nearly 6-fold elevation though the variances between individual HD subjects were tremendous. Several outliers at the upper end of the concentration range have to be noticed. Thus, comparison of the median plasma level of HD patients (35.0 µmol/mol leu) with controls gave only a 4-fold increase, which is in line with the literature. Nevertheless, the multifaceted formation mechanisms hamper the use of CML as a specific probe of reactive C2-carbonyl intermediates. GO-imidazolinone, on the contrary, is a specific tool to gain insights into the overall extent of GO-arginine modifications and, consequently, of GO levels in general. Thus, as a confirmation, the 10-fold increase of the total HEL was reflected by a 10-fold increase of imidazolinone.

In conclusion, the relation of HEL-2D to HEL-1D was introduced as a novel potent marker for oxidative stress in human plasma protein. In HD patients, the results were in line with the established parameters but promised significantly enhanced sensitivity. The quantitative importance of GA as a potent glycating agent in human plasma was established for the first time and was in the same range of GO in normal subjects. The importance as a reactive intermediate in the Maillard reaction pathways was further emphasized by a novel and very effective mechanism leading to CML incorporating singleelectron transfer reactions.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*E-mail: marcus.glomb@chemie.uni-halle.de; Fax: ++049-345-5527341.

ORCID ®

Christian Henning: 0000-0003-3109-8330 Marcus A. Glomb: 0000-0001-8826-0808

Funding

This work was supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF, project 13N11798). Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the help of the nurses and doctors at the KfH Nierenzentrum Halle (Saale), Germany, and at the Department of Nephrology and Intensive Care Medicine of the Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany.

ABBREVIATIONS USED

ROS, reactive oxygen species; GA, glycolaldehyde; GO, glyoxal; HEL, N⁶-(2-hydroxyethyl)lysine; t-BOC, tert-butoxycarbonyl; CML, N⁶-carboxymethyl lysine; AGE, advanced glycation end products; AOPPS, advanced oxidation protein products; MetSO, methionine sulfoxide; 3-NT, 3-nitrotyrosine; CMA, N⁵-carboxymethyl arginine; G-H3, imidazolinone, 5-(2-imino-5-oxo-1-imidazolidinyl)norvaline; EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetate; HD patients, patients undergoing hemodialysis; CRP, C-reactive protein; DTPA, diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid; ESI, electron spray ionization; DP, declustering potential; CE, collision energy; CXP, collision cell exit potential; LOD, limit of detection; LOQ, limit of quantitation; EI, electron ionization; SD, standard deviation; DIN, 5-(4,5-dihydroxy-2imino-1-imidazolidinyl)norvaline

REFERENCES

(1) Baynes, J. W.; Thorpe, S. R. Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications: a new perspective on an old paradigm. Diabetes 1999, 48, 1-9.

(2) Henning, C.; Liehr, K.; Girndt, M.; Ulrich, C.; Glomb, M. A. Extending the spectrum of α -dicarbonyl compounds in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 2014, 289, 28676-28688.

(3) Sies, H. Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. Exp. Physiol. 1997, 82, 291-295.

(4) Handelman, G. J. Evaluation of oxidant stress in dialysis patients. Blood Purif. 2000, 18, 343-349.

(5) Descamps-Latscha, B.; Drüeke, T.; Witko-Sarsat, V. Dialysisinduced oxidative stress: biological aspects, clinical consequences, and therapy. Semin. Dial. 2001, 14, 193-199.

(6) Mircescu, G. Oxidative Stress of Chronic Kidney Disease. Acta Endocrinol. 2008, 4, 433-446.

(7) Amir Aslani, B.; Ghobadi, S. Studies on oxidants and antioxidants with a brief glance at their relevance to the immune system. Life Sci. 2016, 146, 163-173.

(8) Yang, C. S.; Ho, C.-T.; Zhang, J.; Wan, X.; Zhang, K.; Lim, J. Antioxidants: Differing Meanings in Food Science and Health Science. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 3063-3068.

(9) Yang, Y.; Zhang, H.; Yan, B.; Zhang, T.; Gao, Y.; Shi, Y.; Le, G. Health Effects of Dietary Oxidized Tyrosine and Dityrosine Administration in Mice with Nutrimetabolomic Strategies. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2017, 65, 6957-6971.

(10) Guilbaud, A.; Niquet-Leridon, C.; Boulanger, E.; Tessier, F. J. How can diet affect the accumulation of advanced glycation endproducts in the human body? Foods 2016, 5, 84.

(11) Neviere, R.; Yu, Y.; Wang, L.; Tessier, F.; Boulanger, E. Implication of advanced glycation end products (Ages) and their receptor (Rage) on myocardial contractile and mitochondrial functions. Glycoconjugate J. 2016, 33, 607-617.

(12) Scalbert, A.; Williamson, G. Dietary Intake and Bioavailability of Polyphenols. J. Nutr. 2000, 130, 2073S-2085S.

(13) Pérez-Jiménez, J.; Serrano, J.; Tabernero, M.; Arranz, S.; Díaz-Rubio, M. E.; García-Diz, L.; Goñi, I.; Saura-Calixto, F. Bioavailability of Phenolic Antioxidants Associated with Dietary Fiber: Plasma Antioxidant Capacity After Acute and Long-Term Intake in Humans. Plant Foods Hum. Nutr. 2009, 64, 102-107.

(14) Sies, H.; Berndt, C.; Jones, D. P. Oxidative stress. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 2017, 86, 715-748.

(15) Halliwell, B. The antioxidant paradox: less paradoxical now? Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 2013, 75, 637-644.

4699

(16) Witko-Sarsat, V.; Friedlander, M.; Capeillère-Blandin, C.; Nguyen-Khoa, T.; Nguyen, A. T.; Zingraff, J.; Jungers, P.; Descamps-Latscha, B. Advanced oxidation protein products as a novel marker of oxidative stress in uremia. *Kidney Int.* **1996**, *49*, 1304– 1313.

(17) Levine, R. L.; Moskovitz, J.; Stadtman, E. R. Oxidation of methionine in proteins: roles in antioxidant defense and cellular regulation. *IUBMB Life* **2000**, *50*, 301–307.

(18) Swaim, M. W.; Pizzo, S. V. Methionine sulfoxide and the oxidative regulation of plasma proteinase inhibitors. *J. Leukocyte Biol.* **1988**, *43*, 365–379.

(19) Gaut, J. P.; Byun, J.; Tran, H. D.; Heinecke, J. W. Artifact-free quantification of free 3-chlorotyrosine, 3-bromotyrosine, and 3nitrotyrosine in human plasma by electron capture-negative chemical ionization gas chromatography mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal. Biochem.* **2002**, 300, 252–259.

(20) Leeuwenburgh, C.; Hansen, P. A.; Holloszy, J. O.; Heinecke, J. W. Oxidized amino acids in the urine of aging rats: potential markers for assessing oxidative stress in vivo. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1999**, 276, R128–35.

(21) Himmelfarb, J.; McMonagle, E.; McMenamin, E. Plasma protein thiol oxidation and carbonyl formation in chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int.* **2000**, *58*, 2571–2578.

(22) Gozdzikiewicz, J.; Borawski, J.; Koc-Zorawska, E.; Mysliwiec, M. Effects of enoxaparin on myeloperoxidase release during hemodialysis. *Hemodial. Int.* **2014**, *18*, 819–824.

(23) Glomb, M. A.; Monnier, V. M. Mechanism of protein modification by glyoxal and glycolaldehyde, reactive intermediates of the Maillard reaction. J. Biol. Chem. **1995**, 270, 10017–10026.

(24) Delgado-Andrade, C. Carboxymethyl-lysine: thirty years of investigation in the field of AGE formation. *Food Funct.* **2016**, *7*, 46–57.

(25) Glomb, M. A.; Lang, G. Isolation and characterization of glyoxal-arginine modifications. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2001, 49, 1493–1501.

(26) Ushijima, Y.; Nakano, M.; Goto, T. Production and identification of bityrosine in horseradish peroxidase-H2O2-tyrosine system. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **1984**, *125*, 916–918.

(27) Curphey, T. J.; Prasad, K. S. Diquaternary salts. I. Preparation and characterization of the diquaternary salts of some diazines and diazoles. J. Org. Chem. **1972**, *37*, 2259–2266.

(28) Glomb, M. A.; Tschirnich, R. Detection of alpha-dicarbonyl compounds in Maillard reaction systems and in vivo. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2001, 49, 5543-5550.

(29) Smuda, M.; Henning, C.; Raghavan, C. T.; Johar, K.; Vasavada, A. R.; Nagaraj, R. H.; Glomb, M. A. Comprehensive analysis of maillard protein modifications in human lenses: effect of age and cataract. *Biochemistry* **2015**, *54*, 2500–2507.

(30) Hayashi, T.; Ohta, Y.; Namiki, M. Electron spin resonance spectral study on the structure of the novel free radical products formed by the reactions of sugars with amino acids or amines. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **1977**, 25, 1282–1287.

(31) Glomb, M. A.; Pfahler, C. Amides are novel protein modifications formed by physiological sugars. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 41638-41647.

(32) Acharya, A. S.; Manning, J. M. Reaction of glycolaldehyde with proteins: latent crosslinking potential of alpha-hydroxyaldehydes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1983**, *80*, 3590–3594.

(33) Hofmann, T.; Bors, W.; Stettmaier, K. Studies on radical intermediates in the early stage of the nonenzymatic browning reaction of carbohydrates and amino acids. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **1999**, 47, 379–390.

(34) Hayashi, T.; Mase, S.; Namiki, M. Formation of the N,N'dialkylpyrazine cation radical from glyoxal dialkylimine produced on reaction of a sugar with an amine or amino acid. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* **1985**, 49, 3131–3137. (35) Stadtman, E. R.; van Remmen, H.; Richardson, A.; Wehr, N. B.; Levine, R. L. Methionine oxidation and aging. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Proteins Proteomics* 2005, 1703, 135–140.

(36) Heinecke, J. W.; Li, W.; Daehnke, H. L.; Goldstein, J. A. Dityrosine, a specific marker of oxidation, is synthesized by the myeloperoxidase-hydrogen peroxide system of human neutrophils and macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 1993, 268, 4069–4077.

(37) Hörl, W. H.; Feinstein, E. I.; Wanner, C.; Frischmuth, N.; Gösele, A.; Massry, S. G. Plasma levels of main granulocyte components during hemodialysis. Comparison of new and reused dialyzers. *Am. J. Nephrol.* **1990**, *10*, 53–57.

(38) Agalou, S.; Ahmed, N.; Babaei-Jadidi, R.; Dawnay, A.; Thornalley, P. J. Profound mishandling of protein glycation degradation products in uremia and dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 2005, 16, 1471–1485.

(39) Ahmed, N.; Babaei-Jadidi, R.; Howell, S. K.; Beisswenger, P. J.; Thornalley, P. J. Degradation products of proteins damaged by glycation, oxidation and nitration in clinical type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **2005**, *48*, 1590–1603.

(40) Huggins, T. G.; Wells-Knecht, M. C.; Detorie, N. A.; Baynes, J. W.; Thorpe, S. R. Formation of o-tyrosine and dityrosine in proteins during radiolytic and metal-catalyzed oxidation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1993**, 268, 12341–12347.

(41) Wells-Knecht, M. C.; Huggins, T. G.; Dyer, D. G.; Thorpe, S. R.; Baynes, J. W. Oxidized amino acids in lens protein with age. Measurement of o-tyrosine and dityrosine in the aging human lens. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1993**, *268*, 12348–12352.

(42) Leeuwenburgh, C.; Rasmussen, J. E.; Hsu, F. F.; Mueller, D. M.; Pennathur, S.; Heinecke, J. W. Mass spectrometric quantification of markers for protein oxidation by tyrosyl radical, copper, and hydroxyl radical in low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. J. Biol. Chem. **1997**, 272, 3520–3526.

(43) Leeuwenburgh, C.; Hansen, P.; Shaish, A.; Holloszy, J. O.; Heinecke, J. W. Markers of protein oxidation by hydroxyl radical and reactive nitrogen species in tissues of aging rats. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1998**, 274, R453-61.

(44) Beckman, J. S.; Koppenol, W. H. Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: the good, the bad, and ugly. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1996**, 271, C1424-37.

(45) Ahmed, U.; Anwar, A.; Savage, R. S.; Thornalley, P. J.; Rabbani, N. Protein oxidation, nitration and glycation biomarkers for early-stage diagnosis of osteoarthritis of the knee and typing and progression of arthritic disease. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **2016**, *18*, 250.

(46) Odani, H.; Shinzato, T.; Matsumoto, Y.; Usami, J.; Maeda, K. Increase in three alpha,beta-dicarbonyl compound levels in human uremic plasma: specific in vivo determination of intermediates in advanced Maillard reaction. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 1999, 256, 89–93.

(47) Lapolla, A.; Reitano, R.; Seraglia, R.; Sartore, G.; Ragazzi, E.; Traldi, P. Evaluation of advanced glycation end products and carbonyl compounds in patients with different conditions of oxidative stress. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2005**, *49*, 685–690.

(48) Anderson, M. M.; Requena, J. R.; Crowley, J. R.; Thorpe, S. R.; Heinecke, J. W. The myeloperoxidase system of human phagocytes generates Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine on proteins: a mechanism for producing advanced glycation end products at sites of inflammation. J. Clin. Invest. **1999**, 104, 103–113.

(49) Fu, M. X.; Requena, J. R.; Jenkins, A. J.; Lyons, T. J.; Baynes, J. W.; Thorpe, S. R. The advanced glycation end product, Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine, is a product of both lipid peroxidation and glycoxidation reactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1996**, 271, 9982–9986.

(50) Wells-Knecht, K. J.; Zyzak, D. V.; Litchfield, J. E.; Thorpe, S. R.; Baynes, J. W. Mechanism of autoxidative glycosylation: identification of glyoxal and arabinose as intermediates in the autoxidative modification of proteins by glucose. *Biochemistry* **1995**, *34*, 3702– 3709.

(51) Thornalley, P. J. Glutathione-dependent detoxification of alphaoxoaldehydes by the glyoxalase system: involvement in disease

4700

mechanisms and antiproliferative activity of glyoxalase I inhibitors. Chem.-Biol. Interact. 1998, 111–112, 137–151. (52) Degenhardt, T. P.; Grass, L.; Reddy, S.; Thorpe, S. R.; Diamandis, E. P.; Baynes, J. W. The serum concentration of the advanced glycation end-product Ne-(carboxymethyl)lysine is in-creased in uremia. Technical Note. Kidney Int. 1997, 52, 1064–1067.

DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b00558 J. Agric. Food Chem. 2018, 66, 4692–4701

<u>— 88</u> —

Article

10.4 *Review:* Glycoconjugate journal (2016), vol. 33, 499-512

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499–512 DOI 10.1007/s10719-016-9694-y

REVIEW

Pathways of the Maillard reaction under physiological conditions

Christian Henning¹ · Marcus A. Glomb¹

Received: 26 February 2016 / Revised: 27 May 2016 / Accepted: 27 May 2016 / Published online: 13 June 2016 © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

Abstract Initially investigated as a color formation process in thermally treated foods, nowadays, the relevance of the Maillard reaction in vivo is generally accepted. Many chronic and age-related diseases such as diabetes, uremia, atherosclerosis, cataractogenesis and Alzheimer's disease are associated with Maillard derived advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) and α -dicarbonyl compounds as their most important precursors in terms of reactivity and abundance. However, the situation in vivo is very challenging, because Maillard chemistry is paralleled by enzymatic reactions which can lead to both, increases and decreases in certain AGEs. In addition, mechanistic findings established under the harsh conditions of food processing might not be valid under physiological conditions. The present review critically discusses the relevant α-dicarbonyl compounds as central intermediates of AGE formation in vivo with a special focus on fragmentation pathways leading to formation of amide-AGEs.

Keywords Maillard reaction \cdot Carbohydrate chemistry \cdot Advanced glycation endproducts AGE \cdot Fragmentation pathways $\cdot\beta$ -Dicarbonyl cleavage \cdot Amide-AGEs \cdot Oxidative stress

Introduction

The non-enzymatic chemistry taking place during thermal food processing was studied since Louis-Camille Maillard

discovered in 1912 that mixtures of amino acids with sugars lead to intensively brown colored structures and decarboxylation upon heating [1]. Soon it became evident, that the development of color, aroma and taste are closely linked to the complex reaction pathways of the so-called Maillard reaction. The timeline of research in this field was recently summarized by Hellwig and Henle [2]. As the performance of the analytical equipment increased it was discovered that nonenzymatic browning reactions also lead to free and proteinbound Maillard products under physiological conditions. Today these processes, which lead to posttranslational modification are accepted as important pathogenic events in a number of chronic and age-related disorders such as diabetes [3, 4], uremia [5], atherosclerosis [6] and Alzheimer's disease [7].

On a molecular basis, the Maillard reaction results in a plethora of chemical compounds, which are more generally divided into reactive intermediates and stable endproducts (advanced glycation endproducts, AGEs).

 α -Dicarbonyl compounds (α -DCs) have to be regarded as the most important central intermediates in the course of amino acid and protein modification. Therefore, knowledge of the in vivo concentrations in different matrices is required for the understanding of the mechanistic background of AGE formation and profile. However, the analytical approach to the complete α -DC spectrum is very challenging. Their high reactivity hampers direct analytical assessment and, thus, derivatization to more stable compounds is a prerequisite. Different trapping reagents like o-alkyl hydroxylamines, hydrazines, cysteamines, o-diaminobenzene derivatives and aminoguanidines are discussed in the literature [8-13]. However, derivatization of α-DCs with o-phenylenediamine (OPD) to yield the corresponding quinoxalines has evolved as the most accepted procedure [14]. Furthermore, sample collection and sample preparation were found to have a major impact on the results and have to be strictly controlled [12, 15–17].

Deringer

(E) CrossMark

Marcus A. Glomb marcus.glomb@chemie.uni-halle.de

¹ Institute of Chemistry – Food Chemistry, Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg, Kurt-Mothes-Strasse 2, D-06120 Halle/ Saale, Germany

500

Initial phase

Glucose and ascorbic acid as the major carbohydrate players *in vivo* constitute the beginning of the Maillard reaction cascade. In a first step, glucose reacts to an 1,2-enaminol by nucleophilic attack of the ε -amino group of free or protein bound lysine. Rearrangement leads to 1-amino-1-deoxy-fructose (fructoselysine, Amadori product) [18, 19]. Ascorbic acid is oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) [20]. When the Maillard reaction proceeds, both structures lead to reactive α -DCs.

The initial state preserves the C6-carbon skeleton but includes carbonyl shifts along the entire carbohydrate backbone (Fig. 1). 3-Deoxyglucosone (3-DG) is formed non-oxidatively via 1,2-enolisation and dehydration of the Amadori product [21]. 2,3-Enolization leads to 1-deoxyglucosone (1-DG) [22] and Lederer's glucosone (N^6 -(3,6-dideoxyhexos-2-ulos-6-yl)-L-lysine) originates from the 5,6-enediol [23, 24]. Oxidation of the Amadori product gives rise to glucosone [25, 26]. Ascorbic acid can be recycled by enzymatic pathways from dehydroascorbic acid [27–29]. In physiological solutions, however, part of the dehydroascorbic acid hydrolyzes irreversibly to 2,3-diketogulonic acid (2,3-DKG). These dicarbonyl compounds are direct precursors of certain AGEs, *e.g.* pyrraline and glucosepane, or undergo fragmentation reactions to yield further reactive α -DCs with a carbon backbone smaller than C6. Important breakdown cascades of the carbon backbone relevant for the formation of AGEs are presented in the following sections.

The modern view of the Maillard reaction *in vivo* considers also diverse other physiological sources for α -DCs, irrespective of Maillard chemistry, like metabolism and fat autoxidation. On the one hand, as an example most of the methylglyoxal formed *in vivo* stems from the enzymatic and spontaneous degradation of the triose phosphates glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and dihydroxyacetone phosphate, and the metabolism of ketone bodies [30], whereas large amounts of glyoxal are formed by lipid peroxidation [31]. On the other hand, both compounds are detoxified by the glyoxalase system [32].

Cyclization

Especially important in view of age-related alterations of long lived proteins are structures that crosslink two amino acid side chains. A major bivalent lysine-arginine crosslink is



Fig. 1 Initial state stages of amine induced glucose degradation retaining the intact C6-carbon backbone

D Springer

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

glucosepane which stems from Lederer's glucosone (Fig. 2). Ring closure and dehydration lead to an intramolecular aldimine which then reacts with the guanidinium group of arginine [33, 34]. As a similar but quantitatively minor crosslink, pentosidine can be explained via the same mechanism with the 4,5-enediol of a pentose as the precursor [33]. Alternatively, fragmentation of C6 α -DCs also yields the required C5 precursor for pentosidine formation. Vesperlysine (LM-1), the analogous bivalent lysine-lysine structure to pentosidine, is supposed to form via totally different pathways with ascorbic acid as the starting compound although the detailed mechanism is still unknown [35-37]. Pyrraline represents a monovalent lysine modification originating from 3-deoxyglucosone. The formation proceeds via nucleophilic attack of the ε -amino group of lysine at the C2carbonyl moiety, followed by dehydration, cyclization and aromatization (Fig. 3) [38-41].

Isomerization

First discovered by Baynes' group in 1986 [42], N⁶carboxymethyl lysine (CML) is the most important monovalent lysine modification *in vivo*. They proposed the oxidative fragmentation of the Amadori product of glucose to yield CML and erythronic acid. However, a comprehensive examination of the underlying mechanism is still lacking. An alternative route proceeds with lysine and glyoxal as precursors via glyoxal-imine to the hydrate and subsequent isomerization (Fig. 4) [43]. Furthermore, glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA), glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) and glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) can arise from the very same CML reaction cascade [44]. If the nucleophilic addition of water takes place at the imine group, isomerization yields the amide-AGE GALA. A nucleophilic attack of the ε -amino group of a second lysine molecule at the carbonyl group of glyoxal-imine leads to the bivalent lysine-lysine crosslink GOLA. Reaction of the intermediate state with a second molecule of glyoxal, ring closure and water elimination gives the imidazolium crosslink GOLD [45]. Analogous imidazolium salts are methylglyoxal lysine dimer (MOLD) [46, 47] and 3-deoxyglucosone lysine dimer (DOLD) [48] with the corresponding imine structures as precursors. The CML-glyoxal reaction cascade has been successfully translated to methylglyoxal leading to N^6 -carboxyethyl lysine (CEL) and N^6 -lactoyl lysine. However, here in contrast to CMLs additional Amadori product route, the formation via isomerization is exclusive.

In addition to the ε -amino group of lysine the guanidinium group of arginine is prone to yield various Maillard modifications. Here, only α-DCs are known precursors for monovalent modifications. Our workgroup investigated the mechanistic pathway of the reaction with glyoxal [49]. The intermediate 2-imino-4,5-dihydroxyimidazolidine is slowly converted to N^7 -carboxymethyl arginine (CMA) through ring opening of the imidazolidine to the open-chained hemiaminal and intramolecular disproportionation, *i.e.* isomerization. An alternative route, only present under strong acidic conditions, leads to glyoxal imidazolinone 3 (G-H3). Thus, formation of G-H3 is not possible under physiological conditions but occurs as an artifact of sample cleanup. CMA has to be regarded as the only stable arginine modification with glyoxal. Methylglyoxal as a precursor gives a different picture. Here, as illustrated in Fig. 5, the homologous structure N^7 -carboxyethyl arginine (CEA) [50, 51] is a minor intermediate of the equilibrium between a kinetically controlled (MG-H3) and a thermodynamically controlled imidazolinone (MG-H1) [52]. In the methylglyoxal reactions the various cyclic imidazolinone and pyrimidine derivatives are



Fig. 2 Cyclisation of Lederer's glucosone ($R = -CH_2OH$) and Lederer's pentosone (R = -H) lead to bivalent lysine-arginine crosslinks glucosepane and pentosidine, respectively

🖄 Springer



Fig. 4 The N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine (CML) reaction cascade explains the formation of glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA), glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) and glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) via isomerization of the hydrated glyoxal-imine

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

Fig. 5 Formation pathways of methylglyoxal-arginine modifications



of much higher quantitative importance. In general, three constitutional isomers of the imidazolinones originating from glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-DG can be formulated. The isomer type 1 refers to the imidazolinone with an exocyclic δ -amino group whereas isomer type 2 and type 3 possess an endocyclic δ -nitrogen atom [53, 54]. In addition, tautomerization of the imino group of MG-H1 or racemization of the chiral center of the imidazolinone ring system of MG-H2 and MG-H3 lead to a multitude of further isomeric structures [52]. A stable and fluorescent endproduct of the reaction of arginine with methylglyoxal, argpyrimidine (AP), was identified by Shipanova *et al.* [55]. The formation proceeds via the same precursor compound as the reaction to CEA with incorporation of a second molecule of methylglyoxal. An alternative route yields a tetrahydropyrimidine (THP) [56].

While the described isomerization reactions maintain the carbon backbone, the following sections discuss possible fragmentation pathways (Fig. 6). Basically, three different

mechanisms are described in the literature [57, 58]: retroaldol cleavage, α -dicarbonyl cleavage and β -dicarbonyl cleavage. This concept has to be re-evaluated in the light of new findings. First, differentiation into a hydrolytic [59] and an oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage [60] has to be made. Second, both the hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl and the oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage have to be complemented by an aminecatalyzed mechanism [61].

Retro-aldol cleavage

 β -Hydroxy carbonyl compounds (aldols) can undergo retroaldolization by cleavage of the carbon-carbon bond between C α and C β next to the carbonyl group. This mechanism is still the most accepted fragmentation pathway in Maillard reactions for sugars, Amadori and Heyns rearrangement products and α -DCs used to explain formation of shorter-chain hydroxyl

🖄 Springer



Fig. 6 Fragmentation pathways of α -dicarbonyl compounds. The relevant mechanisms in vivo are set in **bold** fonds

ketones, hydroxyl aldehydes and dicarbonyl compounds [57, 62-64]. However, as stated in a recent review, there is no convincing experimental proof for retro-aldolization in α-DC fragmentation [65]. The relevance of retro-aldol fragmentation under physiological conditions is more than questionable.

Hydrolytic α -cleavage

A second, frequently reported concept of α -DC fragmentation is the hydrolytic α -cleavage [59, 66–68]. Based on an intramolecular disproportionation, the carbon-carbon bond fission reaction takes place between both carbonyl moieties yielding a carboxylic acid and an aldehyde. However, experiments of Davidek et al. and others clearly disproved this mechanism and proposed an oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage mechanism instead [69].

Oxidative α -cleavage

The oxidative α -cleavage proposed by Davidek et al. [69] was further verified by in vitro experiments with 1-deoxyglucosone

D Springer

[60]. As expected, acetic acid and the counterpart erythronic acid were detected. More recently, we performed a mechanistic in-depth investigation of the degradation pathways of ascorbic acid [70]. Based on the incorporation of activated molecular oxygen generated by e.g. photooxidation processes or hydroperoxide species the mechanism starts with an attack at the C2 or C3 carbonyl moiety of 2,3-DKG (Fig. 7). After rearrangement hydrolysis of the intermediate acid anhydride yields a mixture of oxalic acid and threonic acid. Acylation is an amine driven alternative route where the ε -amino group of lysine initiates a nucleophilic attack on the anhydride to directly yield the amide-AGEs N^6 -oxalyl lysine and N^6 -threonyl lysine.

Hydrolytic β-cleavage

Hydrolytic β-dicarbonyl cleavage of sugars was already mentioned in 1961 as an alternative fragmentation pathway to retro-aldol reactions [71]. Again, Davidek et al. were the first to perform detailed mechanistic studies [72, 73]. The results were confirmed by investigations of our workgroup [74, 75]. We studied the degradation of 1-DG which is isomerized into its 2,4-tautomer. Addition of water leads to a hydrate which



Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

Fig. 7 Oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage reaction of 2,3-diketogulonic acid which is the product of ascorbic acid oxidation and hydrolytic ring opening. Hydrolytic attack leads to oxalic acid and threonic acid

(R = -OH) whereas lysine induced fragmentation (R = -NH-lys) yields the amide structure and the corresponding acid

induces scission to acetic acid and a C4-enediol intermediate. Isomerization eventually yields tetruloses and tetrosones (Fig. 8). Similarly, 2,3-DKG can fragment to oxalic acid and the corresponding C4-enediol based on the same pathway. Hydration at the C2 carbonyl moiety without prior

tautomerization results in decarboxylation as an alternative reaction pathway, which indeed follows the same mechanistic principle. The C5-enediol intermediate can dehydrate to form xylosone or isomerize to yield xylonic acid and lyxonic acid, respectively (Fig. 9) [70].



2 Springer



Amine induced β-cleavage

Recently, a novel class of AGEs (amide-AGEs) was discovered during the degradation of 1-DG in aqueous solutions under physiological conditions [61] and also *in vivo* [76, 77]. The formation of amide-AGEs was explained via an amine induced β -cleavage mechanism which parallels the above hydrolytic pathways (Fig. 10). Indeed, incubations of α -DCs in the presence of lysine yielded the enediol in form of the respective ketose, the matching carboxylic acid and the corresponding amide structure (*e.g.* N⁶-acetyl lysine with 2, 4-deoxyglucosone as the precursor or N⁶-oxalyl lysine with 2, 4-diketogulonic acid as the precursor) [61, 78].

Relevance in vivo

As already discussed above, the basis for the understanding of the complex Maillard processes *in vivo* is the knowledge of the complete spectrum of α -DCs. However, analytical investigations were often limited to few selected compounds like glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-DG [5, 12, 79–85]. A more comprehensive approach including important intermediates from a mechanistic point of view is needed, *e.g.* 1-DG and 2,3-DKG. Initial investigations for a complete set of α -DCs in human plasma and lens were recently published and should be continuously extended [15, 86].



Fig. 10 Hydrolytic β -dicarbonyl cleavage leads to an enediol structure and a carboxylic acid as the counterpart. The analogous amine induced β -dicarbonyl cleavage yields the amide structure as the counterpart of the enediol

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

The analytical assessment of AGE free adducts (AGEmodified amino acids) in different biological matrices is a difficult task. Even more challenging is the quantitation of protein bound AGEs because hydrolysis of the peptide bonds is a necessity. Total hydrolysis is achieved by strong acidic treatment at high temperatures. However, under these harsh conditions, many of the above described AGEs are not stable. To circumvent this problem to achieve a complete AGE spectrum different protocols of enzymatic protein hydrolyses were developed [44, 77, 87, 88]. It is important in this regard to determine the efficiency of the enzymatic digestion and to reassure the stability of *e.g.* above mentioned amidation under these conditions. Indeed, our multistep enzymatic approach including treatment with Pronase E, leucine aminopeptidase and carboxypeptidase Y showed no degradation of reference amide-AGEs.

Table 1 summarizes mono- and bivalent lysine derived AGEs, monovalent arginine derived AGEs and bivalent lysine-arginine crosslinks which are relevant *in vivo*. For each compound the known mechanism of formation and the analytical detection in different matrices are listed without subdivision into protein bound modifications and free adducts. Obviously, there is no claim of completeness.

CML and the crosslink pentosidine represent the most investigated AGEs. CML was the first AGE discovered [42] and is of significant quantitative importance. This fact and its acid stability allowed the quantitation in many different matrices [89]. Pentosidine represents an acid stable fluorophore and thus enabled very sensitive detection in a variety of human tissues even before the coupling of liquid chromatography with mass spectrometry became a common analytical tool [115–117].

A novel class of important glycation products are amide-AGEs. Their quantitative relevance in lens protein [44, 77] and human plasma [76] was already established. Investigations on the mechanistic reaction pathways *in vivo* often raise the question, if the observed AGEs stem mainly from glucose degradation or if ascorbic acid has to be considered as the dominant precursor. The discovery of ascorbic acid specific amide-AGEs N^6 -threonyl lysine and N^6 -xylonyl/lyxonyl lysine in *in vitro* studies [70] and their quantitation in human lens [77] were a first attempt to clarify this issue. Their low abundance raises questions about the role of ascorbic acid as the predominant precursor of AGEs in lens proteins.

Another interesting aspect which needs critical reflection is the chemical stability of AGEs *in vivo*. Common lysine modifications like CML, CEL, pyraline, GOLD, MOLD etc. are thought to be stable under physiological conditions. However, *in vitro* experiments clearly showed that monovalent arginine modifications except CMA and argpyrimidine are only of limited chemical stability with half-lives from one to several weeks, strongly dependent on incubation conditions like pH value, the choosen buffer and buffer strenght [49, 52, 53, 107]. Consequently, they are not likely to show a time-dependent accumulation in long-lived proteins, *e.g.* lens protein, over a time scale of years. However, our findings in normal human lenses contradict this assumption [77]. All target AGEs like CML, CEL, CMA, CEA, MG-H1, MG-H3, THP, glucosepane and most of the amide-AGEs correlated with

glucosepane and most of the amide-AGEs correlated with donor age. Obviously, the formation rate of arginine modifications with limited stability has to be higher than their degradation rate. On the other hand, for lysine-amide-AGEs exclusively N^6 -acetyl lysine and the C4 lysine amides (N^6 -threonyl and N^6 -erythronyl lysine) showed no agerelated accumulation. This did not reflect the *in vitro* situation, where all amide-AGEs proved to be stable under physiological conditions. Indeed, formation of N^6 -acetyl lysine is known to be paralleled by non-Maillard reactions [118] but alternative mechanisms for C4 lysine amide synthesis/degradation *in vivo* are still unclear.

Markers for protein oxidation

It is a matter of common knowledge, that AGE formation *in vivo* is promoted by a general increase in oxidative stress associated with many chronic diseases. This is not surprising, considering that important degradation pathways in Maillard chemistry like the oxidative α -dicarbonyl cleavage or the formation of dehydroascorbic acid require oxygen. Consequently, to evaluate the stress status in vivo, one promising approach is the quantitation of specific advanced protein oxidation products. To use AGEs like CML which originate from oxidative reaction pathways as analytical probes is therefore an obvious idea. However, most AGEs or precursors thereof can stem from various sources. Therefore, direct oxidation products of protein side chains independent of Maillard chemistry are often discussed as markers for oxidative stress. Methionine sulfoxide is the oxidation product of methionine residues [111, 119, 120]. o-Tyrosine, the isomer of the natural occurring p-tyrosine, is formed via attack of hydroxyl radicals at phenylalanine [121]. 3-Nitrotyrosine [122] and o,o'dityrosine [121] are the oxidation products of tyrosine residues. In this concept we introduced a new marker based on the redox-equilibrium formed by protein bound glycolaldehyde and glyoxal [123]. Glyoxal represents the oxidized form of glycolaldehyde. The respective imines were stabilized as N^6 hydroxyethyl lysine derivatives by reduction with sodium borodeuteride. Recently, the potential of this approach was proven in a clinical trial with uremic patients versus healthy controls. Uremia is characterized by a state of inflammatory stress resulting from increased oxidation of carbohydrates and lipids [124–131]. Indeed, a clear shift towards the factor of 17 of the ratio of glyoxal derived N^6 -hydroxyethyl lysine to the glycolaldehyde derived derivative was observed [submitted to JBC]. In healthy human subjects glyoxal and glycolaldehyde are present in approximately equal amounts.

🖄 Springer
508

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499–512

AGE compound	Mechanism of formation	Quantitation in vivo
Monovalent lysine modifications		
N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine (CML) ^[a]	isomerization, unknown ox. fragmentation	various tissues, plasma, blood cells, urine, faecis, lens, reviewed in [89, 90]
N ⁶ -carboxyethyl lysine (CEL) [a]	isomerization	plasma [76, 91–93]; plasma, blood cells, urine [54, 94] lens [77, 95]
glycolic acid lysine amide (GALA) ^[b]	isomerization	lens [77]
N ⁶ -formyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	plasma [76], lens [77]
N ⁶ -acetyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	plasma [76], lens [77]
N ⁶ -oxalyl lysine ^[b]	ox. α -cleavage, amine induced β -cleavage	lens [77]
N ⁶ -lactoyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	plasma [76]; lens [77]
N ⁶ -glycerinyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	plasma [76]
N ⁶ -threonyl lysine ^[b]	ox. α-cleavage	lens [77]
N ⁶ -xylonyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	lens [77]
N ⁶ -lyxonyl lysine ^[b]	amine induced β-cleavage	lens [77]
pyrraline ^[b]	cyclisation	plasma [96, 97], serum [98]; urine [99–101]; lens [77, 102] various tissue [97]
Bivalent lysine modifications		
glyoxal lysine amide (GOLA) ^[b]	isomerization	lens [44, 77]
glyoxal lysine dimer (GOLD) [a]	isomerization	serum [98]; lens [103]; serum, lens [104]
methylglyoxal lysine dimer (MOLD) ^[a]	isomerization	serum [47, 98]; plasma, blood cells, urine [54, 94]; lens [103] ; serum, lens [104]
vesperlysine (LM-1) ^[a]	unknown	lens [37]
Monovalent arginine modifications		
N ⁷ -carboxymethyl arginine [b]	isomerization	serum [105], lens [77]
N ⁷ -carboxyethyl arginine [b]	isomerization	lens [77]
methylglyoxal imidazolinone (MG-H1) ^[b]	isomerization	plasma, blood cells, urine [54, 94]; lens [77, 106]
methylglyoxal imidazolinone (MG-H3) [b]	isomerization	lens [77]
3-deoxyglucosone imidazolinone (3DG-H) [b]	isomerization	plasma, blood cells, urine [54, 94];
argpyrimidine (AP) ^[a]	isomerization	plasma, blood cells, urine [54, 94]; lens [77, 106]
tetrahydropyrimidine (THP) ^[b]	isomerization	plasma [91]; lens [77]
Bivalent lysine-arginine modifications		
glucosepane ^[b]	cyclisation	lens [77]; serum, lens [107]; collagen [108]
pentosidine ^[a]	cyclisation	plasma [92, 109]; serum [98]; urine [99, 100]; urine, serum [110]; plasma, blood cells, urine [54, 94]; collagen [111–113]; lens [106, 114]

^[a] acid stable; ^[b] total degradation under strong acidic conditions

Summary

First, it has to be stated, that the conventional retro-aldol fragmentation pathway is not a significant route for carbohydrate fragmentation in Maillard chemistry under physiological conditions. Second, there is no convincing mechanistic basis for the often suggested hydrolytic α -cleavage.

In contrast, the β -dicarbonyl cleavage route must be considered as the major carbohydrate fragmentation pathway in general (Fig. 6). The hydrolytic pathway is paralleled in the presence of amino acids or proteins by an analogous amine catalyzed cleavage mechanism. Indeed, acylation is a well-

🖄 Springer

known regulatory concept *in vivo* [118]. The posttranslational acylation of amino acids in the polypeptide chain neutralizes the positive charge and, thus, changes protein function in various ways [132, 133]. Non-enzymatic acylation as described above parallels enzymatic regulatory mechanisms by affecting the same targets. However, the Maillard derived protein modifications might be irreversible and lead to accumulation and adverse effects on protein characteristics.

A further fragmentation route *in vivo*, which is of great mechanistic importance is based on oxidative α -dicarbonyl scission to yield carboxylic acids and related amine acylation. The quantitative aspects of this route still have to be evaluated.

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

Abbreviations

AGE advanced glycation endproduct, *α*-*DC α*-dicarbonyl compound, *OPD α*-phenylenediamine, *DHA* dehydroascorbic acid, *3-DG* 3-deoxyglucosone, *1-DG* 1-deoxyglucosone, *2,3-DKG* 2, 3-diketogulonic acid, *CML* N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine, *GALA* glycolic acid lysine amide, *GOLA* glyoxal lysine amide, *GOLD* glyoxal lysine dimer, *MOLD* methylglyoxal lysine dimer, *DOLD* 3-deoxyglucosone lysine dimer, *CEL* N^6 -carboxymethyl lysine, *G-H3* glyoxal imidazolinone 3, *CEA* N^7 -carboxymethyl lysine, *MG-H3* methylglyoxal imidazolinone 3, *MH-H1* methylglyoxal imidazolinone 1, *AP* argpyrimidine, *THP* tetrahydropyrimidine.

References

- Maillard L.C.: Action des acidesamines sur les sucres: formation des melanoidines par voie methodique. CR Acad. Sci. Paris. 154, 66–68 (1912)
- Hellwig M., Henle T.: Baking, ageing, diabetes: a short history of the Maillard reaction. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Eng. 53, 10316– 10329 (2014)
- Singh R., Barden A., Mori T., Beilin L.: Advanced glycation endproducts: a review. Diabetologia. 44, 129–146 (2001)
- Beisswenger P.J.: Methylglyoxal in diabetes: link to treatment, glycaemic control and biomarkers of complications. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 42, 450–456 (2014)
- Odani H., Shinzato T., Matsumoto Y., Usami J., Maeda K.: Increase in three alpha, beta-dicarbonyl compound levels in human uremic plasma: specific *in vivo* determination of intermediates in advanced Maillard reaction. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 256, 89–93 (1999)
- Miyazawa T., Nakagawa K., Shimasaki S., Nagai R.: Lipid glycation and protein glycation in diabetes and atherosclerosis. Amino Acids. 42, 1163–1170 (2012)
- Smith M.A., Taneda S., Richey P.L., Miyata S., Yan S.D., Stern D., Sayre L.M., Monnier V.M., Perry G.: Advanced Maillard reaction end products are associated with Alzheimer disease pathology. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91, 5710–5714 (1994)
- de Revel G., Bertrand A.: A method for the detection of carbonyl compounds in wine: Glyoxal and methylglyoxal. J. Sci. Food Agric. 61, 267–272 (1993)
- Severin T., Hiebl J., Popp-Ginsbach H.: Investigations relating to the maillard reaction XX. Identification of glyceraldehyd dihydroxyacetone and other hydrophilic sugar degradation products in caramel mixtures. Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch. **178**, 284–287 (1984)
- Wells-Knecht K.J., Zyzak D.V., Litchfield J.E., Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: Mechanism of autoxidative glycosylation: identification of glyoxal and arabinose as intermediates in the autoxidative modification of proteins by glucose. Biochemistry. 34, 3702–3709 (1995)
- 11. Hayashi T., Shibamoto T.: Analysis of methyl glyoxal in foods and beverages. J. Agric. Food Chem. **33**, 1090–1093 (1985)
- McLellan A.C., Phillips S.A., Thornalley P.J.: The assay of methylglyoxal in biological systems by derivatization with 1,2diamino-4,5-dimethoxybenzene. Anal. Biochem. 206, 17–23 (1992)
- Hirsch J., Petrakova E., Feather M.S.: The reaction of some dicarbonyl sugars with aminoguanidine. Carbohydr. Res. 232, 125–130 (1992)

- Glomb M.A., Tschirnich R.: Detection of alpha-dicarbonyl compounds in Maillard reaction systems and *in vivo*. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 5543–5550 (2001)
- Henning C., Liehr K., Girndt M., Ulrich C., Glomb M.A.: Extending the spectrum of α-dicarbonyl compounds *in vivo*. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 28676–28688 (2014)
- Mittelmaier S., Fünfrocken M., Fenn D., Fichert T., Pischetsrieder M.: Identification and quantification of the glucose degradation product glucosone in peritoneal dialysis fluids by HPLC/DAD/ MSMS. J. Chromatogr. B. 878, 877–882 (2010)
- Chaplen F.W.R., Fahl W.E., Cameron D.C.: Detection of methylglyoxal as a degradation product of DNA and nucleic acid components treated with strong acid. Anal. Biochem. 236, 262– 269 (1996)
- Amadori, M.: The product of the condensation of glucose and pphenetidine. Atli Accad. Lincei [8] 9, 68–73 (1929)
- Heyns K., Noack H.: Die Umsetzung von D-Fructose mit L-Lysin und L-Arginin und deren Beziehung zu nichtenzymatischen Bräunungsreaktionen. Chem. Ber. 95, 720–727 (1962)
- Shin D.B., Feather M.S.: The degradation of L-ascorbic acid in neutral solutions containing oxygen. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 9, 461– 469 (1990)
- Beck J., Ledl F., Severin T.: Formation of glucosyl-deoxyosones from Amadori compounds of maltose. Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch. 188, 118–121 (1989)
- Morita N., Inoue K., Takagi M.: Quinoxalines derived from disaccharides with O-phenylenediamine under weakly acidic Reflux conditions. Agric. Biol. Chem. 49, 3279–3289 (1985)
- Biemel K.M., Conrad J., Lederer M.O.: Unexpected carbonyl mobility in aminoketoses: the key to major Maillard crosslinks. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 41, 801–804 (2002)
- Reihl O., Rothenbacher T.M., Lederer M.O., Schwack W.: Carbohydrate carbonyl mobility—the key process in the formation of α-dicarbonyl intermediates. Carbohydr. Res. 339, 1609– 1618 (2004)
- Gobert J., Glomb M.A.: Degradation of glucose: reinvestigation of reactive α-dicarbonyl compounds[†]. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 8591–8597 (2009)
- Kawakishi S., Tsunehiro J., Uchida K.: Autoxidative degradation of Amadori compounds in the presence of copper ion. Carbohydr. Res. 211, 167–171 (1991)
- Winkler B.: Unequivocal evidence in support of the nonenzymatic redox coupling between glutathione/glutathione disulfide and ascorbic acid/dehydroascorbic acid. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj. 1117, 287–290 (1992)
- Bode A.M., Yavarow C.R., Fry D.A., Vargas T.: Enzymatic basis for altered ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid levels in diabetes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 191, 1347–1353 (1993)
- Arrigoni O., Tullio D., C. M.: Ascorbic acid: much more than just an antioxidant. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj. 1569, 1–9 (2002)
- Rabbani N., Thomalley P.J.: Methylglyoxal, glyoxalase 1 and the dicarbonyl proteome. Amino Acids. 42, 1133–1142 (2012)
- Fu M.-X., Requena J.R., Jenkins A.J., Lyons T.J., Baynes J.W., Thorpe S.R.: The advanced glycation end product, N-(carboxymethyl) lysine, is a product of both lipid peroxidation and glycoxidation reactions. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9982–9986 (1996)
- Thornalley P.J.: Glutathione-dependent detoxification of αoxoaldehydes by the glyoxalase system: involvement in disease mechanisms and antiproliferative activity of glyoxalase I inhibitors. Chem. Biol. Interact. 111, 137–151 (1998)
- Biemel K.M., Reihl O., Conrad J., Lederer M.O.: Formation Pathways for Lysine-Arginine Cross-links Derived from Hexoses and Pentoses by Maillard Processes UNRAVELING

Deringer

510

THE STRUCTURE OF A PENTOSIDINE PRECURSOR. J. Biol. Chem. **276**, 23405–23412 (2001)

- Lederer M.O., Bühler H.P.: Cross-linking of proteins by Maillard processes—characterization and detection of a lysine-arginine cross-link derived from D-glucose. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 7, 1081–1088 (1999)
- Nagaraj R.H., Monnier V.M.: Isolation and characterization of a blue fluorophore from human eye lens crystallins: *in vitro* formation from Maillard reaction with ascorbate and ribose. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj. **1116**, 34–42 (1992)
- Nakamura K., Nakazawa Y., Ienaga K.: Acid-stable fluorescent advanced glycation end products: vesperlysines A, B, and C are formed as crosslinked products in the Maillard reaction between lysine or proteins with glucose. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 232, 227–230 (1997)
- Tessier F., Obrenovich M., Monnier V.M.: Structure and mechanism of formation of human lens fluorophore LM-1 relationship to vesperlysine A and the advanced Maillard reaction in aging, diabetes, and cataractogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 20796–20804 (1999)
- Nakayama T., Hayase F., Kato H.: Formation of ε-(2-Formyl-5hydroxy-methyl-pyrrol-1-yl)-l-norleucine in the Maillard Reaction between d-Glucose and l-Lysine. Agric. Biol. Chem. 44, 1201–1202 (1980)
- Miller R., Olsson K.: Synthesis of (+-)-2-Formyl-5-(hydroximethyl) pyrrol-1-norleucine. A biologically active Maillard reaction product derived from glucose and lysine. Acta Chem. Scand. Ser. 39, 717–723 (1985)
- Hayase F., Nagaraj R.H., Miyata S., Njoroge F.G., Monnier V.M.: Aging of proteins: immunological detection of a glucose-derived pyrrole formed during maillard reaction *in vivo*. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 3758–3764 (1989)
- Njoroge F.G., Sayre L.M., Monnier V.M.: Detection of D-glucosederived pyrrole compounds during Maillard reaction under physiological conditions. Carbohydr. Res. 167, 211–220 (1987)
- Ahmed M.U., Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: Identification of N epsilon-carboxymethyllysine as a degradation product of fructoselysine in glycated protein. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 4889– 4894 (1986)
- Glomb M.A., Monnier V.M.: Mechanism of protein modification by glyoxal and glycolaldehyde, reactive intermediates of the Maillard reaction. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 10017–10026 (1995)
- Glomb M.A., Pfahler C.: Amides are novel protein modifications formed by physiological sugars. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 41638–41647 (2001)
- Wells-Knecht K.J., Brinkmann E., Baynes J.W.: Characterization of an imidazolium salt formed from glyoxal and N. alphahippuryllysine: A model for maillard reaction crosslinks in proteins. J. Org. Chem. 60, 6246–6247 (1995)
- Brinkmann E., Wells-Knecht K.J., Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: Characterization of an imidazolium compound formed by reaction of methylglyoxal and N α-hippuryllysine. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1, 2817–2818 (1995)
- Nagaraj R.H., Shipanova I.N., Faust F.M.: Protein cross-linking by the Maillard reaction isolation, characterization, and *in vivo* detection of a lysine-lysine cross-link derived from methylglyoxal. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 19338–19345 (1996)
- Skovsted I.C., Christensen M., Breinholt J., Mortensen S.B.: Characterisation of a novel AGE-compound derived from lysine and 3-deoxyglucosone. Cell. Mol. Biol. (Noisy-le-Grand). 44, 1159–1163 (1998)
- Glomb M.A., Lang G.: Isolation and characterization of glyoxalarginine modifications. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 1493–1501 (2001)
- 50. Alt N., Schieberle P.: Model studies on the influence of high hydrostatic pressure on the formation of glycated arginine

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

modifications at elevated temperatures. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 5789–5797 (2005)

- Alt N., Schieberle P.: Identification of N7-(1-Carboxyethyl)-Arginine, a Novel Posttranslational Protein Modification of Arginine Formed at High Hydrostatic Pressure. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1043, 55–58 (2005)
- 52. Klöpfer A., Spanneberg R., Glomb M.A.: Formation of arginine modifications in a model system of N α-tert-butoxycarbonyl (Boc)-arginine with methylglyoxal. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59, 394–401 (2010)
- 53. Ahmed N., Argirov O.K., Minhas H.S., Cordeiro C.A.A., Thornalley P.J.: Assay of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs): surveying AGEs by chromatographic assay with derivatization by 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate and application to N∈-carboxymethyl-lysinc-and N∈-(1-carboxyethyl) lysinc-modified albumin. Biochem. J. **364**, 1–14 (2002)
- Thornalley P.J., Battah S., Ahmed N., Karachalias N., Agalou S., Babaei-Jadidi R., Dawnay A.: Quantitative screening of advanced glycation endproducts in cellular and extracellular proteins by tandem mass spectrometry. Biochem. J. 375, 581–592 (2003)
 Shipanova I.N., Glomb M.A., Nagaraj R.H.: Protein modification by
- Shipanova I.N., Glomb M.A., Nagaraj R.H.: Protein modification by methylglyoxal: chemical nature and synthetic mechanism of a major fluorescent adduct. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 344, 29–36 (1997)
- Oya T., Hattori N., Mizuno Y., Miyata S., Maeda S., Osawa T., Uchida K.: Methylglyoxal Modification of Protein: CHEMICAL AND IMMUNOCHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF METHYLGLYOXAL-ARGININE ADDUCTS. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 18492–18502 (1999)
- 57. Weenen H.: Reactive intermediates and carbohydrate fragmentation in Maillard chemistry. Food Chem. **62**, 393–401 (1998)
- Tressl, R., Rewicki, D.: Heat Generated Flavors and Precursors. In: Teranishi, R., Wick, E.L., Hornstein, I. (eds.) Flavor Chemistry: Thirty Years of Progress, pp. 305–25. Springer US, Boston, MA (1999)
- Kim M.-O., Baltes W.: On the role of 2, 3-dihydro-3, 5-dihydroxy-6-methyl-4 (H)-pyran-4-one in the Maillard reaction. J. Agric. Food Chem. 44, 282–289 (1996)
- Davidek T., Robert F., Devaud S., Vera F.A., Blank I.: Sugar fragmentation in the Maillard reaction cascade: Formation of short-chain carboxylic acids by a new oxidative α-dicarbonyl cleavage pathway. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54, 6677–6684 (2006)
- Smuda M., Voigt M., Glomb M.A.: Degradation of 1-deoxy-Derythro-hexo-2, 3-diulose in the presence of lysine leads to formation of carboxylic acid amides. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 6458– 6464 (2010)
- Hodge J.E.: Dehydrated foods, chemistry of browning reactions in model systems. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1, 928–943 (1953)
- Thornalley P.J., Langborg A., Minhas H.S.: Formation of glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3-deoxyglucosone in the glycation of proteins by glucose. Biochem. J. 344, 109–116 (1999)
- Yaylayan V.A., Keyhani A.: Origin of carbohydrate degradation products in L-alanine/D-[13C] glucose model systems. J. Agric. Food Chem. 48, 2415–2419 (2000)
- Smuda M., Glomb M.A.: Fragmentation pathways during Maillard-induced carbohydrate degradation. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61, 10198–10208 (2013)
- Ginz M., Balzer H.H., Bradbury A.G.W., Maier H.G.: Formation of aliphatic acids by carbohydrate degradation during roasting of coffee. Eur. Food Res. Technol. 211, 404–410 (2000)
- Brands C.M.J., van Boekel M.A.J.S.: Reactions of monosaccharides during heating of sugar-casein systems: building of a reaction network model. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 4667–4675 (2001)
- Martins S.I., Marcelis A.T.M., van Boekel M.A.J.S.: Kinetic modelling of Amadori N-(1-deoxy-D-fructos-1-yl)-glycine degradation pathways. Part I—Reaction mechanism. Carbohydr. Res. 338, 1651–1663 (2003)

🖄 Springer

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499–512

- Davídek T., Devaud S., Robert F., Blank I.: Sugar fragmentation in the Maillard reaction cascade: isotope labeling studies on the formation of acetic acid by a hydrolytic β-dicarbonyl cleavage mechanism. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54, 6667–6676 (2006)
- Smuda M., Glomb M.A.: Maillard degradation pathways of vitamin C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 52, 4887–4891 (2013)
- Hayami J.: Studies on the chemical decomposition of simple sugars. XII. Mechanism of the acetol formation. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 34, 927–932 (1961)
- Mills F.D., Weisleder D., Hodge J.E.: 2, 3-Dihydro-3, 5-dihydroxy-6-methyl-4H-pyran-4-one, a novel nonenzymatic browning product. Tetrahedron Lett. 11, 1243–1246 (1970)
- Davidek T., Devaud S., Robert F., Blank I.: The effect of reaction conditions on the origin and yields of acetic acid generated by the Maillard reaction. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. **1043**, 73–79 (2005)
- Voigt M., Glomb M.A.: Reactivity of 1-Deoxy-D-erythro-hexo-2, 3-diulose: a key intermediate in the Maillard chemistry of hexoses. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 4765–4770 (2009)
- Voigt M., Smuda M., Pfahler C., Glomb M.A.: Oxygen-dependent fragmentation reactions during the degradation of 1-deoxy-derythro-hexo-2, 3-diulose. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 5685–5691 (2010)
- Henning C., Smuda M., Girndt M., Ulrich C., Glomb M.A.: Molecular basis of maillard amide-advanced glycation end product (AGE) formation *in vivo*. J. Biol. Chem. **286**, 44350–44356 (2011)
- Smuda M., Henning C., Raghavan C.T., Johar K., Vasavada A.R., Nagaraj R.H., Glomb M.A.: Comprehensive analysis of maillard protein modifications in human lenses: effect of age and cataract. Biochemistry. 54, 2500–2507 (2015)
- Smuda, M., Glomb, M.A.: Maillard Degradation of Vitamin C: β-Dicarbonyl Cleavage Leads to Novel Amide-AGEs. 11th International Symposium on the Maillard Reaction Poster Presentation S1.12 (2012)
- Mirza M.A., Kandhro A.J., Memon S.Q., Khuhawar M.Y., Arain R.: Determination of glyoxal and methylglyoxal in the serum of diabetic patients by MEKC using stilbenediamine as derivatizing reagent. Electrophoresis. 28, 3940–3947 (2007)
- Lapolla A., Flamini R., Lupo A., Arico N.C., Rugiu C., Reitano R., Tubaro M., Ragazzi E., Seraglia R., Traldi P.: Evaluation of glyoxal and methylglyoxal levels in uremic patients under peritoneal dialysis. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. **1043**, 217–224 (2005)
- Lapolla A., Reitano R., Seraglia R., Sartore G., Ragazzi E., Traldi P.: Evaluation of advanced glycation end products and carbonyl compounds in patients with different conditions of oxidative stress. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 49, 685–690 (2005)
- Knecht K.J., Feather M.S., Baynes J.W.: Detection of 3deoxyfructose and 3-deoxyglucosone in human urine and plasma: evidence for intermediate stages of the Maillard reaction *in vivo*. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **294**, 130–137 (1992)
- Nakayama K., Nakayama M., Iwabuchi M., Terawaki H., Sato T., Kohno M., Ito S.: Plasma α-oxoaldehyde levels in diabetic and nondiabetic chronic kidney disease patients. Am. J. Nephrol. 28, 871–878 (2008)
- Lopez-Anaya A., Mayersohn M.: Ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids simultaneously quantified in biological fluids by liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, and comparison with a colorimetric assay. Clin. Chem. 33, 1874–1878 (1987)
- Haik G.M., Lo T.W.C., Thornalley P.J.: Methylglyoxal concentration and glyoxalase activities in the human lens. Exp. Eye Res. 59, 497–500 (1994)
- Nemet I., Monnier V.M.: Vitamin C degradation products and pathways in the human lens. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 37128–37136 (2011)
- 87. Henle T., Walter H., Klostermeyer H.: Evaluation of the extent of the early Maillard-reaction in milk products by direct

measurement of the Amadori-product lactuloselysine. Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch. **193**, 119–122 (1991)

- Ahmed N., Thornalley P.J.: Assay of early and advanced glycation adducts by enzymatic hydrolysis of proteins and HPLC of 6aminoquinolylcarbonyl adducts. Int. Congr. Ser. 1245, 279–283 (2002)
- Delgado-Andrade C.: Carboxymethyl-lysine: thirty years of investigation in the field of AGE formation. Food Funct. 7, 46–57 (2016)
- Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: CML: a brief history. Int. Congr. Ser. 1245, 91–99 (2002)
- van Eupen M.G.A., Schram M.T., Colhoun H.M., Scheijen J.L.J.M., Stehouwer C.D.A., Schalkwijk C.G.: Plasma levels of advanced glycation endproducts are associated with type 1 diabetes and coronary artery calcification. Cardiovasc. Diabetol. 12, 149 (2013)
- Gopal P., Reynaert N.L., Scheijen J.L.J.M., Engelen L., Schalkwijk C.G., Franssen F.M.E., Wouters E.F.M., Rutten E.P.A.: Plasma advanced glycation end-products and skin autofluorescence are increased in COPD. Eur. Respir. J. 43, 430–438 (2014)
- Lieuw-A-Fa M.L.M., van Hinsbergh V.W.M., Teerlink T., Barto R., Twisk J., Stehouwer C.D.A., Schalkwijk C.G.: Increased levels of N -(carboxymethyl)lysine and N -(carboxyethyl)lysine in type 1 diabetic patients with impaired renal function: correlation with markers of endothelial dysfunction. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 19, 631–636 (2004)
- Ahmed N., Babaei-Jadidi R., Howell S.K., Beisswenger P.J., Thornalley P.J.: Degradation products of proteins damaged by glycation, oxidation and nitration in clinical type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 48, 1590–1603 (2005)
- Ahmed M.U., Brinkmann Frye E., Degenhardt T.P., Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: N-epsilon-(carboxyethyl)lysine, a product of the chemical modification of proteins by methylglyoxal, increases with age in human lens proteins. Biochem. J. 324(Pt 2), 565– 570 (1997)
- Portero-Otin M., Nagaraj R.H., Monnier V.M.: Chromatographic evidence for pyrraline formation during protein glycation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Protein Struct. Mol. Enzymol. **1247**, 74–80 (1995)
- Miyata S., Monnier V.: Immunohistochemical detection of advanced glycosylation end products in diabetic tissues using monoclonal antibody to pyrraline. J. Clin. Invest. 89, 1102–1112 (1992)
- Odani H., Matsumoto Y., Shinzato T., Usami J., Maeda K.: Mass spectrometric study on the protein chemical modification of uremic patients in advanced Maillard reaction. J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Sci. Appl. **731**, 131–140 (1999)
- Tamura S., Tsukahara H., Ueno M., Maeda M., Kawakami H., Sekine K., Mayumi M.: Evaluation of a urinary multi-parameter biomarker set for oxidative stress in children, adolescents and young adults. Free Radic. Res. 40, 1198–1205 (2006)
- 100. Aso Y., Takanashi K., Sekine K., Yoshida N., Takebayashi K., Yoshihara K., Inukai T.: Dissociation between urinary pyrraline and pentosidine concentrations in diabetic patients with advanced nephropathy. J. Lab. Clin. Med. **144**, 92–99 (2004)
- Portero-otín M., Pamplona R., Bellmunt M.J., Bergua M., Nagaraj R.H., Prat J.: Urinary pyrraline as a biochemical marker of nonoxidative maillard reactions *in vivo*. Life Sci. 60, 279–287 (1996)
- Nagaraj R.H., Sady C.: The presence of a glucose-derived Maillard reaction product in the human lens. FEBS Lett. 382, 234–238 (1996)
- 103. Frye E.B., Degenhardt T.P., Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: Role of the Maillard Reaction in Aging of Tissue Proteins: ADVANCED GLYCATION END PRODUCT-DEPENDENT INCREASE IN IMIDAZOLIUM CROSS-LINKS IN HUMAN LENS PROTEINS. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 18714–18719 (1998)

🖄 Springer

512

Glycoconj J (2016) 33:499-512

- Chellan P., Nagaraj R.H.: Protein crosslinking by the Maillard reaction: dicarbonyl-derived imidazolium crosslinks in aging and diabetes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 368, 98–104 (1999)
- 105. Odani H., Iijima K., Nakata M., Miyata S., Kusunoki H., Yasuda Y., Hiki Y., Irie S., Maeda K., Fujimoto D.: Identification of N(omega)-carboxymethylarginine, a new advanced glycation endproduct in serum proteins of diabetic patients: possibility of a new marker of aging and diabetes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 285, 1232–1236 (2001)
- Ahmed N., Thornalley P.J., Dawczynski J., Franke S., Strobel J., Stein G., Haik G.M.: Methylglyoxal-Derived Hydroimidazolone Advanced Glycation End-Products of Human Lens Proteins. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 5287 (2003)
- Biemel K.M., Friedl D.A., Lederer M.O.: Identification and quantification of major Maillard cross-links in human serum albumin and lens protein evidence for glucosepane as the dominant compound. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 24907–24915 (2002)
- Monnier V.M., Sell D.R., Strauch C., Sun W., Lachin J.M., Cleary P.A., Genuth S.: DCCT Research Group: The association between skin collagen glucosepane and past progression of microvascular and neuropathic complications in type 1 diabetes. J. Diabetes Complicat. 27, 141–149 (2013)
- 109. Sanaka T., Funaki T., Tanaka T., Hoshi S., Niwayama J., Taitoh T., Nishimura H., Higuchi C.: Plasma pentosidine levels measured by a newly developed method using ELISA in patients with chronic renal failure. Nephron. 91, 64–73 (2002)
- Yoshihara K., Nakamura K., Kanai M., Nagayaman Y., Takahashit S., Saito N., Nagata M.: Determination of urinary and serum pentosidine and its application to elder patients. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 21, 1005–1008 (1998)
- 111. Yu Y., Thorpe S.R., Jenkins A.J., Shaw J.N., Sochaski M.A., McGee D., Aston C.E., Orchard T.J., Silvers N., Peng Y.G., McKnight J.A., Baynes J.W., Lyons T.J.: Advanced glycation end-products and methionine sulphoxide in skin collagen of patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 49, 2488–2498 (2006)
- Sell D.R., Monnier V.M.: End-stage renal disease and diabetes catalyze the formation of a pentose-derived crosslink from aging human collagen. J. Clin. Investig. 85, 380 (1990)
- Sell D.R., Lapolla A., Odetti P., Fogarty J., Monnier V.M.: Pentosidine formation in skin correlates with severity of complications in individuals with long-standing IDDM. Diabetes. 41, 1286–1292 (1992)
- Nagaraj R.H., Sell D.R., Prabhakaram M., Ortwerth B.J., Monnier V.M.: High correlation between pentosidine protein crosslinks and pigmentation implicates ascorbate oxidation in human lens senescence and cataractogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 88, 10257– 10261 (1991)
- Sell D.R., Monnier V.M.: Isolation, purification and partial characterization of novel fluorophores from aging human insoluble collagen-rich tissue. Connect. Tissue Res. 19, 77–92 (1989)
- Sell, Monnier V.M.: Structure elucidation of a senescence crosslink from human extracellular matrix. Implication of pentoses in the aging process. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 21597–21602 (1989)
- 117. Sell D.R., Nagaraj R.H., Grandhee S.K., Odetti P., Lapolla A., Fogarty J., Monnier V.M.: Pentosidine: a molecular marker for the cumulative damage to proteins in diabetes, aging, and uremia. Diabetes Metab. Rev. 7, 239–251 (1991)

- Allfrey V.G., Faulkner R., Mirsky A.E.: Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 51, 786–794 (1964)
- Levine R.L., Moskovitz J., Stadtman E.R.: Oxidation of methionine in proteins: roles in antioxidant defense and cellular regulation. IUBMB Life. 50, 301–307 (2000)
- Swaim M.W., Pizzo S.V.: Methionine sulfoxide and the oxidative regulation of plasma proteinase inhibitors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 43, 365–379 (1988)
- Leeuwenburgh C., Hansen P.A., Holloszy J.O., Heinecke J.W.: Oxidized amino acids in the urine of aging rats: potential markers for assessing oxidative stress *in vivo*. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. **276**, R128–R135 (1999)
- 122. Gaut J.P., Byun J., Tran H.D., Heinecke J.W.: Artifact-free quantification of free 3-chlorotyrosine, 3-bromotyrosine, and 3-nitrotyrosine in human plasma by electron capture-negative chemical ionization gas chromatography mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. Anal. Biochem. 300, 252–259 (2002)
- Henning, C., Glomb, M.A.: Formation of glyoxal and glycolaldehyde in Maillard reaction systems. 9th International Symposium on the Maillard Reaction Poster Presentation F12 (2007)
- Miyata T., Wada Y., Cai Z., Iida Y., Horic K., Yasuda Y., Maeda K., Kurokawa K., Strihou D., Van Ypersele C.: Implication of an increased oxidative stress in the formation of advanced glycation end products in patients with end-stage renal failure. Kidney Int. 51, 1170–1181 (1997)
- Miyata T., Maeda K., Kurokawa K., Strihou D., Van Ypersele C.: Oxidation conspires with glycation to generate noxious advanced glycation end products in renal failure. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 12, 255–258 (1997)
- 126. Miyata T., Fu M.-X., Kurokawa K., Van Ypersele De Strihou C., Thorpe S.R., Baynes J.W.: Autoxidation products of both carbohydrates and lipids are increased in uremic plasma: is there oxidative stress in uremia? Kidney Int. 54, 1290–1295 (1998)
- 127. Canestrari F., Galli F., Giorgini A., Albertini M.C., Galiotta P., Pascucci M., Bossu M.: Erythrocyte redox state in uremic anemia: Effects of hemodialysis and relevance of glutathione metabolism. Acta Haematol. **91**, 187–193 (1994)
- Dasgupta A., Hussain S., Ahmad S.: Increased lipid peroxidation in patients on maintenance hemodialysis. Nephron. 60, 56–59 (1992)
- Odetti P., Girabaldi S., Gurreri G., Aragno I., Dapino D., Pronzato M.A., Marinari U.M.: Protein oxidation in hemodialysis and kidney transplantation. Metabolism. 45, 1319–1322 (1996)
- Roselaar S.E., Nazhat N.B., Winyard P.G., Jones P., Cunningham J., Blake D.R.: Detection of oxidants in uremic plasma by electron spin resonance spectroscopy. Kidney Int. 48, 199–206 (1995)
- 131. Witko-Sarsat V., Friedlander M., Capeillère-Blandin C., Nguyen-Khoa T., Nguyen A.T., Zingraff J., Jungers P., Descamps-Latscha B.: Advanced oxidation protein products as a novel marker of oxidative stress in uremia. Kidney Int. 49, 1304–1313 (1996)
- 132. Kouzarides T.: Acetylation: a regulatory modification to rival phosphorylation? EMBO J. **19**, 1176–1179 (2000)
- Yang X.: Lysine acetylation and the bromodomain: a new partnership for signaling. BioEssays. 26, 1076–1087 (2004)

🖄 Springer

11 Curriculum vitae

Persönliche Daten _____

Christian Henning geboren am 19. Juni 1978 in Berlin

Beruflicher Werdegang		
seit 5/2007	Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter in Vollzeit mit Leitungsfunktion an	
	der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Institut für	
	Chemie - Lebensmittelchemie und Umweltchemie	
Wissenschaftlicher	Werdegang	
seit 10/2003	Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter und Promotionsstudent an der	
	Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Institut für	
	Chemie - Lebensmittelchemie und Umweltchemie	
Bildungsweg		
04/2004 - 01/2005	Ausbildung zum staatlich geprüften Lebensmittelchemiker	
	(2. Staatsexamen) am Landeslabor Berlin-Brandenburg (ehemals	
	ILAT Berlin	
10/1998 - 04/2004	Studium der Lebensmittelchemie, Technische Universität Berlin	
	Abschluss: Diplom-Lebensmittelchemikerin	
	Titel der Diplomarbeit:	
	"Zur Analytik von Zuckeralkoholen mittels GC"	
1990 - 1997	Ulrich-von-Hutten-Oberschule (Gymnasium), Berlin	
	Abschluss: Abitur	
1985 - 1990	Kiepert-Grundschule, Berlin	

12 Declaration of originality

Eigenständigkeitserklärung

Hiermit versichere ich, dass die vorliegende Arbeit von mir selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst wurde. Andere als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel wurden nicht benutzt. Die den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen wurden als solche kenntlich gemacht.

.....

Datum, Unterschrift